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CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

HONG KONG H-SHARE REGISTRAR AND
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Fax: (86) 536-819 7073
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT FREBRSS

B IRIR

Dear Shareholders:

AABURREZEEREIQFAEILE T —
EET A=+ HEBHARNEZFRSE -

On behalf of the Board, | would like to present the audited annual results of
the Company for the year ended 31st December, 2010.

I. REVIEW OF OPERATIONS — & Z Ok

Entering 2010, the Chinese Government maintained a consistent and
stable monetary policy. A properly loosened monetary policy remained
and, great effort was put to make the policy more specific and flexible,
supporting changes in the economic development approach and
adjustments to the economic structure. During the year, the macro
economy maintained stability and an upward trend. In 2010, the GDP of
China reached RMB39.8 trillion, representing a year on year growth of
10.3%. The rate of growth increased by 1.1% compared to last year.
The money supply increased steadily with new loans amounted to
RMB7.9 trillion. China’s fixed asset investments amounted to RMB27.8
trillion, representing a year on year growth of 23.8%. The import and
export for the year totaled approximately USD3 trillion, representing a
year on year growth of 34.7%, in which the export recorded a growth
of 31.3%.The rapid growth of the Chinese economy not only laid the
foundation for the automobile industry’s sustainable development, but
also created development opportunities for the assembly production
industries such as heavy-duty vehicles and construction machineries.

EAZZ—ZF FEBAREEER
RMBEBEHENBEE SHEEHREEE
ROEEREK 2EHRBBRN M
MEEMN IBLCEERINEZEMNZ
BEBARE 2FREKERBTEHE
MIFMmES. —F — T F - B NGDPE
3398887 - A LLIE K 10.3% * E R A
MBI EES S E8EHEERT
BE G HEERIIERT: 2HeEE
BEKE2788 BT RALEK23.8% ;
EPEEHORBAIBEEIT [ E
£347%  HEAH A K31.3%  F &
BEHERERE BEETAEEXNTFE
BEMER wLASERTHE  TRER
ERBHETENEBRAET GH-
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

08

In 2010, the market demand for commercial vehicles increased again
and rapid development continued. The sales and production of heavy-
duty trucks both exceeded one million units, where 1.0586 million units
were manufactured, representing a year-on-year growth of 65.44%;
while 1.0174 million units were sold, representing a year-on-year
increase of 59.93%. According to the statistics of FRHEITE T e
(China Association of Automobile Manufacturers), the Company’s major
customers, such as PRFAEA)TEHR AR (Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor
Company Limited, a subsidiary of the Company), 1t ;54 M /SER D AR
/A 7] (Beigi Futian Motor Company Limited), @381t 75 5 E RS E B R
&£/ 7] (Baotou North-Benz Heavy-Duty Truck Co., Ltd.), and Z#0T
AT EIRHBR/AT (Anhui Jianghuai Automotive Co., Ltd.), etc., all
recorded sharp increase when compared with 2009. The Company’s
aggregate sales of heavy-duty truck engines reached approximately
414,000 units in 2010, representing a year-on-year increase of 83.04%,
23.11% higher than that of the industry. According to the statistics of
FERE TE#e (China Association of Automobile Manufacturers),
the Company’s market share in the market of heavy-duty trucks with a
gross weight of 14 tonnes (and above) reached 35.6%, representing an
increase of 5.1% over last year. Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor Company
Limited, a subsidiary of the Company, reported an aggregate sales of
approximately 100,000 units of heavy-duty trucks, representing an
increase of 70.98% over last year and ranking the fourth in the heavy-
duty trucks market in China. PR A 45 e iR AR & £ /A a) (Shaanxi Fast
Gear Co. Ltd.), a subsidiary of the Company, reported an aggregate
sales of approximately 852,000 units of heavy-duty gear boxes,
representing an increase of 60.20% over last year, and maintained its
leading position as the largest heavy-duty vehicle gear boxes
manufacturer in China.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

During the year under review, China’s construction machinery industry
was in a highly advantageous position, benefiting from the pulling effect
of the RMB4 trillion stimulus policy. Hence, a rapid development was
achieved. During the reporting period, the aggregate sales of China’s
construction machinery were as high as RMB400 billion. Approximately
753,300 units of machines were sold, representing a growth of 51.50%
compared to the corresponding period of last year. In particular,
approximately 151,000 units of wheel loader engines with a load
capacity of 5 tonnes were sold, representing a year-on-year growth of
56.38%. According to the statistics of B TE#Mi%E (China
Construction Machinery Association), the Company’s major customers,
such as A B8 TR AR A & (China Infrastructure Machinery Holdings
Limited), 1R FET TIE#M AR AR (Shandong Lingong Construction
Machinery Co., Ltd.), #R T Ti2#&k &= EH MR A 7] (Xuzhou Construction
Machinery Group Inc.), BKESEK TH#ik AR A 7] (Chengdu Construction
Machinery Co., Inc.), ILER L T##% AR A7) (Shandong SEM Machinery
Co., Ltd.), all recorded significant growth over last year, hence boosting
the growth of the sales of the Company’s products. The Company’s
sales of engines for construction machinery were approximately 141,000
units in 2010, representing a year-on-year increase of 72.15%. The sales
of wheel loader engines with a load capacity of 5 tonnes (and above)
amounted to 128,000 units, representing a year-on-year increase of
66.72%. According to the information published on the website of /1
TREH#M 1= B 49(China Construction Machinery Network), the Company
had a market share of 84.8% in the market of wheel loader engines
with a load capacity of 5 tonnes (and above), which is 4.8% higher than
that in last year.

FTRESS (&)
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
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During the reporting period, with our technology innovation, the
Company continued to lead the power technology development in
China. Since the implementation of the China Ill Emission Standard in
heavy-duty trucks, the Company’s high-power high-speed “Landking”
engines, to which we own intellectual property rights, have been well
received by the market for their advantages in areas such as
environment protection, energy saving and reliability, and their sales
have reached record high with approximately 376,000 units of 10-12L
China Il engines sold, further strengthening our leading position in
heavy-duty trucks and wheel loader ancillary markets. Meanwhile, the
Company'’s self researched and developed “Landking” WP7 engines, to
which we own intellectual property rights, realized a batch package with
excavators and passenger vehicles, marking a further expansion of the
Company’s engines product series, resulting in a more prominent
composite competitive edge. Focusing on creating the F3000 product
platform, Shaanxi Zhonggi commenced the test production of new
energy vehicles such as M3000 and purely electrical port tractors, as well
as natural gas and hybrid power passenger vehicle chassis. As such, its
leading role in complete vehicles was further affirmed. The product
diversification strategy of Fast Company saw significant results. The ratio
of its new product sales was on an upward trend, with contributing new
products such as the series of 12 and 16 speed transmissions, AMT,
light, large centre distance series, and series of 10 speed transmissions,
6DS and mini 8 speed transmissions, creating new areas of growth for
the Company.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

During the reporting period, the Company kept enhancing management
standards by pursuing internal quality-oriented development. First of all,
we determined to carry out our six core management enhancement
projects, including optimizing the corporate management system,
establishing a sound scheme to implement the protection mechanism,
strengthening the entire basic management systematically, optimizing
and innovating the training system, establishing an efficient and effective
manufacturing system, and launching quality and refined projects.
Secondly, the WOS project was fully implemented so that the
management workflow was optimized constantly, the Company’s
management standards in all areas including manufacturing, product
quality and procurement logistic were enhanced. We established a
unigue Weichai Power management model led by WOS. Thirdly, our
cultural philosophy of “inclusiveness, communication and responsibility”
was fully communicated to all levels of the Company, and was well
received and supported. This effectively united the thinking and
behaviors of the Company’s entire workforce, and strongly supported
the collaboration and improvement at all levels within the industry chain,
enhancing the establishment and development of new businesses.
Fourthly, a comprehensive internal control system was initiated in the
generator module, the Shanghai operating centre, the Shaanxi Heavy-
duty module and the Fast module. The initial establishment of the basic
framework of the internal control management provided a foundation
to achieve the goal of standard-oriented management enhancement.

During the reporting period, the Company’s revenue increased by
approximately 77.72% over last year to approximately RMB62,666
million. The net profit attributable to shareholders was approximately
RMB6,781 million, representing an increase of 99.03% over the last
year. The basic earnings per share increased by approximately 99.51%
over last year to approximately RMB4.07.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
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12

DIVIDEND

Putting shareholders’ interests and return as its top priority, the
Company has been maintaining a relatively stable dividend policy. The
Board proposed to declare a final dividend of RMBO0.43 per share for the
year ended 31 December 2010. The resolution in respect of the
declaration of final dividend will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting for approval. The Company will strive to realize the
sustainable growth of dividend and maximize the return of shareholders.
For the closure of the register of members of the Company for the
entitlement to the said proposed final dividend, please refer to the
notice convening the forthcoming annual general meeting.

ACQUISITION AND CONSOLIDATION

During the reporting period, the Company did not conduct any major
acquisition nor consolidation.

QUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS

Year 2011 is the beginning of the “twelfth five”, the global economy
will continue its modest recovery, the overall external development
environment will be slightly better than last year, export will continue to
grow relatively fast, the driving force of investment growth will continue
to be strong while inflation pressure will increase. Nonetheless, the
economy will pick up again and become steady by and large.

At the international front, although the global economy will continue its
modest recovery, a number of uncertainties remain. Firstly, since
developed countries have not solved the rooted problems causing the
financial crisis, government debt ratio and unemployment rate remain
high, investment and consumption are weak, and the pace of economic
recovery is slow. Secondly, the direct conflict between deflation
anticipation in developed countries and inflation anticipation in countries
with an emerging market will result in adjustments to the respective
monetary policies in opposite directions. Thirdly, short-term capital flow
in the international capital market will intensify, which gives rise to large
capitalization of commodities. In 2011, however, the overall external
environment for China’s economic development will be better than last
year.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

Domestically, China is still in the significant strategic opportunity phase
in 2011. Nonetheless, the situation is highly complex with many
uncertain and unstable factors. According to the message conveyed by
the Central Economic Working Meeting, in 2011, the basic approach of
the macro economic policy is proactive and stable, prudent and flexible.
It is expected that in the coming year the economy’s growth rate will be
slightly slower than 2010, however, factors for long-term economic
growth in China still exist. A proactive financial policy will compensate
for the slowing down of the increase in total demand due to the
prudent monetary policy. Meanwhile, at the beginning year of the
“twelve five”, on the one hand the “strategic revitalizing plan for
emerging industries”, “regional development plan” and “people’s
livelihood plan” brought by the new planning scheme, along with
income allocation adjustments and the new stimulus policy will stimulate
the macro economy significantly, which will hedge against various
downturn pressures effectively. On the other hand, accelerated
urbanization and the plateau effect due to increased consumption
resulting from income growth will support the macro economy in 2011.

The Company is cautiously optimistic about the development of its
related industries.The growth of the heavy-duty trucks market and fixed
asset investment will remain high. Hence, demands for construction
heavy-duty trucks will continue to increase. Transporting coals from the
north to the south, transporting food on the south to the north,
together with the peak of army vehicles usage will lead to a substantially
increased demand for trucks. The full implementation of core strategies
such as the construction machinery market, development of the west,
emergence of the central region and the construction of Xinjiang will
drive the rapid development of the engineering machinery industry.

With the implementation of the China IV Emission Standard, in the
future we anticipate that there will be fierce competition in China’s
engine market in the coming years. Leveraging on our advanced
technology, quality product and loyal customer base, we have
consolidated our leading position in the high-power engine market and
the directors have full confidence in the prospect of the Company. The
Company expects sales revenue for 2011 will reach approximately
RMB73 billion.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

In 2011, the Company will continue to increase self innovation
capability, foster structural adjustments, constantly strengthen corporate
core competitiveness, and strive to complete all core work. Firstly, the
“talent first” project will be strengthened so that our talent structure will
be optimized constantly. Secondly, the introduction of the strategic
product platform will be accelerated so as to realize the upgrade of
industry and technology. Thirdly, the structural adjustment to market
and business will be carried out so as to create more room for value-
adding. Fourthly, the construction and integration of an information
technology management platform will be completed so as to increase
the operating control standard. Fifthly, basic management will be carried
out so as to establish a new order that drives rapid corporate
development. Sixthly, gratefulness will be integrated into the corporate
culture of inclusiveness, communication and responsibility, so as to foster
the enhancement of the Company’s soft strength.

At the same time, under the principle of “unified strategy, independent
operation, resources sharing”, we will accelerate the segmental
development of commercial vehicles, power chain and automobile
components. We shall further integrate the Company’s resources, fully
utilize synergies and improve our capability against risks. In the next five
year, the Company will strive to become an international enterprise with
an orientation in complete machines and vehicles and the core
technology for power assembly, and develop into a unique player in the
global equipment manufacturing industry.

APPRECIATION

Last but not least, | would like to take this opportunity to express my
sincere appreciation to all our shareholders, the general public and our
customers for their care and support, as well as all our staff for their
hard work and dedication in the past year!

Tan Xuguang
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 30th March, 2011
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Directors are pleased to provide a management discussion and analysis of
the results of operations of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2010,

as follow:

I.

INDUSTRY ANALYSIS

The Company is one of the largest manufacturers of high-power, high-
speed diesel engines in the PRC and a leading company in the power
chain market. It is equipped with the most comprehensive supply chain
of engines, gear boxes and axles.

1. Heavy-duty Vehicle Industry

During the year, China’s automobile market showed a strong
growth. The market demand on commercial vehicles increased
again and rapid development continued. The sales and production
of heavy-duty trucks both exceeded one million units, where
1.0586 million units were manufactured, representing a year-on-
year growth of 65.44%; while 1.0174 million units were sold,
representing a year-on-year increase of 59.93%. The sales of
heavy-duty truck totalled approximately 584,000 units,
representing a year-on-year growth of 112.9%.

First, entering 2010, the Chinese Government maintained a
consistent and stable monetary policy. A properly loosened
monetary policy remained, great effort was put to make the policy
more specific and flexible, supporting changes in the economic
development approach and adjustments to the economic
structure. During the year, the macro economy maintained stability
and an upward trend.

Second, in 2010, the GDP of China reached RMB39.8 trillion,
representing a year on year growth of 10.3%. The rate of growth
increased by 1.1% compared to last year. The money supply
increased steadily with new loans amounted to RMB7.9 trillion.
China’s fixed asset investments amounted to RMB27.8 trillion,
representing a year on year growth of 23.8%. The import and
export for the year totalled approximately USD3 trillion,
representing a year on year growth of 34.7%, in which the export
recorded a growth of 31.3%. The rapid growth of the Chinese
economy not only laid the foundation for the automobile
industry’s sustainable development, but also created development
opportunities for the assembly production industries such as
heavy-duty vehicles and construction machineries.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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2. Construction Machinery Industry
During the year, approximately 753,300 machines were sold,
representing a growth of 51.50% compared to last year. In
particular, approximately 151,000 units of wheel loader engines
with a load capacity of 5 tonnes were sold, representing a year-
on-year growth of 56.38%.

In 2010, the engineering machinery market was growing at a rate
faster than expected, as a large number of new engineering
projects entered the phase of construction due to the lag-effect of
the stimulus investment of RMB4 trillion. However, this fast
growth was offset to a certain extent by the combined effect of
the “Ten new national policies to curb the soaring of housing
prices”, as well as the enhanced measures to reduce energy
consumption and emissions through the control of new projects in
high energy consumption sectors, the increased elimination of
production capacities which lagged behind, the implementation of
differentiated power price, and adjustment or cancellation of tax
refund for certain high energy consumption sectors.

THE GROUP’S BUSINESS

An analysis of the Group'’s business segments is set out in note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements. The following are the highlights of the
operations of major products lines of the Group:

1. Sales of Diesel Engines

For use in Heavy-duty Trucks

The Group is the largest supplier of diesel engines to major
manufacturers of heavy-duty trucks with a load capacity of 15
tonnes (and above) in the PRC. The key customers include: BkFf &
AUSE AR A Al (Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor Company Limited), 4t
RERERD AR AR (Beigi Futian Motor Company Limited),
BEEIL s E R E AR EEAR (Baotou North-Benz Heavy-
Duty Truck Co., Ltd.), and REVIHERERMHAEMRAE (Anhui
Jianghuai Automotive Co., Ltd.), etc., all recorded sharp increase
when compared with 2009, hence guaranteeing the growth of
the sales of the Company’s products. Of the diesel engines sold
during the year, approximately 414,000 units (2009:
approximately 226,000 units) were truck engines, representing an
increase of approximately 83.04% compared to 2009.

WEICHAI POWER Co., LTD. HL#NhBRNDBERAD
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

For use in Construction Machinery
The Group is also the largest supplier of diesel engines to major
manufacturers of construction machinery (mainly wheel loaders)
with a load capacity of 5 tonnes (and above) in the PRC. The key
customers of the Group are: REEE TIER AR A7) (China
Infrastructure Machinery Holdings Limited), LI T TiE#in4a
FR/A&] (Shandong Lingong Construction Machinery Co., Ltd.), #
T IR ER AR AR (Xuzhou Construction Machinery Group
Inc.), AKEBRK THéHHBPRA T (Chengdu Construction Machinery
., Inc.), IJJ$UJI$%£$&EFE 7] (Shandong SEM Machinery Co.,
Ltd.), etc., all recorded significant growth over last year, hence
boosting the growth of the Company’s product sales. The
Company’s sales of engines for construction machinery were
approximately 141,000 units (2009: approximately 82,000 units)
in 2010, representing a year-on-year increase of 72.15%. The
sales of wheel loader engines with a load capacity of 5 tonnes
amounted to approximately 128,000 units, representing a year-
on-year increase of 66.72%. According to the information
published on the website of FHE Ti2#M(E 243 (China
Construction Machinery Network), the Company had a market
share of 84.8% in the market of wheel loader engines with a load
capacity of 5 tonnes (and above), which is 4.8% higher than that
in last year.

Sale of Heavy-duty Trucks

During the year, the Group sold approximately 100,000 units
heavy-duty trucks, compared to approximately 58,000 units in the
corresponding period of 2009, representing an increase of
approximately 70.98%. Prior to intra-group elimination, the truck
business contributed approximately RMB24,029 million to the
Group's revenue during the year.

Sale of Heavy-duty Gear Box

During the year, the Group sold approximately 852,000 units of
heavy-duty gear boxes, representing an increase of approximately
60.20% compared to approximately 532,000 units in the
corresponding period of 2009. Prior to intra-group elimination, the
gear boxes business contributed approximately RMB10,676 million
to the Group's revenue during the year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Sale of Engine and Heavy-duty Truck Parts and
Components

Apart from the production and sale of diesel engines for trucks
and construction machinery, heavy-duty trucks and heavy-duty
gear boxes, the Group is also engaged in the production and sale
of engine parts and components and other truck parts and
components such as: spark plugs, axles, chassis, air-conditioner
compressors etc. During the year, the Group's sales of engine
parts and components and truck parts and components amounted
to approximately RMB2,575 million, representing an increase of
approximately 50% or RMB861 million compared to RMB1,714
million in the corresponding period of 2009.

[IT. FINANCIAL REVIEW
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1.

WEICHAI PoweR Co., LTD.

The Group's Results of Operations
a. Turnover

The Group’s turnover increased from approximately
RMB35,261 million in the corresponding period of 2009 to
approximately RMB62,666 million in this year, representing
an increase of approximately 77.72%. The increase in
turnover was mainly attributable to the significant growth of
automotive industry and construction machinery industry
during the year. During the year, the Group sold
approximately 414,000 units of diesel engines for use in
heavy-duty trucks in total, compared to approximately
226,000 units in the corresponding period of 2009,
representing an increase of approximately 83.04%. During
the year, the Group sold approximately 141,000 units of
engines for use in construction machineries in total,
compared to approximately 82,000 units in the
corresponding period of 2009, representing an increase of
approximately 72.15%. Shaanxi Zhongqgi recorded an
aggregate sales of approximately 100,000 units of heavy-
duty trucks during the year, compared to approximately
58,000 units in the corresponding period of last year,
representing an increase of 70.98%.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

During the year, the Group’s gross profit increased from
approximately RMB7,632 million in the corresponding
period of 2009 to approximately RMB13,471 million in the
year, representing an increase of approximately 76.50%.
Gross margin maintained at 21.50%, almost the same with
approximately 21.64% in the same period of 2009.

Other Income and gains

Other income increased by approximately 9.88% to
approximately RMB380 million in the year from
approximately RMB346 million in the same period of 2009.
The increase was mainly due to the increase in gain on
disposal of available-for-sale investments.

Selling and Distribution Costs

Selling and distribution costs increased by approximately
35.38% to approximately RMB1,383 million in the year
from approximately RMB1,021 million in the corresponding
period of 2009. As a percentage of turnover, selling and
distribution costs decreased from approximately 2.90% in
the corresponding period of 2009 to approximately 2.21%
in the year, which was mainly due to the increase in
turnover of 77.72% as compared to the corresponding
period of last year.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses of the Group increased by
approximately 32.04% from approximately RMB1,265
million in the corresponding period of 2009 to
approximately RMB1,670 million in the year. As a
percentage of turnover, the administrative expenses
decreased from approximately 3.59% in the same period of
2009 to approximately 2.66% in the year, which was mainly
due to the expansion of the scale of operations.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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Operating Profit before Finance Costs

During the year, the Group’s operating profit increased by
approximately 94.72% to approximately RMB9,593 million
in the year from approximately RMB4,927 million in the
corresponding period of 2009. The Group’s operating
margin increased from approximately 13.97% in the
corresponding period of 2009 to approximately 15.31% in
the year.

Finance Costs

Finance costs decreased by approximately 20.01% to
approximately RMB198 million in the year from
approximately RMB248 million in the corresponding period
of 2009. This decrease was mainly due to the decrease in
interest on bank and other borrowings and interest on
discounted bills receivable.

Income Taxes

The Group's income tax expenses increased by
approximately 90.82% from approximately RMB732 million
in the corresponding period of 2009 to approximately
RMB1,398 million in the year. During the year, the Group's
average effective tax rate decreased from approximately
15.65% in the corresponding period of 2009 to
approximately 14.88%.

Net Profit and Net Profit Margin

The Group’s net profit for the year increased by
approximately 102.63% from approximately RMB3,947
million in the corresponding period of 2009 to
approximately RMB7,998 million in the year, whilst the net
profit margin also increased from approximately 11.19% in
the corresponding period of 2009 to approximately 12.76%
in the year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Liquidity and Cash Flow

During the year, the Group generated operating cash flows
of RMB10,007 million, part of which were applied in
expanding the Group’s operations by acquisition of
property, plant and equipment; and in reducing its
borrowings. As at 31 December 2010, the Group had net
cash (interest-bearing debts net of cash and cash
equivalents) of RMB5,930 million (as at 31 December 2009:
the Group had a net debt (interest-bearing debts net of
cash and cash equivalents) of RMB141 million). Based on
the calculation above, the debt to equity ratio is non-
applicable as the Group has a net cash position (as at 31st
December, 2009: 0.90%)

2. Financial Position

a.

Assets and Liabilities

As at 31 December 2010, the Group had total assets of
approximately RMB52,475 million, of which approximately
RMB37,122 million were current. As at 31 December 2010,
the Group had cash and cash equivalents of approximately
RMBS8,748 million (as at 31 December 2009: RMB3,598
million), including cash and cash equivalents denominated in
foreign currencies of approximately RMB142 million. On the
same date, the Group’s total liabilities amounted to
approximately RMB29,105 million, of which approximately
RMB26,775 million were current. The current ratio was
approximately 1.39 (as at 31 December 2009: 1.35).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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Capital Structure

At 31 December 2010, the Group had a total equity of
approximately RMB23,370 million, of which approximately
RMB18,515 million was attributable to equity holders of the
Company and the balance was minority interests. The Group
currently does not rely heavily on borrowings. The
borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2010
amounted to approximately RMB2,817 million, which
included debenture of approximately RMB1,285 million and
bank borrowings of approximately RMB1,532 million. Except
for bank borrowings of approximately RMB40 million,
approximately RMB80 million and approximately RMB22
million are denominated in US dollars, Hong Kong dollars
and Euro, the remaining borrowings are in Renminbi. The
Group’s revenue is mainly in Renminbi. The Group believes
that its exposure to foreign currency risks in not significant.
As a policy, the Group manages its capital to ensure that
entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going
concern while maximizing the return to shareholders
through the optimization of the debts and equity balance.
The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from prior
years.

Shares Issue by Conversion of Capital Reserve

The Board passed a resolution on 23 August 2010 that the
Company made the distribution to every shareholder at the
rate of 10 shares for every 10 shares by conversion of the
capital reserve based on the total share capital of
833,045,683 shares of the Company as at 30 June 2010.
Upon the implementation of above, the total share capital
of the Company was increased by 833,045,683 shares to
1,666,091,366 shares.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2010, bank deposits and bills receivables
of approximately RMB3,008 million (as at 31 December
2009: RMB3,089 million) were pledged to banks to secure
the Group’s bills payables and bills receivables issued by
banks. The pledged bank deposits carry prevailing bank
interest rates. The pledge will be released upon the
settlement of the relevant bank borrowings. The fair value
of the bank deposits at the balance sheet date approximates
the carrying amount.

Certain other assets were also pledged by the Group to
secure the Group’s borrowings. Details are set out in note
38 to the financial statements in the Annual Report.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2010, the Group had approximately
RMB1,145 million (as at 31 December 2009: approximately
RMB1,054 million) guarantees given to banks in connection
with facilities granted to and utilized by certain distributors
and agents. Details are set out in note 37 to the financial
statements in the Annual Report.

Capital Commitments

As at 31 December 2010, the Group had approximately
RMB2,193 million capital commitments contracted (as at 31
December 2009: RMB947 million), principally for the capital
expenditure in respect of acquisition of property, plant and
equipment.

EI2 2 5 am b

Ea 5y ifr (48)

& E

RZE—EFF+ZA=+—
H  AEHKLH ARE3008
BET(R=ZZEZENF+=A
=+—H: AR¥3089E&
TL) KR 1T 7 B R E R B
ERTHRIT EARNEEFA
BROTZHENZEREREK

ZEMEE G- B ERBRT
BRERITROMEGE -
ZIEEMREREBETER
BERTUER REHEH -
BITHERNAFERERR
BEEE

AEBTEERETEME
E ERAEEERZER-
1B B IR B S 3R R M A
38 ¢
K ARBE
RZZE—ZEF+=ZA=+—
H- AEEAE TKERK
REBREBEHARE1,1458
ET(RZ=ZFEZENLF+=A
=+—H:HOAR®1,048
BL) 2 IRAITERAfFE E &
RREIFERRITEE - F15
BN ERIEHREMEIT -

B AN R
RZE—ZEFF+=_RA=+—

H A&EBHEBEMNED
EAREENHARK21938
ET(R=_ZFTZTNLF+=A
=+ —H: ARKWUMIEE
) EBRMEBYE - S
BENEARAL -

ANNUAL REPORT 2010 £ 3R 23



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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3.

Other Financial Information

a.

Employees

As at 31 December 2010, the Company had approximately
38,000 employees. During the year, the Company had paid
remuneration of approximately RMB3,050 million,
representing an increase of approximately 46.20% over the
corresponding period of 2009 of approximately RMB2,086
million. The emolument policy of the employees of the
Group is set up by the Remuneration Committee on the
basis of their merit, qualifications and competence.

Major Investment
The Group did not make any major investment during the
year.

Major Acquisition and Disposal
The Group did not make any major acquisition or disposal
during the year.
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DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR S GBS RERAE

MANAGEMENT

(1)DIRECTORS (1)ES

Mr. Tan Xuguang, Chinese, aged 49, is the chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company, chairman of Weichai Group Holdings
Limited (which holds A shares of the Company in the amount as set out
below and is thus interested in shares of the Company under Part XV of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance) and Chairman of Weichai Heavy
Machinery Co., Ltd. Mr. Tan has been a director of the Company since
18th December, 2002. His latest appointment as director of the
Company was from 18th December, 2005 to 17th December, 2008 and
he has since continued to hold his directorship under PRC law. Mr. Tan
also holds directorships in various subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Tan
joined Weifang Diesel Engine Factory (now known as Weichai Group
Holdings Limited) in 1977 and had held various positions including
chairman and general manager of Shandong Weichai Imp. & Exp. Corp.,
general manager of Weifang Diesel Engine Factory, chairman of Torch
Automobile Group Co., Ltd. Mr. Tan is a senior economist and holds a
doctor’s degree in engineering. Mr. Tan was appointed as a
Representative of the Tenth and Eleventh National People’s Congress of
the PRC and was honored “National Labor Model”, “Z5/0 & = B # b3
EIE4 48" (the Gold Award of the 4th Yuan Baohua Enterprise
Management), “CCTV 2005 China Economic Annual Figure” and “CCTV
2010 China Economic Annual Figure”. He has extensive experience in
manufacture and management of machinery, international trade,
marketing, capital operation management and corporate development
and strategic management.

Mr. Xu Xinyu, Chinese, aged 47, is Executive Director and Executive
President of the Company. He has been a director of the Company since
18th December, 2002. His latest appointment as director of the
Company was from 18th December, 2005 to 17th December, 2008 and
he has since continued to hold his directorship under PRC law. Mr. Xu
joined Weifang Diesel Engine Factory in 1986 and had held the positions
of deputy general manager of Shandong Weichai Imp. & Exp. Corp.,
deputy general manager and executive deputy general manager of
Weifang Diesel Engine Factory, director of Torch Automobile Group Co.,
Ltd. and chairman of Weichai Power (Weifang) Investment Co., Ltd. Mr.
Xu also holds directorships in various subsidiaries of the Company. Mr.
Xu is a senior economist and holds a bachelor’s degree in science and a
MBA degree. He has been responsible for corporate restructure, merges
and acquisition, and human resources management in the Company,
and has extensive experience in corporate operation.
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Mr. Sun Shaojun, Chinese, aged 45, is Executive Director and Executive
President of the Company. He has been a director of the Company since
18th December, 2002. His latest appointment as director of the
Company was from 18th December, 2005 to 17th December, 2008 and
he has since continued to hold his directorship under PRC law. Mr. Sun
joined Weifang Diesel Engine Factory in 1988 and had held the positions
of supervisor of the engineering department, and the chief engineer of
Weifang Diesel Engine Factory, and director of Torch Automobile Group
Co., Ltd. Mr. Sun also holds directorships in various subsidiaries of the
Company. Mr. Sun is a senior engineer and holds a doctor degree in
engineering. He was appointed as “ILE& A RBTERILEEFEER"
(Taishan Mountain scholar specialist appointed by Shandong People’s
Government). He has been responsible for diesel engine research and
development in the Company, and has extensive experience in corporate
technology management.

Mr. Zhang Quan, Chinese, aged 47, is Executive Director and Executive
President of the Company. He has been a director of the Company since
18th December, 2002. His latest appointment as director of the
Company was from 18th December, 2005 to 17th December, 2008 and
he has since continued to hold his directorship under PRC law. Mr.
Zhang joined Weifang Diesel Engine Factory in 1986 and had held the
positions of directors of the quality control department and the
marketing department, of Weifang Diesel Engine Factory. Mr. Zhang also
holds directorships in various subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Zhang is
a senior economist and holds a bachelor’s degree in engineering and a
MBA degree. He has been responsible for marketing in the Company,
and has extensive experience in corporate marketing management.

Ms. Zhang Fusheng, Chinese, aged 53, is a Non-executive Director of
the Company. She has been a director of the Company since 18th
December, 2002. Her latest appointment as director of the Company
was from 18th December, 2005 to 17th December, 2008 and she has
since continued to hold her directorship under PRC law. Ms. Zhang
joined Weifang Diesel Engine Factory in 1975 and had held the positions
of director of finance department, and chief accountant of Weifang
Diesel Engine Factory, and director and vice president of Torch
Automobile Group Co., Ltd. She is now the deputy general manager of
Weichai Group Holdings Limited. Ms. Zhang is a senior accountant and
Certified Public Accountant and holds the qualification of senior
manager of international finance and a bachelor’s degree. She has
extensive experience in corporate finance management.
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DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

Mr. Liu Huisheng, Chinese, aged 45, is a Non-executive Director of the
Company. His appointment as director of the Company was from 30th
June, 2006 to 17th December, 2008 and he has since continued to hold
his directorship under PRC law. Mr. Liu joined Weifang Diesel Engine
Factory in 1989 and had held the positions of deputy general manager
of the power branch of Weifang Diesel Engine Factory, general manager
of Chongqing Weichai Diesel Engine Factory, and deputy general
manager of Weifang Diesel Engine Factory. He is now the general
manager of Weichai Heavy Machinery Co., Ltd. Mr. Liu is a senior
economist and holds a bachelor’s degree in engineering. He has
extensive experience in corporate general management.

Mr. Yao Yu, Chinese, aged 40, is a Non-executive Director of the
Company. He has been a director of the Company since 18th December,
2002. His latest appointment as director of the Company was from 18th
December, 2005 to 17th December, 2008 and he has since continued to
hold his directorship under PRC law. He had held positions of secretary
to the Board of FINEREERMER LA (Shenzhen Hezhong
Industnal Co. Ltd.), assistant general manager of JFZIIIKIRE 2D B R

7xal (Shenzhen Tianjin Electric Co. Ltd.) and senior investment manager
of Shenzhen Chuangxin Investment Group Company Limited. He holds a
MBA degree and has nearly 10 years of experience in investment
management and related fields.

Mr. Yeung Sai Hong, Chinese, aged 56, is a Non-executive Director of
the Company and the chairman of Peterson Holdings Company Limited
which is a promoter of the Company. He has been a director of the
Company since 18th December, 2002. His latest appointment as director
of the Company was from 18th December, 2005 to 17th December,
2008 and he has since continued to hold his directorship under PRC law.
He is also a member of the 10th Shandong Provincial Committee of the
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference.

Mr. Chen Xuejian, Chinese, aged 55, is a Non-executive Director of the
Company. He has been a director of the Company since 29th June,
2004. His latest appointment as director of the Company was from 18th
December, 2005 to 17th December, 2008 and he has since continued to
hold his directorship under PRC law. He had held various positions
including the director of Weifang Accounting Firm, deputy director of
Local Taxation Bureau of Weifang, deputy director of Finance Bureau of
Weifang. Mr. Chen is now the general manager Party committee
secretary of Weifang Investment Company, member of the tenth
sessions of China National People’s Political Consultative Conference of
Weifang, representative of the fifteenth sessions of the National People’s
Congress of Weifang, director of Weichai Heavy Machinery Co., Ltd,
director of Shandong Helon Co., Ltd, vice chairman of FOTON Lovol
Heavy Industries Co., Ltd, director of #hEg 2 AR AR (Weifang
Commercial Group Co., Ltd), director of Shandong Shouguang Rural
Commercial Bank Co., Ltd, chairman of Weifang Binhai Investment
Development Co., Ltd, vice chairman of #3E&A R A=A (Weifang Port
Co., Ltd.), vice chairman of Huadian Weifang Power Generation Co.,
Ltd., director of Shandong International Trust Corporation, and director
of Shandong Weijiao Group Co., Ltd.
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Mr. Li San Yim, Chinese (Hong Kong), aged 59, is a Non-executive
Director of the Company. He has been a director of the Company since
18th December, 2002. His latest appointment as director of the
Company was from 18th December, 2005 to 17th December, 2008 and
he has since continued to hold his directorship under PRC law. Mr. Li
founded Fujian Longyan Construction Machinery (Group) Company
Limited (a promoter of the Company) in 1993, and now is the chairman
of Lonking Holdings Limited (03339.HK).

Mr. Julius G. Kiss, Austrian, aged 83, is a Non-executive Director of the
Company. He is the chairman of IVM Technical Consultants Wien G.
m.b.H. which is a promoter of the Company. He has been a director of
the Company since 18th December, 2002. His latest appointment as
director of the Company was from 18th December, 2005 to 17th
December, 2008 and he has since continued to hold his directorship
under PRC law.

Ms. Han Xiaoqun, Chinese, aged 60, is a Non-executive Director of the
Company. Her appointment as director of the Company was from 18th
December, 2005 to 17th December, 2008 and she has since continued
to hold her directorship under PRC law. Ms. Han is the chairman of |1|E
ALEIELLRMAR AT (Shandong Provincial Enterprises
Trusteeship & Operation Co., Ltd.) which is a promoter of the Company.

Mr. Gu Linsheng, Chinese, aged 70, is an Independent Director of the
Company. His appointment as director of the Company was from 30th
April, 2007 to 17th December, 2008 and he has since continued to hold
his directorship under PRC law. He served as an independent director of
Torch Automobile Group Co., Ltd. from 30th April, 2004 to 30th April,
2007.

Mr. Li Shihao, Chinese, aged 70, retired in February 2001, is an
Independent Director of the Company. His appointment as director of
the Company was from 30th April, 2007 to 17th December, 2008 and
he has since continued to hold his directorship under PRC law. He is
now the director of B2 fifZ E & (science and technology committee)
and ¥ HEMEKRZEES (urban vehicle specialist committee) of the
Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural Development.

Mr. Liu Zheng, Chinese, aged 63, is an Independent Director of the
Company. His appointment as director of the Company was from 30th
April, 2007 to 17th December, 2008 and he has since continued to hold
his directorship under PRC law. Mr. Liu was the general manager of
Weifang Investment Company from 1999 to February 2004. He retired
in February 2004.
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DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

Mr. Zhang Xiaoyu, Chinese, aged 65, is an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company. He has been a director of the Company since
20th October, 2003. His latest appointment as director of the Company
was from 18th December, 2005 to 17th December, 2008 and he has
since continued to hold his directorship under PRC law. Mr. Zhang
served as the deputy director of FREIEKEM T %E (State Mechanic
Industry Bureau of the PRC). He is a senior engineer with professor-
grade treatment. Mr. Zhang is the vice-chairman of A° B T 284 <
(China Machinery Industrial Association), chairman of F1[E];58 Tj2&&
(China Vehicles Engineering Association) and chairman of A Bl A A1 2
& (China Internal Combustion Engine Association).

Mr. Koo Fook Sun, Louis, English, aged 54, is an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company. He has been a director of the
Company since 20th October, 2003. His latest appointment as a director
of the Company was from 18th December, 2005 to 17th December,
2008 and he has since continued to hold his directorship under PRC law.
Mr. Koo is the managing director of Hercules Capital Limited, a
corporate finance consultancy company. He served various positions for
many international investment banks and directorship and chief
executive officer for Hong Kong listed companies. In addition to the
Company, he currently also serves as an independent director of other
companies listed on the main board of Hong Kong Stock Exchange. He
graduated with a bachelor degree in business administration from the
University of California, Berkeley. Mr. Koo is also a certified accountant.

Mr. Fang Zhongchang, Chinese, aged 68, is an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company. He has been a director of the
Company since 15th December, 2004. His latest appointment as a
director of the Company was from 18th December, 2005 to 17th
December, 2008 and he has since continued to hold his directorship
under PRC law. Mr. Fang was graduated from Harbin Industrial
University. He previously served as engineer at |15 % o 3% 3 &%
(Shandong Angiu County Glasswork), deputy mayor of ZZ 8 (Angiu
County), deputy mayor of Weifang Municipal Government, secretary to
the Municipal Disciplinary Committee of the Standing Committee of
Weifang Municipal Government, and deputy director of the Standing
Committee of Weifang Municipal People’s Congress. He was also a
visiting researcher of the Chinese Academy of Management Science and
a Representative of the People’s Congress for the Shandong Province.
He retired from civil service in 2002.
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DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

(2) SUPERVISORS

Mr. Sun Chengping, Chinese, aged 63, is the Chairman of the
Supervisory committee of the Company. He has been a supervisor of the
Company since 18th December, 2002. He joined Weifang Diesel Engine
Factory in 1969 and was the deputy general manager and Party
committee secretary of Weifang Diesel Engine Factory, and supervisor of
Torch Automobile Group Co., Ltd. He is now the general manager of
Weichai Group Holdings Limited. Mr. Sun is a senior economist and
holds a junior college’s degree. He has extensive experience in diesel
engine production management and technology renovation.

Mr. Ding Yingdong, Chinese, aged 42, is a Supervisor of the Company
and assistant to president and director of operational management
department. He has been a supervisor of the Company since 22nd
October, 2007. Mr. Ding joined Weifang Diesel Engine Factory in 1990
and had held positions of deputy director of corporate planning
department and director of human resources department of Weifang
Diesel Engine Factory, director of human resources department and
director of corporate management department of Weichai Power Co.,
Limited. He is assistant to president of the Company. Mr. Ding is a senior
economist and holds the qualification of senior manager of corporate
human resources and a bachelor’s degree in engineering. He has
extensive experience in corporate management.

Ms. Jiang Jianfang, Chinese, aged 48, is a Supervisor of the Company.
She has been a supervisor of the Company since 18th December, 2002.
She was the deputy chief of the financial audit committee and vice
director of risk control department of EFEH TEE AR A 7A] (Guangxi
Liugong Group Company Limited) and a supervisor of ZFa#) T A%
D AER AT (Guangxi Liugong Machinery Company Limited). Ms. Jiang is
an accountant.

(3)SENIOR MANAGEMENT

30

Mr. Li Dakai, Chinese, aged 57, is an Executive President of the
Company. Mr. Li has been a member of the senior management of the
Group since Shaanxi Fast Gear Co., Ltd. became a subsidiary of the
Company in April 2007. Mr. Li had held various positions including
director of product design department, chief economist, general
manager of Shaanxi Auto Gear General Works, and director and deputy
president of Torch Automobile Group Co., Ltd. He currently holds the
positions of chairman and general manager of Shaanxi Fast Auto Drive
Group Company and director and general manager of Shaanxi Fast Gear
Co., Ltd. Mr. Li holds a bachelor’s degree and is a senior engineer with
researcher-grade treatment. He was honored “National Labor Model”
and entitled specialist who can receive state special allowance. Mr. Li
was appointed as a Representative of the Eleventh National People’s
Congress of the PRC and member of the Standing Committee of Xi'an
Municipal People’s Congress. He has extensive experience in heavy-duty
gear box designing and production management.
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DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

Mr. Fang Hongwei, Chinese, aged 44, is an Executive President of the
Company. Mr. Fang has been a member of the senior management of
the Group since Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor Company Limited became a
subsidiary of the Company in April 2007. He had held the positions of
section chief of test technology section of motor research institute,
deputy director of financial department, deputy general manager,
general manager of sales company and executive deputy general
manager of Shaanxi Automobile Manufactory. Mr. Fang is now the
director and general manager of Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor Company
Limited. Mr. Fang is a senior economist and holds a master’s degree in
engineering and the senior career manager certification of machinery
industrial corporation. He has extensive experience in heavy-duty vehicle
designing and production management.

Mr. Xu Hong, Chinese, aged 51, is an Executive President of the
Company. He joined Weifang Diesel Engine Factory in 1976 and was the
deputy general manager of foundry branch, general manager of &k
(cast branch) and director of production department. Mr. Xu holds a
bachelor’s degree. He has extensive experience in the management of
production and manufacturing.

Mr. Cheung Tat Leung, Peter, Chinese (Hong Kong), aged 40, is the
Chief Financial Officer, Company Secretary and Qualified Accountant of
the Company and is responsible for the accounting and finance
functions and secretary affairs of the Company. Mr. Cheung joined the
Company in October 2008. He is a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Cheung has worked for many
companies listed on the main board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.
He holds a bachelor’s degree and has over 15 years’ experience in the
accounting and financial management fields.

Mr. Dai Lixin, Chinese, aged 43, is the Secretary to the Board and
Director of Securities department of the Company. He joined Weifang
Diesel Engine Factory in 1987 and was the deputy director of the
treasury department of Weifang Diesel Engine Factory. Mr. Dai is an
economist and holds a bachelor’s degree. He has extensive experience in
corporate financing, restructure, merger and acquisition.

Mr. Feng Gang, Chinese, aged 46, is the Vice President of the
Company and the Deputy General Manager of the Marketing company.
He was manager of technology service department, assistant general
manager and executive deputy general manager of sales company and
executive deputy director of marketing management department of
Weifang Diesel Engine Factory. He is an engineer and holds a bachelor’s
degree in engineering. Mr. Feng has extensive experience in marketing.
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Mr. Tong Dehui, Chinese, aged 46, is the Vice President and the
Supervisor of the Engineering department of the Company. He was the
supervisor of the laboratory of engineering department, assistant
supervisor of engineering department, deputy chief engineer of Weifang
Diesel Engine Factory. Mr. Tong is a senior engineer and holds a doctor’s
degree in engineering and has extensive experience in the research and
development of engine and management.

Mr. Li Zhi, Chinese, aged 52, is the Vice President of the Company. He
was the deputy general manager of Xinjiang Xinghuo Machinery Factory,
general manager of Xinjiang Bearing Factory General Works, general
manager of Zhuzhou headquarter of TAGC, supervisor, general manager
of investment management department, vice president of Torch
Automobile Group Co., Ltd. Mr. Li is a senior economist and holds a
bachelor’s degree. He has extensive experience in corporate operation
management.

Mr. Zhou Chongyi, Chinese, aged 46, is the Vice President of the
Company. He was the deputy supervisor of engineering department,
deputy chief engineer of China National Heavy Duty Truck Group Corp,
Ltd. and deputy chief engineer of Shanghai Huizhong Automobile Co.
Ltd. Mr. Zhou is a senior engineer and holds a bachelor’s degree. He has
extensive experience in heavy-duty vehicle designing and production and
manufacturing management.

Mr. Qian Cheng, American, aged 48, is the Vice President of the
Company. He was the senior project engineer of engineering
department of Caterpillar in the USA, senior project manager of North
America engineering department of Ricardo in the UK, senior design
engineer of product design — chassis department of Ford Motor
Company in the USA, senior project engineer of product design center
of General Motors in the USA, vice president and director of
international business department of Torch Automobile Group Co., Ltd.
Mr. Qian graduated with a doctor’s degree from University of Kentucky
and has extensive experience in commercial vehicle strategy research.

Mr. Liu Xinhua, Chinese, aged 55, is the Vice President of the
Company, Manager of Hangzhou branch. Mr. Liu holds a junior college’s
degree. He was the director of production department, deputy general
manager, executive deputy general manager, and general manager of
Hangzhou Engine Co., Ltd. Mr. Liu has extensive experience in engine
production and management.
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DIRECTORS” REPORT

The directors present their annual report and the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31st December, 2010.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Group is the manufacture and sale of diesel
engines and related parts, automobiles and other major automobile
components, minor automobile components and import and export services.
There were no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal
activities during the year. The activities of its principal subsidiaries and
associates are set out in notes 20 and 21 to the financial statements,
respectively.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31st December, 2010 and the
state of affairs of the Company and the Group at that date are set out in the
financial statements on pages 82 to 214.

The directors recommended the payment of a final dividend of RMB0.43 per
ordinary share for the year ended 31st December, 2010 to shareholders. This
recommendation has been incorporated in the financial statements as an
allocation of retained profits within the equity section of the statement of
financial position.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and minority interests
of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited
financial statements and restated/reclassified as appropriate, is set out on page
215. This summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Company
and the Group during the year are set out in note 14 to the financial
statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
Details of movements in the investment properties of the Group during the
year are set out in note 15 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year are
set out in note 35 to the financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during
the year are set out in note 36 to the financial statements and in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31st December, 2010, the Company’s reserve available for distribution,
calculated in accordance with the relevant regulations, amounted to
RMB11,130,674,000, out of which dividend of RMB716,419,000 for the year
ended 31st December, 2010 was proposed on 30 March 2011. In addition, the
Company’s share premium account in the amount of RMB999,522,000 in its
statutory financial statements may be distributed in the form of fully paid
bonus shares.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS
During the year, the Group made charitable contributions totalling
approximately RMB24,882,000.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted
for 29.03% of the total sales for the year and sales to the largest customers
included therein amounted to 10.35%. Purchases from the Group’s five largest
suppliers accounted for less than 30% of the total purchases for the year.

None of the directors and supervisors of the Company or any of their
associates or any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the directors,
own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial
interest in the Group's five largest customers.
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DIRECTORS  REPORT (CONTINUED)

DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS
The directors and supervisors of the Company during the year and up to the

date of this report were:

Executive directors:

Tan Xuguang (Chairman and CEO)
Xu Xinyu (Executive President)

Sun Shaojun (Executive President)
Zhang Quan (Executive President)

Non-executive directors:
Zhang Fusheng
Liu Huisheng
Yao Yu

Yeung Sai Hong
Chen Xuejian

Li San Yim
Julius G. Kiss
Han Xiaoqun
Gu Linsheng

Li Shihao

Liu Zheng

Independent non-executive directors:

Zhang Xiaoyu
Koo Fook Sun, Louis
Fang Zhongchang

Supervisors:
Sun Chengping
Ding Yingdong
Jiang Jianfang

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive
directors, an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”), and as at the date of this report, the
Company still considers that all of the independent non-executive directors are

independent.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
BIOGRAPHIES
Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the senior

management of the Group are set out on pages 25 to 32 of the annual report.

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

Each of the executive directors has entered into a service contract with the
Company from 18th December, 2005 to 17th December, 2008. Each of the
aforesaid directors has since continued to holdover his directorship under the
relevant law of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). The latest
appointment of each of the non-executive directors and supervisors was from
18th December, 2005 to 17th December, 2008, except that Liu Huisheng, a
non-executive director, was appointed on 30th June, 2006 at the Company’s
annual general meeting and his term of office ran from 30th June, 2006 to
17th December, 2008; Liu Zheng, Li Shihao and Gu Linsheng, non-executive
directors, were appointed on 29th December, 2006 at the Company’s
extraordinary general meeting and their term of office ran from 30th April,
2007 to 17th December, 2008; Ding Yingdong, Supervisor, was appointed on
22nd October, 2007 at the Company’s labor representative meeting and his
term of office ran from 22nd October, 2007 to 17th December, 2008. Each of
the aforesaid directors and supervisors has since continued to holdover his/her
directorship under the PRC law. The latest appointment of each independent
non-executive director of the Company was from 18th December, 2005 to
17th December, 2008. Each of the aforesaid directors has since continued to
holdover his directorship under the PRC law.
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DIRECTORS  REPORT (CONTINUED)

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS' INTERESTS
IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Mr. Li San Yim, being indirectly interested in the capital of Fujian Longyan
Construction Machinery (Group) Company Limited and Shanghai Longgong
Machinery Company Limited, was interested in a contract for the supply of
diesel engines and diesel engine parts by the Company to these two
companies. Further details of the transactions undertaken in connection
therewith are included in the section headed “Continuing connected
transactions” below. Save as disclosed above, no director had a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, in any contract of significance to the
business of the Group to which the Company, its holding company, or any of
its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ INTERESTS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31st December, 2010, the interests and short position (if any) of the
directors, the chief executive and the supervisors in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")),
as recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Companies (""Model Code"), were as follows:

Capacity

54

Name of Director

EEHA

Tan Xuguang Beneficial owner
=B EREEA

Xu Xinyu Beneficial owner
R E BREAA
Sun Shaojun Beneficial owner
BROE BnERA
Zhang Quan Beneficial owner
SRR EREEA

Liu Huisheng Beneficial owner
i BREAA
Yeung Sai Hong (Note 3) Held by controlled corporation
Bt (AfaE3) HXEEERA

Li San Yim (Note 4)
A (HiaE4)
Julius G. Kiss (Note 5)

Held by spouse and controlled corporation
miEBRZITEERE

Held by controlled corporation

Julius G. Kiss A EEEA
(LHErG. 5HT) (AYaE5)
Name of supervisor
EEEpE
Ding Yingdong Beneficial owner
TR BmEAA
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13,760,000 (Note 1)
(KizE1)

3,200,000 (Note 1)
(Btax1)

3,200,000 (Note 1)
(Btat1)

3,200,000 (Note 1)
(KizE1)

1,920,000 (Note 1)
(Ktax1)

71,341,038 (Note 2)
(BHtat2)

56,817,800 (Note 1)
(KizE1)

34,400,000 (Note 2)
(KtaE2)

1,120,000 (Note 1)
(KizE1)
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Percentage

of the issued
share capital of
the Company
EEARIB#LT
REB DL

0.83%

0.19%

0.19%

0.19%

0.12%

4.28%

3.41%

2.06%

0.07%



DIRECTORS  REPORT (CONTINUED)

Notes:

1. These shares were derived from the previous domestic shares of the Company. The
domestic shares were ordinary shares issued by the Company, with a Renminbi-
denominated par value of RMB1.00 each, which were subscribed for and paid up in
Renminbi or credited as fully paid up. These shares became “A” shares of the Company
upon the “A” share listing of the Company on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange.

2. These were previously foreign shares of the Company. The foreign shares were ordinary
shares issued by the Company, with a Renminbi-denominated par value of RMB1.00
each, which were subscribed for and paid up in a currency other than Renminbi. These
shares became “A” shares of the Company upon the “A” share listing of the Company
on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange.

3. Yeung Sai Hong, a Non-executive Director, was directly and indirectly interested in the
issued share capital of Peterson Holdings Company Limited (“Peterson”), which in turn
held 71,341,038 shares in the Company.

4. Li San Yim, a Non-executive Director, and his spouse, Ni Yinying, were interested in
69.16% and 30.84%, respectively, in the registered capital of {giEEeA TI2HM (% =)
BBRAR] (Fujian Longyan Construction Machinery (Group) Company Limited (“Fujian
Longgong”)) which in turn held 56,817,800 shares in the Company, and therefore Li
San Yim was deemed to be interested in these shares of the Company.

5. Julius G. Kiss, a Non-executive Director, was indirectly interested in the entire issued
share capital of IVM Technical Consultants Wien Gesellschaft m.b.H. (“IVM”), which in
turn held 34,400,000 shares in the Company.

6. All the shareholding interests listed in the above table are “long” position.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31st December, 2010, none of the directors, the
chief executive nor the supervisors had an interest or short position in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations that was recorded in the register and required to be
kept pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transaction by Directors
of Listed Issuers.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section “Directors’ and supervisors’ interests in shares
and underlying shares” above, at no time during the year were rights to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the
Company granted to any director and supervisor or their respective spouses or
minor children, or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the
Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries
a party to any arrangement to enable the directors to acquire such rights in
any other body corporate.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

DETAILS OF CHANGES

SHAREHOLDINGS
(I) Changes in shareholdings

IN SHARE CAPITAL
AND SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS'

AR N0 E SR RFRIE]

) REZHERER

. . L35 Z i
1.  Changes in share capital 1. REZEF
Movement of the Company’s share capital during the year are as FARRARRAZENT
follows:
Before the movement Increase/decrease in the movement (+, -) After the movement
AREEH KREHEH(+ -) FREHH
New Transfer
shares Bonus of surplus
No. of shares Percentage issued issue to capital Others Sub-total No. of shares Percentage
28 H (%) BHR R AREER ] gt 88 ()
I Restricted orculatmg shares 349,824,937 41.99% — - 285,092,297 -64,732,640 220,359,657 570,184,594 34.22%
ﬁ E'ﬂﬂ#ﬁﬁ b
State-owned shares 24224937 291% — — — -24,224931 -24,224937 - -
ARHER
2. State-owned \ega\ person shares 162,320,000 19.49% — - 186,612,297 24,292,297 210,904,594 373,224,594 240%
AEEA
3. Shares he\d by other domestic entities including: 108,480,000 13.02% - - 59,260,000 -49,220,000 10,040,000 118,520,000 7.11%
Afpmarkas
St\arshddbynmsmwwed\egalpersom 84,800,000 10.18% — - 35,580,000 -49,220,000 -13,640,000 71,160,000 4271%
BNFEEEARR
Shares held by domestic natural persons 23,680,000 284% - - 23,680,000 - 23,680,000 47,360,000 2.84%
BMERARR
4. Shares held by other foreign entities including: 54,800,000 6.58% — - 39,220,000 -15,580,000 23,640,000 78,440,000 471%
SVERfRE :
Stares held by oversess legal persors 54,800,000 6.58% - — 39,220,000 -15,580,000 23,640,000 78,440,000 471%
BNEARR
Sbares held by overseas natural persons — — - — - - — - —
ShaRARR
5. Shares he\d by executives - - - = = — — — _
BER
I Non-restricted arculatmg shares 483,220,746 58.01% — - 547,953,386 64,732,640 612,686,026 1,095,906,772 65.78%
FE%MM
RMB ordinary shares 280,820,746 3371% — — 345,553,386 64,732,640 410,286,026 691,106,772 41.48%
ANREERR
2. Domestic isted foreign shares — — - — — - — - -
FRETHNER
3. Oerseas sted foreign shares 202,400,000 24.30% - - 202,400,000 - 202,400,000 404,800,000 24.30%
SEO EESNERR
4. Others - - - - - - - - -
ifh
Il Total number of shares 833,045,683 100.00% — — 833,045,683 — 833,045,683 1,666,091,366 100%
ok
Notes: Bzt -
1. On 29 July 2010, the lock-up period of 80,694,500 restricted shares of 1. 2070@—"7/?295’ * 7\ A]80,694,500 % R &
the Company expires, representing 9.69% of the total shares of the FEZE 5 AR (7 AR 21A79.69%
Company.
2. On 16 August 2010, Weichai Group Holdings Limited, the controlling 2 20109F8 A 16 H » 23 al& R AR R AL 7
shareholder of the Company undertakes to transfer the 15,961,860 REEFRE A ﬂ&ﬁ#ﬁ?ﬁ& R
shares acquired by it in the secondary market from non-restricted shares 1E 15 615,961,860 AR 4 R & i 188 R 17 2
to restricted shares. RERERARG -
3. On 26 October 2010, the Company convened the first extraordinary 3 2010E 10 H26 H » 22 A] & F72010F 5% —
general meeting, the first general meeting of A shares and the first KEIFIRRAE « F—KRARRE D%
general meeting of H shares, and considered and passed a resolution in HE—RHIIR R Bk - B8 T B
relation to share issuing by conversion of capital reserve in the interim FR20104F B B g & 2K 2\ 18 £ #EIZ IR
period of 2010: the Company proposed to make the distribution at the REYHER K AlAB IR A 835,045,683 /%
rate of 10 shares for every 10 shares by conversion of the capital reserve REE - FIOREILIOMR - %77 R
based on the total share capital of 833,045,683 shares of the Company. 20104 12 A6 H & ts
The proposal has been implemented on 6 December 2010.
4. There were no internal staff shares during the reporting period. 4 Bl 1 ¥R & BIR 2 A A S0 T AR -
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ESE8HE(E)

2. Time over which shares are restricted from listing for

trade
Time
L3
30th April, 2013
—E-=F
MA=+H

Additional
shares that

can be

listed and
traded upon
expiry of the
restricted period
PREHR

Figw b
REBRHBE

570,184,594

Remaining
restricted
shares

BRERKN
R BEEREE

Remaining
non-restricted
shares

ERERM
B & BEHE

EREFEHERDA] ETMRSE
B

Description

BrL

Under the commitments of Weichai Group
Holdings Limited and subject to such
commitments, none of the 124,236,640 shares
of the Company held by it shall be transferred
or managed by other person or repurchased by
the Company within 36 months commencing
from 30 April 2010; the 15,961,860 additional
shares of the Company acquired by it are
subject to a lock-up period commencing from
16 August 2010 to 30 April 2013, during which
no such shares will be listed on any stock
exchange system or transferred or managed by
other person or repurchased by the Company.
Upon the share issuing by conversion of capital
reserve in the interim period of 2010, the
restricted circulating shares of the Company
held by it amounted to 280,397,000 shares.

RS AR S B A PR A A B A A B 52
ZERGHRAFTHR - EPTR A 124236648 1%
AN AR B2010564 A30 B i = 1756 A
RNTEZEREZTMATE W AHAARRE
B HFTiE 91596186 8 IR AN 2 7 R IR D B
201058 H16 A iEIR & HHiE + HiE Bl E201354
R30I REHEMNHE  TSRBEHFRS
RRENER S A A ] 5 B g s & 7T
ANBEZERD b T 2HARAEEE © 2010
FHREMERNEEERAE  ZRARELRA
B8 PR & 1A% 1) A280397 8%
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Additional

shares that

can be

listed and

traded upon

expiry of the

Time restricted period
PREH®

A L

1) RERDBE

42 WEICHAI POWER Co., LTD.

Remaining
restricted
shares

BRERKN
B BB AR

HERENNBRDBBRAT

EE52HRS(8)
Remaining
non-restricted
shares  Description
ERERME
ROBESRE HHA

Under the commitments of Weifang Investment
Company, Peterson Holdings Company Limited,
Fujian Longyan Construction Machinery (Group)
Company Limited, IVM Technical Consultants
Wien Gesellschaft m.b.H, Shandong Enterprise
Trust Operation Company Limited and Guangxi
Liugong Group Limited and subject to such
commitments, the lock-up period for the
30,898,480, 26,320,000, 24,080,000,
12,900,000, 11,500,000 and 7,184,880
restricted shares of the Company subject to
lock-up terms held by the above parties
respectively will be extended for another three
years since the expiration on 30 April 2010,
which means no such shares will be listed on
any stock exchange system or transferred or
managed by other person or repurchased by the
Company within 36 months commencing from
the expiration of lock-up period on 30 April
2010. Upon the share issuing by conversion of
capital reserve in the interim period of 2010,
the restricted circulating shares of the Company
held by such six companies amounted to
61,796,960, 52,640,000, 48,160,000,
25,800,000, 23,000,000 and 14,369,760
shares, respectively.

BERSTTRERA  BHERERAA &
BEATIEEM(EE)ARRF - B AV
B ARtLMERAR  IURECETEL
eRNERAR  BEAYISEARARLA
B EGH KT X2 FEGR KRR - EDRIHAE
H)ZAAA F]30808485 MR ~ 26328 /% ~ 2408 & %
12908 1% + 11508 % » 718488 & ik 5 R & 161
Betn 5201054 A30 B BIEAR BERHE =
BN 8201054 A30 HRR E B 2 B =+ /X f@
ARTERRESFR S ZFEER Z A EAM
EALABENERMABTREZER, - B4
SHAD AL o 2010F R RHEAABEILR
AHREE  FAARRABELARANE
R E AR 1A 5 5l 726,1796%6% 1R 52645 %
48168 1% 25808 A% 2,300& R 14369768 R
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Under the commitments of Zhuzhou State-
owned Assets Investment Holdings Company
Limited and subject to such commitments, the
lock-up period for the 8,330,437 shares of the
Company subject to lock-up terms held by it
will be extended for another three years since
the expiration on 30 April 2010, which means
no such shares will be listed on any stock
exchange system or transferred or repurchased
by the Company within 36 months commencing
from the expiration of lock-up period on 30
April 2010. Upon the share issuing by
conversion of capital reserve in the interim
period of 2010, the restricted circulating shares
of the Company held by it amounted to
16,660,874 shares.
BERNTREAEEREEREEBRA RS
BB AGE D R % FAGE TR - HFFEH
A1 B1R330437 8 A IR 6 Az 10 B 2010%F4
ANEESEBERETE=F - HE201054
AREREHERZBR=TAEARN T2/
BEFRH ZGERER 55 A B (7 =
& BT EAARAEE - 0105 HEAR
RERRAT REHE LA AFARA A
BRERIHIRG 5166608748 % ©
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Under the commitments of the 24 nature
person shareholders (including Tan Xuguang)
and subject to such commitments, no shares of
the Company held by them will be listed on any
stock exchange system or transferred or
managed by other person or repurchased by the
Company within 36 months commencing from
30 April 2010. Upon the share issuing by
conversion of capital reserve in the interim
period of 2010, the restricted circulating shares
of the Company held by the 24 nature person
promoter shareholders amounted to
47,360,000 shares.

IRAR R 248 B R ARRER B 1O GA K0
RAEARGEMARR - EFAHFEHAR AR
A% B2010564 B0 ER=TREARNTEB
BEFRHZFHER AR MM E
BARFMAEEZERD TP GHAAR
BIfE  010FH BB RAEERER AT RER
& AZERABRARRFEALANER
SRR 4368
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3.  Shareholdings of the top ten restricted shareholders and

the restrictions

3. HI0R AR E R R E
B RREGE

fl. HEEREEERAR 280,397,000
( szl )
(Weichai Group Holdings
Limited (“Weichai Holdings"))

2. HYTIRARE 61,796,960
(Weifang Investment Company)

3. BRERARA R 52,640,000
(Peterson Holdings Company
Limited)
4. REEEIERNER) 48,160,000
BRAT

(Fujian Longyan
Construction Machinery
(Group) Company Limited)

30th April, 2013
—T-=f
mA=+H

30th April, 2013
—ZT-=F
MA=+H

30th April, 2013
—T—=F
MA=+H

30th April, 2013
—T-=F
mA=+H

— See "Description” section of “2. Time over
which shares are restricted from listing for
trade”.

— BNRAREGEBRNE EHRSERE] S 55
B e

22,560,000

20,640,000
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10.

BHRIVME T S 4 th i
BRAR

(IVM Technical Consultants
Wien Gesellschaft m.b.H)

WREBRETELERD
BRAR

(Shandong Enterprise
Trust Operation Company
Limited)

wHmEAEEREEE
BRAR

(Zhuzhou State-owned Assets
Administration Management
Company Limited)

BRI ISERRAR
(Guangxi Liugong Group
Limited)

Tan Xuguang
Eex

Xu Xinyu
HHIE

25,800,000

23,000,000

16,660,874

14,369,760

13,760,000

3,200,000

30th April, 2013
—ZT-=F
MA=+H

30th April, 2013
—T-—=F
WA=+H

30th April, 2013
—T—=F
MA=+H

30th April, 2013
—T-=F
WA=+H

30th April, 2013
—T-=F
mMA=+H

30th April, 2013
—T-=f
MA=+H

8,600,000

9,000,000

31,789,000
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(I Shareholdings of the Substantial Shareholders as at 31st () HR-Z—ZF+-BA=+—H2ZXE

December, 2010 BRERFRER
Total number of Shareholders The number of shareholders is 162,630 among which 162,359 are
shareholders of “A"” shares and 271 are shareholders of “H" shares.
IR R 1B 8L IR B 241626307 - HPARARER 1623597 - HIRARE 271/ ©
Shareholdings of the top ten shareholders AI10Z R EERIE R
Approximate Number of Number of
Type of percentage of  Total number restricted shares pledged
Name of shareholder shareholder shares held (%) of shares held shares held or frozen
FERBEA =g
Aotk BEERE REEH
RREHE BRME (%) BFRAEH REROEE R EHE
HKSCC Nominees Limited ~ Foreign shareholder 24.15% 402,407,996 — N/A
B REERIEA SNERRER o
BRAF]
LIRSS E B R AR State-owned legal 16.83% 280,397,000 280,397,000 —
(Weichai Group Holdings person
Limited) BAEEA
Peterson Holdings Company Overseas legal person 4.28% 71,341,038 52,640,000 —
Limited BINEA
BHERBR AR
MR E A A State-owned lega 3.71% 61,796,960 61,796,960 —
(Weifang Investment person
Company) BlEEA
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48

Type of
Name of shareholder shareholder
BRRER BERME
EREE TR (2E) Domestic non-state-
ERAA owned legal person

(Fujian Longyan Construction 3 N3EE A A A
Machinery (Group)
Company Limited)

TR & R E Domestic non-state-
BRAT owned legal person

(Shenzhen Chuangxin BERIEFHEEA
Investment Group
Co., Ltd)

B FIVM BT 78 Overseas legal person
HHRBER AR TINEA

(IVM Technical Consultants
Wien Gesellschaft m.b.H)

Agricultural Bank of China  Domestic non-state-
— REZ LK RIRZEAIES  owned legal person
REES RAFEBEBEA
Bl R RTT
— B O RARRE
BAREESD

IIERAPEAELLMA Domestic non-state-
[RAR] owned legal person
(Shandong Enterprise RN BEAN
Trust Operation
Company Limited)

Agricultural Bank of China  Domestic non-state-

— R EZ LR RIRERIES  owned legal person
BEES BAEEEEA

B R 2 ERTT

— R EBROMEEREREFS
BEES

Approximate
percentage of

shares held (%) of shares held

FERBA
B

(%)

3.41%

3.40%

2.06%

2.03%

1.70%

1.04%

WEICHAI POWER Co., LTD. HL#NhBRNDBERAD

EE8HRS(F&E)
Number of
Total number restricted
shares held
BEERE
BREE REROEE
56,817,800 48,160,000
56,615,968 —
34,400,000 25,800,000
33,764,958 —
28,400,000 23,000,000
17,330,096 —

Number of
shares pledged
or frozen
=g

BREEH
R B E
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Shareholdings of the top ten non-restricted shareholders

Name of shareholder

REREH

HKSCC Nominees Limited
BEBPREEREABRAT

Shenzhen Capital Group Co., Ltd
R TR R E KB AR AR]

Agricultural Bank of China - FRE#Z L RIKEEE S IKEE
B RERIT—FBRONRRELEFLFCELS

Peterson Holdings Company Limited
B AR A R]

Agricultural Bank of China — REZ OMEBIEIR A SR E RS
PEEERIT - PEBZOVEERENESREES

Bank of China— KX & £ EEHFREES
REIERTT — AN EEREZFNEES

Bank of China
— S EARI00R SE AR IEHELFREES
FBIERTT— S HERB100R ZAFMNIBHEESFREES

China Constructign Bank \
—EEXBEFEERENFLREES
FRERIRIT - BRREAFEERENEFFREES

Fujian Longyan Construction Machinery (Group) Company Limited

BEREETEEM (RE) ERAF

IVM Technical Consultants Wien Gesellschaft m.b.H)
B FIVM BT A A4 B R A A

ESE8HE(E)

BI04 B R SR BCRFFAE R

Number of the
non-restricted
shares held
BHEERE
HRGROEE

402,407,996

56,615,968

33,764,958

18,701,038

17,330,096

11,620,000

10,020,865

10,000,000

8,657,800

8,600,000

Types of shares
R ER

Overseas listed foreign shares
BN EONE IR

RMB ordinary shares
AR E B

RMB ordinary shares
AR LB

RMB ordinary shares
ARBEEBAR

RMB ordinary shares
ARBEEBAR

RMB ordinary shares
AR L BAX

RMB ordinary shares
AR LB
RMB ordinary shares
AR E B

RMB ordinary shares
ARBEE AR

RMB ordinary shares
AR BIR
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Description of the connected relationship or acting in concert relationship
among the aforesaid shareholders:

1.

Among the aforementioned shareholders, Agricultural Bank of China —
IO RIREREAIREES and Agricultural Bank of China — &
T MBIRARER AR EH 4 are both managed by a fund manager,
namely China Post & Capital Fund Management Co., Ltd.

Save as the aforementioned, it's not certain whether there is any
connected relationship among the top ten shareholders and the other
top ten non-restricted shareholders, or whether there is any acting in

ESEHS(E)

LR PR BB R (R S — BT BBV SRR

A ERRS - RERRRT —PELZLK
RERREBSRELGEPEEERT —
FEZOEERRULESRERES BRI —&
SEEA—FEHAXESERARAT -

B ESRIEIIASN - ARDBIRAE AT+ RBIR
REMA+2BREFTBRRZEASEFE
BBER  BRNERSTE BT AL -

concert relationship among them.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
The register of substantial shareholders maintained by the Company pursuant
to Section 336 of the SFO (including interests filed with the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange) shows that as at 31st December, 2010, the following persons (other

than the directors, the chief executive and the supervisors) had the following

interests and the short positions (if any) in the shares and underlying shares of

the Company:

Long/
Short Number of
Name Capacity position A shares
#e/
£ s *e AR#ER
Weichai Group Holdings Limited Beneficial owner Long 280,397,000
AREREEERAR EnfAA e
Shandong Heavy Industry Group Co., Ltd. (Note 1) Held by controlled corporation Long 280,397,000
WRETEBERAR (Ht1) AR i
State-owned Assets Supervision and Held by controlled corporation Long 280,397,000
Administration Commission of Shandong
Province (“Shandong SASAC") (Note 1)
LRERAEEEEERZR (IREIEZ]) R i
(W)
Peterson Holdings Company Beneficial owner Long 75,200,000
Limited (“Peterson”) (Note 2)
sERRERA R (53)) (Ht2) ERAEAA i
Yeung Sai Hong (Note 2) Held by controlled corporation Long 75,200,000
it () X EEERE #e
Tingho Nominees Limited (Note 2) Held by controlled Long 75,200,000
Tingho Nominees Limited (f3£2) corporation
SR i
Advantage Investment Corporation Limited (Note 2) Held by controlled corporation Long 75,200,000
50 WEICHAI PoWER Co., LTD. L hiRNRBERLD

F2RR
ARRREBEZRBEGIFBBHFENE
ZRRELM(EHE M E BB PR RN F
B)ERN R E—ZEF+_A=+—H"' T
FIAL(ESR SREBABREFEHRIN E
ARA e RABRERD P ER THERERAR
(mH) :

Percentage Percentage
of share capital of share capita Percentage
comprising only Number of  comprising only  of total issued
A shares H shares H shares share capital
HERfT
EARRA fEHRRA REEH
BAL HR# B ¥l BOl
22.23% — = 16.83%
22.23% — — 16.83%
22.23% — = 16.83%
5.96% — — 451%
5.96% — — 451%
5.96% — - 4.51%
5.96% — — 451%
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Advantage Investment Corporation Limited (#/i2) ~— mEimAERE e

Shenzhen Chuangxin Investment Group Beneficial owner Long 68,800,000 5.45% — — 4.13%
Co., Ltd (Note 3)

AYHRIRRE RBERAR (H33) EREEA e
Shenzhen Chuangxi Investment Held by controlled corporation Long 68,800,000 545% = = 4.13%
Management Company (Note 3)
RYTEREERAR (#/:3) MXEEERE e
Fujian Longyan Construction Machinery (Group) Beneficial owner Long 68,800,000 5.45% — — 4.13%
Company Limited (*Fujian Longgong”) (Note 4)
BREAIREREDERAR(EREL) EREAA e
(Hiita)
Li San Yim (Note 4) Held by controlled Long 68,800,000 5.45% — — 4.13%
corporation and spouse
A (H24) AR BEERERRE e
Ni Yinying (Note 4) Held by controlled Long 68,800,000 5.45% — — 4.13%
corporation and spouse
(R8RE (Hiit4) AR EEERERRE e
JPMorgan Chase & Co. Beneficial owner Long — — 1,601,000 0.40% 0.10%
PMorgan Chase & Co. EaBEAA e
Investment manager Long — — 14,088,000 3.48% 0.84%
RELE #e
Custodian Corporation/ Long — — 24,664,988 6.09% 1.48%
approved lending agent e
REAN-EE /RN
REA

40,353,988 9.97% 2.8%

900,000
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Notes:

State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission of Shandong Province
(“Shandong SASAC”) held the entire capital of Shandong Heavy Industry Group Co.,
Ltd., which in turn held the entire capital of Weichai Group Holding Limited (formerly
known as Weifang Diesel Engine Works).

Yeung Sai Hong ,a Non-Executive Director, was beneficially interested in the entire
issued share capital of Tingho Nominees Limited, which in turn held 100% of Advantage
Investment Corporation Limited, which was interested in 90% of the issued share capital
of Peterson.

Shenzhen Chuangxin Investment Management Company was interested in approximately
33.73% of the registered capital of Shenzhen Chuangxin Investment Group Company
Limited.

The registered capital of Fujian Longgong was held as to 69.16% by Li San Yim, a Non-
Executive Director, and as to 30.84% by Ni Yinying, spouse of Li San Yim, and therefore
Ni Yinying was deemed to be interested in these shares of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, the Company had not been notified of any other
relevant interests or short positions in the issued share capital of the Company
as 31st December, 2010.
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Bt

B EXEEIN -

UWREBEEEEEERZR® ([IWREEZ ) ¥
BIRETEEGRAGMZERA - HILRELE
B H R AIFF B R EE IR 2 7] (i i 73 34y
SOhBEB) B2 BPRAN ©

FEH 7T Z F 15 1 11 & 25 # A Tingho Nominees Limited ]
FEBE FTTHRA + Tingho Nominees Limited# & Advantage
Investment Corporation Limited 77 100% A% # - i1 Advantage
Investment Corporation Limited AlI# 5 15 # #790% 2 #7748
o

FYNTEIFTIRE EHE L Al RYITRIFTREEEE
R 2RI AR K #94933.73% 1 2

HRTTEEFTHARFHAZ IEIERES P EE
BEE LAt MR A A#769.16% K 3084% 1E 2 + I (TR
WEBREZELR R R FIEE1E

RZE—ZF+=_A=1+—H

X BN SRS E AR R B 2 TR B A
HipHRAE R R R
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DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS,

SUPERVISORS

AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES

Shareholdings of the directors, supervisors and chief
executives

Nine of the directors, supervisors and chief executives of the Company,
namely Tan Xuguang, Xu Xinyu, Sun Shaojun, Zhang Quan, Liu
Huisheng, Ding Yingdong, Dai Lixin, Feng Gang and Tong Dehui, are
natural-person promoter shareholders and have undertaken that they
will not transfer any shares of the Company within 36 months
commencing from its listing on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. When the
restriction period expires, the share held thereon can be transferred in
accordance with the relevant rules of China Securities Regulatory
Commission and Shenzhen Stock Exchange.

On 30 April 2010, the lock-up period undertaken by the above
shareholders expired. With confidence in the development of the
Company in the future, nine natural-person promoter shareholders
extended the lock-up period for another 36 months. Upon expiry of the
lock-up period, shares held by them will be transferred according to the

ESE8HE(E)

EF - EF SHHERAERN

EE - EE aREBAER
B
ARAREF EF SREEAER
IRBBEBARAANBERARR 2
X -HFHE RIE-RKR B

=

AR BALF OB RIEE BAREE
ARARBREERIMA L E36E AR
TEREMKERE-REWRR I
PR A3 BB NOR IR 5

SN AEBREEE -

2010F4 A30H  FMi B AZENRE

Him ERERARRERNE L

AMoE B A NEEARRGE AR
EHEMEA -REMMRE - HAKFRK

relevant requirements of CSRC and Shenzhen Stock Exchange.

II. Appointment and resignation of the directors,

supervisors and officers

There is no appointment of the directors, supervisors and officers during

the reporting period.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Company and the Group had the following continuing
connected transactions, certain details of which are disclosed in compliance

with the requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

List of Connected Persons and the relationship with the Company

Name of Connected Person

BEALER

Weichai Group Holdings Limited
HMREREBEGR A A

Fujian Longgong Construction Machinery
(Group) Company Limited
BEEEIEEM(EEERAA

Abbreviation

&R

Weichai Holdings
HESRPEAR

Fujian Longgong
fRERET

EHETEABERRRIBELR S M
B 7 A S

. E=2 -EEX -SREEAEBNH
BS =5 iR BS 15 0

D

HEPAN EEEEE EF SRE
BAERWBER-

FEMMEAERS
FR-ARRBAEEL TIBALEER

2

CRERFGNETHBERELTRANE

14AE B4R TE 55 o

FEALIRMEBARNRR 2B E

Relationship between
the Connected Person
and the Group

BE A THEAREE 2R

Held 16.83% interest in the Company,
one of the Promoters of the Company
BAADNRI6.83%1E0 -
RABERAZ—

Indirectly wholly owned and controlled by
Mr. Li San Yim (a non-executive director
of the Company) and his spouse
HAARRAIFEITES TR EER
HEBEE 2 EHE RIER
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Name of Connected Person

BEALER

Shanghai Longgong Machinery
Company Limited
REI(L®B)#MmAE R QA

Weifang Weichai Deutz Diesel Engine Co., Ltd.

HEYT S EAR R S B IR R A

Weichai Heavy-duty Machinery Co.,Ltd
(formerly known as Shan Dong Juli
Company Limited)

M ERRDARAF
(ABAILERE RO ABRAA)

Shaanxi Fast Gear Automotive Transmission
Co., Ltd.
mEELRAEEHEEER QA

Shaanxi Automotive Croup Co., Ltd.
BREAESEBERAEERT

54 WEICHAI POWER Co., LTD.

Abbreviation

a7

Shanghai Longgong
LT

Weichai Deutz
HESETBIOR

Weichai Heavy Machinery
ML S

Fast Transmission
ETREE

Shaanxi Automotive
a1

HERENNBRDBBRAT

ESE8HS(E)

Relationship between
the Connected Person
and the Group
BEALTHERERZ@EE

Indirectly wholly owned and controlled by Mr.
Li San Yim (a non-executive director

of the Company) and his spouse
BHARNFBERITESE TR TER
HidBREE 2 EEA RiZR

Weichai Holdings held a 50% interest in
Weichai Deutz
HESAE PR B S B R 50 % 5

Weichai Holdings held 30.59% interest in
Weichai Heavy-duty Machinery
SRR B S E30.59 %

Held a 49% interest in a subsidiary

of the Company, Shaanxi Fast Gear
Co., Ltd.. (“SFGC")

FBE AR AR R R E T
BREERT ( [REELFER] )
49% 1 5

Held a 49% interest in a subsidiary

of the Company, Shaanxi Heavy Duty

Automotive Co., Ltd. (“Shaanxi zhonggi”)
FEARRRIMBARIRAER S

BRARF ( [PREER] ) 49%HEn
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Provision of general services and labor services by Weichai
Holdings and its associate to the Company

Pursuant to the general services agreement entered into between the
Company and Weichai Holdings on 17 November 2003 (as amended
and supplemented by various supplemental agreements, collectively
referred to as “Weichai Holdings General Services Agreement”), Weichai
Holdings has agreed to provide certain labour services as well as general
services to the Company, namely, environmental protection, security,
fire, repair, maintenance and other general services and the payment of
certain town land use right tax in relation to the property occupied and/
or used by the Company. The fees payable by the Company to Weichai
Holdings with respect to the provision of the said services are
determined based on the actual costs incurred by Weichai Holdings and
apportioned on a pro-rata basis according to the area of the relevant
property occupied and/or used by the Company plus a service charge
representing not more than 5% of such costs and settled by the parties
on a monthly basis.

Pursuant to the general services agreement entered into between the
Company and Chongging Weichai Diesel Engine Works (“Chongging
Weichai”), an associate of Weichai Holdings, on 17 November 2003 (as
amended and supplemented by various supplemental agreements,
collectively referred to as “Chongging Weichai General Services
Agreement”), Chongging Weichai has agreed to provide certain general
services to the Company, namely, environmental protection, security,
fire, repair, maintenance and other general services and the payment of
certain town land use right tax in relation to the property occupied and/
or used by the Company. The fees payable by the Company to
Chongging Weichai with respect to the provision of the said services are
determined based on the actual costs incurred by Chongging Weichai
and apportioned on a pro-rata basis according to the area of the
relevant property occupied and/or used by the Company plus a service
charge not exceeding 20% of such costs (save that the town land use
right tax paid by Chongging Weichai on behalf of the Company will not
be subject to the said 20% service charge) and are settled by the parties
on a monthly basis.

Upon the expiry of the Weichai Holdings General Services Agreement
and Chongging Weichai General Services Agreement on 31 December
2010, the Company shall have an option to renew the agreement for a
term of three years. The approved annual caps for the aforesaid services
provided by Weichai Holdings and Chongging Weichai for the year
ended 31 December 2010 is RMB47.5 million In the year ended 31
December 2010, the total amount charged by Weichai Holdings and
Chongging Weichai to the Company for the said services was
RMB39,437,000.
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Supply and/or connection of utilities by Weichai Holdings and
its associate to the Company and its subsidiaries

Pursuant to the utility services agreement entered into between the
Company and Weichai Holdings on 17 November 2003 (as amended
and supplemented by various supplemental agreements, collectively
referred to as “Weichai Holdings Utilities Services Agreement”), Weichai
Holdings has agreed to provide or provide the connection of certain
utility and energy services to the Company, namely, water, electricity,
gas, steam, oxygen, nitrogen, compressed air, waste water treatment
and supply of treated waste water, etc. The fees payable by the
Company to Weichai Holdings with respect to the provision of the said
services are determined based on the actual usage of the Company and
by reference to the market prices of such utilities. If only government
published rates are available with respect to certain utilities, the fees
payable would be determined by reference to the government published
rates plus the wastage, depreciation and repair expenses incurred by
Weichai Holdings in relation thereto. If no market price or government
published rates with respect to the above utility and energy services are
available, the Company will pay the actual costs incurred by Weichai
Holdings in relation to the provision of such utility and energy services
plus a service charge representing not more than 20% of such costs.
Since 1 January 2006, Weichai Holdings has been charging the Company
a service charge of 5% of the actual costs incurred thereof. The fees are
settled by the parties on a monthly basis.

Pursuant to the utility services agreement entered into between the
Company and Chongging Weichai on 17 November 2003 (as amended
and supplemented by various supplemental agreements, collectively
referred to as “Chongqging Weichai Utilities Services Agreement”),
Chongging Weichai has agreed to provide or provide the connection of
certain utility and energy services to the Company, namely, water,
electricity, natural gas, steam, oxygen, nitrogen and compressed air, etc.
The fees payable by the Company to Chongging Weichai with respect to
the provision of the said services are determined based on the usage
thereof by the Company or, if it is not possible to measure such usage,
pro-rated according to the respective sales of Chongging Weichai and
the Company and by reference to the market prices of such utilities. If
only government published rates are available with respect to certain
utilities, the fees payable will be determined by reference to the
government published rates plus the wastage, depreciation and repair
expenses incurred by Chongging Weichai in relation thereto. If no
market prices or government published rates with respect to the above
utilities and energy services are available, the Company will pay the
actual costs incurred by Chongging Weichai in relation to the provision
of such utilities and energy services plus a service charge representing
not more than 20% of such costs. Chongging Weichai has been
charging the Company a service charge of 20% of the actual costs
incurred thereof. The fees are settled by the parties on a monthly basis.
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Upon the expiry of the Weichai Holdings Utilities Services Agreement
and Chongging Weichai Utilities Services Agreement on 31 December
2010, the Company shall have an option to renew the agreement for a
term of three years. The approved annual caps for the aforesaid services
provided by Weichai Holdings and Chongging Weichai for the year
ended 31 December 2010 is RMB290 million. In the year ended 31
December 2010, the total amount charged by Weichai Holdings and
Chongging Weichai to the Company for the said services was
RMB192,568,000.

Purchase of diesel engine parts and components, gas and scrap
metals, etc., materials and related products and processing
services by the Company and its subsidiaries from Weichai
Holdings and its associate.

Pursuant to the Weichai Purchase and Processing Services Agreement
entered into between the Company, Weichai Holdings and Chongging
Weichai on 27 November 2008,

(i)  the Company has agreed to purchase diesel engine parts and
components, gas and scrap metals, etc., materials and related
products at market prices from Weichai Holdings and Chongging

Weichai; and

(i)  Chongging Weichai has agreed to provide processing services to
the Company with respect to certain semi-finished diesel engine
parts at fees determined based on the relevant market prices.

The above transactions are settled by the parties on a monthly basis.

Upon the expiry of the Weichai Purchase and Processing Services
Agreement on 31 December 2010, the Company shall have an option to
renew the agreement for a term of three years. The approved annual
caps for the aforesaid purchases made and services received from
Weichai Holdings and Chongging Weichai for the years ended 31
December 2010 is RMB112.5 million,. In the year ended 31 December
2010, the total purchases made and processing services received by the
Company from Weichai Holdings and Chongging Weichai amounted to
RMB 103,309,000 in total.
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Sale of diesel engines, diesel engine parts and components,
materials and related products and provision of processing
services by the Company and its subsidiaries, Weichai Power
Reserves and Resources Company (“Weichai Resources”) to
Weichai Holdings and its certain associates

Pursuant to the Weichai Sales and Processing Services Agreement
entered into between the Company and Weichai Resources as suppliers
and Weichai Holdings and its certain associates as customers on 27
November 2008, the Company and Weichai Resources have agreed to (i)
sell certain diesel engines, diesel engine parts and components and
related products, and materials for the repair services of diesel engines,
and (i) provide certain processing services in relation to the production
of diesel engines to Weichai Holdings and its certain associates at market
prices. The transactions are settled by the parties on a monthly basis.

Upon the expiry of the Weichai Sales and Processing Services Agreement
on 31 December 2010, the Company shall have an option to renew the
agreement for a term of three years.

The approved annual caps for the aforesaid sales made and
services provided to Weichai Holdings and its certain
associates for the year ended 31 December 2010 is RMB315
million, respectively. In the year ended 31 December 2010,
the total sales made and processing services provided by the
Company and Weichai Resources to Weichai Holdings and its
certain associates amounted to RMB 204,700,000 in total.

Lease of buildings and equipment by Weichai Holdings (and its
associates) to the Company (and its subsidiaries)

Pursuant to the asset lease agreement entered into between the
Company and Weichai Holdings on 21 November 2003 (as amended
and supplemented by various supplemental agreement, collectively
referred to as “Lease of Buildings and Equipment”), Weichai Holdings
has agreed to lease to the Company certain buildings (including factories
and warehouses with a total gross floor area of 63,245 square metres)
situated at Weichai Holdings (the ""Buildings’’) and all the equipment in
relation to the manufacture of certain semi-finished diesel engine parts
(collectively referred to as “Equipment”) located in the Buildings for a
term ending 31 December 2012 , upon the expiry of which the parties
may renew the term for another three years on a mutually agreed basis.

The approved annual caps for the lease rental payable to Weichai
Holdings in respect of the Lease of Buildings and Equipment for each of
the years ended/ending 31 December 2010, 2011 and 2012 are all
RMB43 million. In the year ended 31 December 2010, the total lease
rental payable by the Company to Weichai Holdings in respect of the
lease of Buildings and Equipment amounted to RMB42,841,000.
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Lease of properties by Chongging Weichai to the Company
Pursuant to the properties lease agreement entered into between the
Company and Chongging Weichai on 1 July 2003 (as amended and
supplemented by various supplemental agreements, collectively referred
to as “Lease of Properties”), Chongging Weichai has agreed to lease to
the Company certain land and buildings where the Chongging
Production Line is situated for a term ending 31 December 2012.

The approved annual caps for the lease rental payable to Chongging
Weichai in respect of the Lease of Properties for each of the years
ended/ending 31 December 2010, 2011 and 2012 are all RMB4 million.
In the year ended 31 December 2010, the total lease rental payable by
the Company to Chongging Weichai in respect of the Lease of
Properties amounted to RMB4,000,000.

Supply of diesel engines and diesel engine parts by the
Company to Fujian Longgong and Shanghai Longgong and
their associates

Pursuant to the respective framework agreements dated 21 October
2003 entered into by the Company with Fujian Longgong and Shanghai
Longgong (as supplemented by various supplemental agreements), the
Company has agreed to supply Fujian Longgong and Shanghai
Longgong and their associates, at market prices and settled in the
month following delivery, diesel engines and diesel engine parts for a
term ending 31 December 2010, upon which the Company shall have
the option to extend the term for another three years.

The approved annual caps for the aforesaid sales of diesel engines and
diesel engine parts to Fujian Longgong and Shanghai Longgong and
their associates for the year ended 31 December 2010 is RMB1.5 billion.
In the year ended 31 December 2010, the total sales of diesel engines
and diesel engine parts made by the Company to Fujian Longgong and
Shanghai Longgong and their associates amounted to RMB951,910,000.

Sale of semi-finished diesel engine parts and related products
by the Company to Weichai Deutz

Pursuant to the master sales agreement entered into between the
Company and Weichai Deutz on 21 October 2003 (as supplemented by
various supplemental agreements), the Company has agreed to supply
semi-finished diesel engine parts and related products to Weichai Deutz
for its 226B series of diesel engines, at market prices and settled on a
monthly basis, for a term ending 31 December 2010, upon the expiry of
which the Company shall have the option to extend the term for
another three years.
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The approved annual caps for the aforesaid sales of semi-finished diesel
engine parts and related products to Weichai Deutz for the years ended
31 December 2010 is RMB170 million. In the year ended 31 December
2010, total sales of RMB91,077,000 of semi-finished diesel engines parts
and related products were made by the Company to Weichai Deutz.

Provision of sales and warranty period repair services by the
Company to Weichai Deutz

Pursuant to the sales and warranty agreement entered into between the
Company and Weichai Deutz on 21 September 2005 (as supplemented
by various supplemental agreements), the Company has agreed to
provide sales and warranty period repair and maintenance services to
Weichai Deutz, at market prices and settled on a quarterly basis, for a
term ending 31 December 2010, upon the expiry of which the Company
shall have the option to extend the term for another three years.

The approved annual caps for the aforesaid sales and warranty period
repair services provided to Weichai Deutz for the year ended 31
December 2010 is RMB26 million. In the year ended 31 December 2010,
the sales and warranty period repair services provided by the Company
to Weichai Deutz amounted to RMB19,877,000 in total.

Purchase of diesel engine parts and components and related
products by Weichai Resources from Weichai Deutz

Pursuant to the diesel engine parts and components and related
products purchase agreement entered into between Weichai Resources
and Weichai Deutz on 27 November 2008, Weichai Resources has
agreed to purchase from Weichai Deutz certain parts and components
for the manufacture of diesel engines, at market prices and settled on a
monthly basis, for a term ending 31 December 2010, upon the expiry of
which Weichai Resources shall have the option to extend the term for
another three years.

The approved annual caps for the aforesaid purchases of diesel engine
parts and components and related products from Weichai Deutz for the
years ended 31 December 2010 is RMB60 million. In the year ended 31
December 2010, the total purchases of diesel engine parts and
components and related products made by Weichai Resources from
Weichai Deutz amounted to RMB34,377,000.

WEICHAI POWER Co., LTD. HL#NhBRNDBERAD
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Purchase of diesel engines and related products by the
Company from Weichai Deutz

Pursuant to the diesel engines purchase agreement entered into
between the Company and Weichai Deutz on 27 November 2008 (as
supplemented by various supplemental agreements), the Company has
agreed to purchase certain diesel engines and related products from
Weichai Deutz, at market prices and settled on a quarterly basis, for a
term ending 31 December 2012, upon the expiry of which the Company
shall have the option to extend the term for another three years.

The approved annual caps for the aforesaid purchases of diesel engines
and related products from Weichai Deutz for the three years ending 31
December 2012 are RMB200 million, RMB300 million and RMB500
million, respectively. In the year ended 31 December 2010, the total
purchases of diesel engines and related products made by the Company
from Weichai Deutz amounted to RMB72,026,000.

Sale of diesel engines and related products by the Company to
Weichai Heavy

The Company and Weichai Holdings entered into a framework
agreement on 17 November 2003 (as supplemented by various
supplemental agreements). The rights and obligations of Weichai
Holdings in the agreement were assumed by Weichai Heavy Machinery
pursuant to a supplemental framework agreement entered into between
the Company, Weichai Holdings and Weichai Heavy Machinery on 23
August 2010. Pursuant to the framework agreement, the Company has
agreed to sell to Weichai Heavy Machinery WD615 Engines and related
products, at market prices and settled on a monthly basis, for a term
ending 31 December 2012, upon the expiry of which the parties may
extend the term for another three years.

The approved annual caps for the aforesaid sales of diesel engines and
related products to Weichai Heavy Machinery for the years ended/ending
31 December 2010, 2011 and 2012 are RMB400 million, RMB480
million and RMB600 million, respectively.
December 2010, the total sales of diesel engines and related products
made by the Company to Weichai Heavy Machinery amounted to
RMB303,440,000.

In the year ended 31
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Purchase of diesel engine parts and components, materials,
steel and scrap metal, etc. and related products and the
processing services by the Company and Weichai Resources
from Weichai Heavy Machinery

Pursuant to the Purchase and Processing Services Agreement entered
into between the Company and Weichai Resources and Weichai Heavy
Machinery on 27 November 2008,

(i)  the Company and Weichai Resources have agreed to purchase
from Weichai Heavy Machinery diesel engine parts and
components, steel and scrap metal, etc. and related products; and

(i) Weichai Heavy Machinery has agreed to provide processing
services to the Company with respect to diesel engine parts and
components.

The said purchases and processing services are transacted at market
prices and settled on a monthly basis for a term ending 31 December
2010, upon the expiry of which the parties may extend the term for
another three years.

The approved annual caps for the aforesaid purchases made and
processing services received from Weichai Heavy Machinery for the year
ended 31 December 2010 is RMB525 million. In the year ended 31
December 2010, the total purchases made and processing services
received by the Company and Weichai Resources from Weichai Heavy
Machinery amounted to RMB460,465,000 in total.

Supply of semi-finished diesel engine parts by the Company
(and its subsidiaries) to Weichai Heavy Machinery

The Company and Weichai Holdings entered into a semi-finished diesel
engine parts supply agreement on 17 November 2003 (as amended and
supplemented by various supplemental agreements). The rights and
obligations of Weichai Holdings in the agreement were assumed by
Weichai Heavy Machinery pursuant to a supplemental agreement
entered into between the Company, Weichai Holdings and Weichai
Heavy Machinery on 9 November 2009.
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DIRECTORS  REPORT (CONTINUED)

15.

Pursuant to the latest semi-finished diesel engine parts supply
agreement, the Company and its subsidiaries have agreed to sell the said
semi-finished diesel engine parts, diesel engine parts and components,
reserve parts and related products and to provide the relevant labour
services (as the case may be) to Weichai Heavy Machinery at market
prices and settled on a monthly basis for a term ending 31 December
2011, upon the expiry of which the parties may renew the term for
another three years on a mutually agreed basis.

The approved annual caps for the aforesaid supply of semi-finished
diesel engine parts to Weichai Heavy Machinery for the years ended/
ending 31 December 2010 and 2011 will not exceed RMB375 million
and RMB390 million, respectively. In the year ended 31 December 2010,
the total supply of semi-finished diesel engine parts, diesel engine parts
and components, reserve parts and related products and provision of
labour services by the Company (and its subsidiaries) to Weichai Heavy
Machinery amounted to RMB282,316,000.

Sale of parts and components of transmissions and related
products by SFGC to Fast Transmission

Pursuant to the parts and components sale agreement entered into
between SFGC and Fast Transmission on 1 August 2007 (as amended
and supplemented by various supplemental agreements), SFGC has
agreed to sell to Fast Transmission certain parts and components of
transmissions, namely, gearboxes, at market prices and settled every two
to three months, for a term ending 31 December 2012, upon the expiry
of which the parties shall have an option to renew the agreement for a
term of three years on a mutually agreed basis.

The approved annual caps for the aforesaid sales of parts and
components of transmissions to Fast Transmission for the years ended/
ending 31 December 2010, 2011 and 2012 are RMB1.5 billion, RMB2.3
billion and RMB3.5 billion, respectively. In the year ended 31 December
2010, the total sales of parts and components of transmissions made by
SFGC to Fast Transmission amounted to RMB1,235,452,000.
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Purchase of parts and components of transmissions and related
products by SFGC from Fast Transmission

Pursuant to the parts and components purchase agreement entered into
between SFGC and Fast Transmission on 1 August 2007 (as amended
and supplemented by various supplemental agreements), SFGC has
agreed to purchase from Fast Transmission certain parts and
components of transmissions and gears, namely, power take off
assemblies and castings, at market prices and settled every two to three
months, for a term ending 31 December 2012, upon the expiry of which
the parties shall have an option to renew the agreement for a term of
three years on a mutually agreed basis.

The approved annual caps for the aforesaid purchase of parts and
components of transmissions from Fast Transmission for the years
ended/ending 31 December 2010, 2011 and 2012 are RMB2,250
million, RMB3,350 million and RMB5,000 million, respectively. In the
year ended 31 December 2010, the total purchases of parts and
components of transmissions made by SFGC from Fast Transmission
amounted to RMB1,798,621,000.

Sale of vehicles, parts and components of vehicles and related
products and provision of heat processing services by certain
subsidiaries of the Company to Shaanxi Automotive and its
associates

Pursuant to the vehicles, parts and components and raw materials sale
and heat processing services agreement entered into between Shaanxi
Zhonggi and certain other subsidiaries of the Company as suppliers (the
“Shaanxi Suppliers”) and Shaanxi Automotive and its associates as
customers on 1 August 2007 (as supplemented by various supplemental
agreements), the Shaanxi Suppliers have agreed to sell certain vehicles
and parts and components of vehicles, namely, wire gauges emission
pipes and raw materials, ductile iron, castings, converted carriage, and
provide heat processing services to the Shaanxi Customers, at market
prices and settled by the parties every one to three months, for a term
ending 31 December 2012, upon the expiry of which the Shaanxi
Suppliers shall have an option to renew the agreement for a term of
three years.

The approved annual caps for the aforesaid sales of vehicles, parts and
components and raw materials and provision of heat processing services
to the Shaanxi Customers for the years ended/ending 31 December
2010, 2011 and 2012 are RMB1,700 million, RMB2,750 million and
RMB3,450 million, respectively. In the year ended 31 December 2010,
the total sales of vehicles, parts and components and raw materials and
provision of heat processing services by the Shaanxi Suppliers to the
Shaanxi Customers amounted to RMB1,117,793,000.
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DIRECTORS  REPORT (CONTINUED)

18. Purchase of parts and components of vehicles, scrap steel and
related products by certain subsidiaries of the Company from
certain associates of Shaanxi Automotive
Pursuant to the parts and components and scrap steel purchase
agreement entered into between Shaanxi Zhonggi and certain other
subsidiaries of the Company as buyers (the “Shaanxi Buyers”) and
certain associates of Shaanxi Automotive as sellers (the “Shaanxi
Sellers”) on 1 August 2007 (as supplemented by various supplemental
agreements), the Shaanxi Buyers have agreed to purchase certain parts
and components of vehicles, namely, wire gauges and emission pipes,
brake hoofs, transmission axles and radiators, and scrap steel from the
Shaanxi Sellers, at market prices and settled by the parties every one to
three months, for a term ending 31 December 2010, upon the expiry of
which the Shaanxi Buyers shall have an option to renew the agreement
for a term of three years.

The approved annual caps for the aforesaid purchases of parts and
components of vehicles and scrap steel from the Shaanxi Sellers for the
years ended 31 December 2010 is RMB2.7 billion. In the year ended 31
December 2010, the total purchases of parts and components of
vehicles and scrap steel made by the Shaanxi Buyers from the Shaanxi
Sellers amounted to RMB1,791,510,000.

The Company’s auditors were engaged to report on the Group’s continuing
connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000, ‘Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information’ and with reference to Practice Note 740,
‘Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules’ issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The auditors has issued an unqualified letter containing their
findings and conclusions in respect of the Continuing Connected Transactions
disclosed by the Group above in accordance with Listing Rule 14A.38. A copy
of the auditors’ letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The independent non-executive directors of the Company have reviewed the
continuing connected transactions set out above and have confirmed that
these continuing connected transactions were entered into (i) in the ordinary
and usual course of business of the Group; (ii) on normal commercial terms or
on terms no less favourable to the Group than terms available to or from
independent third parties; and (iii) in accordance with the relevant agreements
governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the shareholders of the Company as a whole.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

On 25 March 2010, an agreement was entered into among (i) the Company;
(i) ILRBETEBEARAT (Shandong Heavy Industry Group Co., Ltd.)
(“Shandong Zhonggong”); (iii) #SCE#AZ D AFR AT ( Weichai Heavy Duty
Machinery Co., Ltd.) (“Weichai Heavy-duty Machinery”, a connected person of
the Company by reason of being an associate of
ML AR =B ABR A F (Weichai Group Holdings Limited), a substantial
shareholder and connected person of the Company); (iv) BRFEEASEAFRE A
7] (Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor Co., Ltd.) (“Shaanxi Zhongqi”) and (v) L T2
e A R A7 (Shantui Engineering Machinery Co., Ltd.) (“Shantui
Engineering”), pursuant to which |1 & & # &7 PR A &)(Shanzhong Finance
Leasing Co., Ltd.) (formerly known as [L#FEHR A A (Shantui Leasing Co.,
Ltd.)) (“Target Co."”) increased its registered capital in the aggregate amount
of RMB740 million through the subscriptions of Target Co's registered capital
by (i) Shandong Zhonggong as to RMB200 million, and (ii) each of the
Company, Weichai Heavy-duty Machinery and Shaanxi Zhonggi as to RMB180
million, respectively. The purpose of the said capital subscriptions was for the
Group to participate in a business which would facilitate the Group’s business
expansion. The said capital subscriptions were completed in the year of 2010.

EMOLUMENT PoLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the
Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence.

The emoluments of the directors of the Company are decided by the
Remuneration Committee, having regarded to the Group’s operating results,
individual performance and comparable market statistics.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party
to any arrangements to enable the directors and the supervisors of the
Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.
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DIRECTORS  REPORT (CONTINUED)

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of
association or the laws of the PRC, which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

As at 30 March 2011, no significant events after the reporting period
occurred.

AuDiT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises three Independent Non-executive Directors of
the Company. The Chairman of the Audit Committee is Mr. Koo Fook Sun,
Louis, an Independent Non-executive Director. Mr. Koo is an experienced
investment banker with appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise as required under the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”) for the purpose of this appointment. Throughout
the year, the Audit Committee discharged its responsibilities, reviewed and
discussed the financial results and internal control system of the Company. In
accordance with the requirements of Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules, the
Audit Committee has reviewed the financial statements for the year.

COMPLIANCE WITH COoDE ON CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE PRACTICES IN APPENDIX 14 OF
THE LISTING RULES

Throughout the year, other than the roles of the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer being performed by Mr. Tan Xuguang (“Mr. Tan"”), the
Company has complied with all the code provisions of the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.

Mr. Tan is in charge of the overall management of the Company. The directors
consider that the combination of the roles of the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer can promote the efficient formulation and implementation of
the Company’s strategies which will enable the Group to grasp business
opportunities efficiently and promptly. The Company considers that through
the supervision of its board and its independent non-executive directors, there
is adequate balance of power and authority in place.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MobpeEL CODE

During the year, the Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by directors on terms no less exacting than the required
standard set out in the Model Code for Securities Transaction by Directors of
Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. Having made
specific enquiry of all directors, the directors have confirmed that they
complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code for the year
under review.

SUFFICIENCY OF PuBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the directors, the Company has maintained the prescribed
public float under the Listing Rules as at the date of this report.

AUDITORS

Shandong Zheng Yuan Hexin Accountants Limited (LU F)RF{E AR ST S
=HEME#FT) retire and a resolution for their reappointment as auditors of the
Company for its accounts prepared under PRC accounting principles and
financial regulations will not be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

Ernst & Young were appointed as the Company’s auditors with effect from 20
August 2008 to fill the casual vacancy arising from the resignation of Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu on 19 June 2008. There have been no other changes of
auditors for the past three financial years.

Ernst & Young retire and a resolution for their reappointment as auditors of
the Company for its accounts prepared under Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards will not be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Company proposes to appoint Ernst & Young Hua Ming Certified Public
Accountants (ZZxZEBH&5TRATEE75FT) as the Company’s only auditors for the
year of 2011 subject to the approval by the shareholders at the forthcoming
annual general meeting. For further details, please refer to the notice
convening the forthcoming annual general meeting.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements for the year have been approved by the board on
30th March, 2011.

PUBLICATION OF THE ANNUAL REPORT ON THE
WEBSITES OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG
KoNG LIMITED AND THE COMPANY

The 2010 Annual Report will be despatched to shareholders as well as made
available on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited’s website at
www.hkex.com.hk and the Company’s website at www.weichai.com.

On behalf of the Board

Tan Xuguang
Chairman and CEO
Hong Kong

30th March, 2011
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SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE'S REPORT

Dear Shareholders,

During the period, in accordance with the relevant provisions of the Company
Law of the People’s Republic of China (the “Company Law") and the Articles
of Association of the Company and in compliance with the principle of
integrity, all members of the Supervisory Committee of the Company (the
“Supervisory Committee”) performed their duties of supervision with a view to
protecting shareholders’ interests in line with their accountability to all
shareholders. They monitored the operations and financial position of the
Company as well as the performance of the senior management of the
Company during the period. On behalf of the Supervisory Committee, | hereby
present our report as follows:

OVERVIEW OF THE WORK OF THE SUPERVISORY
COMMITTEE

In 2010, as required by the relevant rules and procedures of meetings of the
Supervisory Committee and based on its actual work, the Supervisory
Committee conducted inspections on the operations and financial position of
the Company, and reviewed the financial statements regularly. In 2010, the
Supervisory Committee held three meetings. Details of the time, attendance
and contents of the said meetings are as follows:

1.

On 26th April, 2010, the tenth meeting of the second phase of the
Supervisory Committee was convened. All Supervisors were present. The
Supervisory Committee during the meeting considered and approved the
full text and summary of the 2009 annual report of the Company, the
work report of the Supervisory Committee for 2009, the consolidated
financial statements and auditors’ report for 2009, the final finance
report for 2009, the profit distribution proposal for 2009, the internal
control self-evaluation report for 2009, and the 2010 first quarterly
report of the Company.

On 23th August, 2010, the eleventh meeting of the second
phase of the Supervisory Committee was convened. All
Supervisors were present. The Supervisory Committee during the
meeting considered and approved the full text and summary of
the 2009 interim report of the Company, the bonus issue by
conversion of capital reserve in the interim of 2010 and the
relevant amendments to the Articles of Association of the
Company, the expansion of the scope of business of the
Company and the relevant amendments to the Articles of
Association of the Company, and was of the opinion that the
said interim report gives a true and fair view of the operations
and financial position of the Company during the first-half of
2009.

On 23rd October, 2010, the first provisional meeting of the Supervisory
Committee in 2010 was convened. All Supervisors were present. The
Supervisory Committee during the meeting considered and approved the
2010 third quarterly report of the Company and highly affirmed the
financial performance of the Company. The Supervisory Committee was
of the opinion that the quarterly report gives a true and fair view of the
operations and financial position of the Company during the reporting
period.
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SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE 'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

INDEPENDENT OPINION OF THE SUPERVISORY
COMMITTEE ON RELEVANT MATTERS OF THE
CompANY IN 2010

Compliance of the Company’s operations with

Legal Requirements

During the period, pursuant to the laws and regulations of the place of listing,
the Supervisory Committee duly supervised and examined the convening
procedures and resolutions of Board meetings, performance of duties by the
senior management of the Company, as well as the establishment and
consistent implementation of the Company’s internal management system.

The Supervisory Committee is of the view that the Board and the senior
management of the Company strictly operated in accordance with the
Company Law, the Articles of Association as well as other relevant regulations
and rules of the place of listing. With integrity and diligence, they performed
their duties, executed all resolutions and authorities approved at the general
meetings, and conducted all operations in compliance with laws and
regulations and the Articles of Association. When examining the financial
position of the Company and monitoring the performance of the directors and
the senior management of the Company, the Supervisory Committee was not
aware of any action which would damage the interests of the Company and
the shareholders or may result in a breach of laws or regulations or the Articles
of Association and the rules of the Company.

Examination of Financial Position of the Company

In 2010, the Supervisory Committee further enhanced its internal control,
especially the examination of the financial system. The Company has
established a comprehensive system on external investment, asset transfer and
connected transactions, etc. The Supervisory Committee is of the view that the
Company was strictly operated and managed in accordance with the relevant
laws and regulations of the PRC and the relevant provisions of the China
Securities Regulatory Commission. On the control of capital turnover and
management expenses, the Company strictly checked on each grade which
ensured the ordinary operation of the Company and avoided financial risk.

The Supervisory Committee is of the view that the financial statements of the
Company reflect the financial position and operating results of the Company
in all material aspects in an objective, true and fair manner, and the financial
statements are true and reliable. The Supervisory Committee has agreed on the
audited financial statements issued by the auditors of Shandong Zheng Yuan
Hexin Accountants Limited and Ernst & Young.
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SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE 'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

Acquisition and Disposal of Assets of the Company

During the period, the Company did not conduct any material acquisition or
disposal of assets, and no insider dealing or other actions which would
damage the interests of the shareholders or cause any asset loss occurred or
emerged.

Connected Transactions

During the period, the Supervisory Committee is of the view that the
connected transactions of the Company occurred in 2010 were conducted
under the principle of fairness and the procedures of the transactions were in
compliance with laws and regulations. The Supervisory Committee is not aware
of any action which would damage the interests of the Company and the
shareholders.

In 2011, the Supervisory Committee will continue to perform its supervisory
duties diligently for the protection of the interests of shareholders and the
Company in accordance with the Company Law and the Articles of Association
of the Company.

Sun Chengping
Chairman of the Supervisory Committee

Weifang, Shandong Province
30 March 2011
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company has always regarded the consistent maintenance of an excellent,
solid and reasonable corporate governance structure as its top priority.

CopE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

For the year ended 31st December, 2010, the Company has reviewed its
corporate governance documents and is of the view that the Company has
fully complied with the code provisions of the Code of Corporate Governance
Practice set out in the Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules other than Code A.2.1,
which requires that the roles of chairman and chief executive officer should be
two separate roles and should not be performed by the same individual.
Currently, Mr. Tan Xuguang (“Mr. Tan") serves as the Chairman of the Board
as well as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Despite such deviation,
the directors believe that vesting such roles in Mr. Tan will allow for more
effective planning and execution of business strategies of the Company. As all
major decisions are made in consultation with other members of the Board,
the Company believes that there is adequate balance of power and authority
in place.

The directors believe that the Articles of Association, the scope of
responsibilities of the Audit Committee, the scope of responsibilities of the
Supervisory Committee and the codes on securities dealings by directors and
certain executives, which constitute the basis for the regular codes on
corporate governance of the Company, have covered the principles and the
code provisions of the Code on Corporate Governance Practice as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. In respect of the following areas, our internal
corporate governance documents are more stringent than the Code on
Corporate Governance Practices:

1. In addition to the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee, the Company has also established the Strategic
Development and Investment Committee (the “SDIC").

2. All members of the Audit Committee are Independent Non-executive
Directors, of whom Mr. Koo Fook Sun, Louis, the Chairman of the
Committee, holds the relevant professional qualification or professional
knowledge related to accounting or financial management.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The key responsibilities of the Board include, among other things, formulating
the Company’s overall strategies, setting management targets, regulating
internal controls and financial management, and supervising the
management’'s performance, while the day-to-day operations and
management are delegated by the Board to the executives of the Company.

The Board currently comprises 18 directors, whose details are set out on pages
25 to 32 of this annual report. The Board includes four executive directors,
eleven non-executive directors and three independent non-executive directors,
namely, Mr. Tan Xuguang (Chairman and CEO), Mr. Xu Xinyu, Mr. Sun
Shaojun, Mr. Zhang Quan (Executive Directors), Ms. Zhang Fusheng, Mr. Liu
Huisheng, Mr. Yao Yu, Mr. Yeung Sai Hong, Mr. Chen Xuejian, Mr. Li San
Yim, Mr. Julius G. Kiss, Ms. Han Xiaogqun, Mr. Gu Linsheng, Mr. Li Shihao, Mr.
Liu Zheng (Non-executive Directors), Mr. Zhang Xiaoyu, Mr. Koo Fook Sun,
Louis and Mr. Fang Zhongchang (Independent Non-executive Directors).

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
directors an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules and considers each of the independent non-executive
directors to be independent.

The Board has notified each of the directors and supervisors in advance that
they should not trade in the securities of the Company within the period as
stipulated under the Listing Rules. All directors and supervisors confirmed that
they were in compliance with the Listing Rules in this respect.

Other than their working relationships with the Company, none of the
directors, supervisors or the senior management has any financial, business or
family relationship or any relationship in other material aspects with each
other.

Other than the service contracts entered into by them or as otherwise disclosed
in this annual report, none of the directors or the supervisors has any personal
and substantive interest, direct or indirect, in the material contracts entered
into by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during 2010.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

In 2010, the Company held 5 Board meetings. The principal activities of the
Board in 2010 were as follow:

o Review of the annual and interim result of the Company;

. Review of the annual profit distribution and, interim dividend and the
20009 final dividend distribution proposal.

o Review of the distribution to every shareholder at the rate of 10 shares
for every 10 shares by conversion of the capital reserve based on the
total share capital of the Company as at 30 June 2010.

The total remuneration of the directors in 2010, including the basic salary,
performance-linked salary, incentive-linked salary and discretionary bonus,
amounted to approximately RMB7.6 million. independent non-executive
directors were only entitled to receive director’'s fees but not other salary or
remuneration. For details of the remuneration of directors, please refer to note
8 to the financial statements of the Company.

AuDIT COMMITTEE
An Audit Committee has been established by the Board.

The Audit Committee comprises all the independent non-executive directors,
including Mr. Zhang Xiaoyu, Mr. Koo Fook Sun, Louis, and Mr. Fang
Zhongchang, Mr. Koo Fook Sun, Louis, who has the appropriate professional
qualifications and experience in financial matters, acting as the chairman of the
Audit Committee. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are aligned
with the recommendations set out in “A Guide for Effective Audit
Committees” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public

Accountants.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the period, presided over by
Mr. Koo Fook Sun, Louis. Details of the attendance are set out on page 77 of
this annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

The major work accomplished by the Audit Committee during the year are as
follows:

o Review of the annual, interim financial statements of the Group, as well
as the management recommendations furnished by the external auditors
and responses from the Company’s management;

o Review of the accounting policies and practices adopted by the Group
and related matters;

o Assisting the Board to monitor the Group's internal audit.

Throughout the period, the Audit Committee discharged its responsibilities,
reviewed and discussed the financial results and internal control system of the
Group.

In accordance with the requirements of Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules, the
Audit Committee has reviewed the consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31st December, 2010.

The non-PRC auditors of the Company have audited the consolidated financial
statements and have issued an unqualified auditors’ report.

STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT AND INVESTMENT
COMMITTEE

The Strategic Development and Investment Committee (“SDIC”) has been
established by the Board.

The SDIC is principally responsible for examining and reviewing the Company’s
strategic plans, monitoring the implementation of strategic planning, and
facilitating timely adjustments to the Company’s strategies and governance
structure.

The SDIC currently comprises Mr. Tan Xuguang (Chairman of the Board and of
the SDIC), Mr. Sun Shao Jun, Mr. Zhang Quan, Mr. Chen Xuejian, Mr. Li San
Yim, Mr. Julius G. Kiss and Mr. Zhang Xiaoyu.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

A Remuneration Committee has been established by the Board.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for the recommendation to the
Board of the remuneration packages and terms of employment for directors,
supervisors and senior management of the Company. The Committee also
determines the relevant remuneration policy for directors, supervisors and
senior management of the Company and their participation in incentive
schemes operated by the Company.

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises all the independent non-
executive directors and two non-executive directors, being Mr. Koo Fook Sun,
Louis (chairman of the Remuneration Committee), Ms. Zhang Fusheng, Mr.
Yao Yu, Mr. Zhang Xiaoyu and Mr. Fang Zhongchang.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

A Nomination Committee has been established by the Board

The Nomination Committee comprises all the Independent Non-executive
Directors and two Executive Directors, including Mr. Fang Zhongchang
(chairman of the Nomination Committee), Mr. Xu Xinyu, Mr. Zhang Quan, Mr.
Zhang Xiaoyu and Mr. Koo Fook Sun, Louis. The meetings of the Nomination
Committee were arranged and held on an as-needed basis. The Nomination
Committee will identify qualified candidates to fill the Board’s membership
whenever such vacancy arises, it will also nominate such candidates for the
Board to consider, regularly review the composition of the Board and make
suggestions as to any change in the membership of the Board that may be
required.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE

The Supervisory Committee consists of three members, with one Supervisor
being elected from the staff as a representative of employees and the other
two elected by the shareholders of the Company. The Supervisory Committee
is responsible for supervision of the Board and its members and the senior
management of the Company, so as to prevent them from abusing their
authorities and infringing the interests of the Company, its shareholders and
staff. The size and composition of the Supervisory Committee are in
compliance with the requirements of the relevant laws and regulations of the
PRC. The Supervisory Committee held three meetings during the year to carry
out its supervision on behalf of the shareholders in respect of the Company’s
financial matters and the lawfulness and compliance in respect of the
discharge of duties by the directors and senior management of the Company.
The members of the Supervisory Committee attended all Board meetings and
shareholders’ meetings of the Company and diligently performed their
supervisory duties.

Attendances at meetings of the Board, Supervisory Committee and special
committees (attendance in person/ number of meetings) during the year are as
follows:

%A Name
HITES Executive Directors
= B ) Tan Xuguang
®wEE Xu Xinyu
HrALOE Sun Shaojun
5 7? Zhang Quan
FHTES Non-executive Directors
b NG Zhang Fusheng
22 B Liu Huisheng
% F Yao Yu
15t # Yeung Sai Hong
PR 2 5 Chen Xuejian
NS Li San Yim
Julius G. Kiss Julius G. Kiss

(L FHG. 5 H)
B NEE Han Xiaoqun
AR A Gu Linsheng
=i Li Shihao
2 fE Liu Zheng
BYEHITES Independent Non-executive Directors
RONE Zhang Xiaoyu
B F Koo Fook Sun, Louis
N = Fang Zhongchang
E= Supervisors
HoE Sun Chengping
TR Ding Yingdong
BEE Jiang Jianfang

The directors and supervisors who were unable to attend any meeting in
person, had appointed another director or supervisor (as the case may be) as
his representative to attend and vote at the meeting on his behalf, and was
treated as having attended the meeting in person.

ﬁ%% iﬁd:(mg)

BEE

EEgm-_2KEBMAN Hfh—REEMARE
TELERRERENRR S MABRHARR A
BREH EFESREEBEESIREKE
ARARBSBRERE B EERBE:
BEARA ERREREINEZ - EFS
MABRBENAEBEPTBEIAREERMOAR
T EEE@NFARAGRIT=ZRESZ UKX
BRREARNABDUBEEREETMARA R
EEERTREESAENENARENTE
B-EFEeNKBEIFEMAEESFSERN
%ﬁﬁ$@ﬁ%%ﬁ§’ﬁ%%@ﬁﬁ%%
BE-

Audit
Committee

ERZEE®

Supervisory

Committee
EER

5/5

5/5
5/5

5/5
5/5
3/5
5/5
5/5
5/5

5/5
5/5
5/5
5/5
5/5

5/5 2/2
5/5 2/2
5/5 2/2

EXEBE G FEANER BB
E%W%%(%ﬁ?'\%/ﬂﬂﬁm)ﬁﬁ
HEEERR RREFRES
=

ANNUAL REPORT 2010 43R 77



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

SHAREHOLDERS® MEETING AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

The shareholders’ meeting is the highest authority of the Company, providing
an opportunity for direct communications and building a sound relationship
between the Board and the shareholders of the Company. Therefore, the
Company places great importance to such meetings. In 2010, the Company
convened four general meetings. Matters reviewed and approved at the said
meetings include the following:

o the Report of the Directors, Report of Supervisory Committee for 2009;

o the profit distribution and final dividend distribution proposals for 2009;

o re-appointment and change of appointment of the external auditors and
determination of its remuneration;

o remuneration proposals for directors and supervisors;
. issue of shares by conversion of the capital reserve; and
o amendment to the Articles of Association of the Company.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND MANAGEMENT

The Board recognises its responsibility for maintaining an adequate system of
internal control to safeguard the Group’s assets and shareholders’ interests.

Internal control, including a defined management structure with limits of
authority, is designed to help achieve business objectives, safeguard assets
against unauthorised use, maintain proper accounting records for the provision
of reliable financial information for internal use or for publication. The purpose
of such system is to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against
material mis-statement or loss, and to manage, rather than eliminate, risks of
failure in operational systems and achievement of the Group’s objectives.

The management maintains and monitors the system of controls on an
ongoing basis.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

During the year, based on the evaluations made by the management, the
Audit Committee was satisfied that nothing had come to its attention to cause
the Audit Committee to believe that the system of internal control was
inadequate, and there is an ongoing process to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks faced by the Group.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MoDeEL CODE

During the year, the Company adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by directors on terms no less than the required standard set out in
the Model Code for Securities Transaction by Directors of Listed Issuers as set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”). Having made
specific enquiry of all directors, the directors have confirmed that they
complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code for the year.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors aim to present the financial statements of the Group in
accordance with the statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards. The directors ensure that financial statements of the Group in a
timely manner that the final and interim results of the Group are announced
within the periods of three months and two months, respectively, after the
end of the relevant periods prescribed under the Listing Rules.

The financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31st December,
2010 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee and audited by the external
auditors, Ernst & Young Limited. The directors acknowledge their
responsibilities for preparing the financial statements of the Group and
presenting a balanced, clear and comprehensive assessment of the Group’s
performance and prospects. They are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the ability
of the Company to continue as a going concern. The Statement of the
Auditors about their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set
out in the Independent Auditor’s Report.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The Company has engaged Ernst & Young as auditors of the Company. For
the year ended 31st December, 2010, an amount of RMB10 million was paid/
payable to Ernst & Young for their audit service.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS  REPORT

Ell ERNST & YOUNG
= ik

To the shareholders of Weichai Power Co., Ltd.
(Incorporated in the People " s Republic of China as a joint stock company with
limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Weichai Power Co.,
Ltd. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out on
pages 82 to 214, which comprise the consolidated and company statements of
financial position as at 31 December 2010, and the consolidated income
statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with section 141 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS  REPORT (CONTINUED)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the
amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made
by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31 December
2010, and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been
properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

30 March 2011
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

Year ended 31st December, 2010

fn 8 W

BHE-_Z—-%

=X
Bt—A=t nLFf

=

2010 2009
—E-=2F —ZEENF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR TR AREFIT
REVENUE A 5 62,665,521 35,260,899
Cost of sales 3 & B AR (49,194,751) (27,628,689)
Gross profit £ i E 13,470,770 7,632,210
Other income and gains N NSRS 5 379,858 345,691
Selling and distribution costs HEMDIHEER (1,382,810) (1,021,391)
Administrative expenses 1TE A X (1,670,026) (1,264,787)
Research and development costs HELRRZEEHR (887,580) (450,217)
Loss on disposal of disposal group HERELE 2 HEHATR
held for sale & 18 - (5,677)
Other expenses H b 2 (326,796) (305,648)
Finance costs B 75 & A 7 (197,978) (247,507)
Share of profits and losses of: (T3 AR FEREBE:
A jointly-controlled entity —RHEF =5 E S = 2,343
Associates & A A 9,605 (5,773)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX RR i A1 A 6 9,395,043 4,679,244
Income tax expense FT1S % 7 X 10 (1,397,553) (732,380)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR F R FHE 7,997,490 3,946,864
Attributable to: AT AL RS :
Owners of the parent UNEIET RN 6,780,935 3,406,935
Non-controlling interests RS 1,216,555 539,929
7,997,490 3,946,864
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE BAREEREZEEAEN
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF FRERN
THE PARENT
Basic BN
— For profit for the year — F R FE 13 RMB4.07 RMB2.04

Details of the dividends payable and proposed for the year are
disclosed in note 12 to the financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

HEZTEHWMAR

Year ended 31st December, 2010 BT ZFFf+_HA=-—1T—HIFE
2010 2009
—E-=E2F —ZEENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARET T
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FRFHE 7,997,490 3,946,864
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Hi2mEmUl A
Available-for-sale assets: AHEERE:
Changes in fair value NEEEH 402,748 289,255
Income tax effect st & (15,344) (43,834)
387,404 245,421
Exchange differences on translation BMENBREBEEZ
of foreign operations EHER (6,830) 6,056
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FRHEMZERA
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (M BRBE1E) 380,574 251,477
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FREZEBAAZE
FOR THE YEAR 8,378,064 4,198,341
Attributable to: AT ARG :
Owners of the parent UNGIEZ =N 7,161,509 3,658,412
Non-controlling interests FEE AR HE = 1,216,555 539,929
8,378,064 4,198,341
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

31st December, 2010

#n © B B4R 0 ¥R =

—F-FE+SH=f A

2010 2009
e —TENF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
M AR TR ARKEF T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M KR REE 14 9,278,677 8,039,811
Investment properties 1% & W) % 15 149,812 83,668
Prepaid land lease payments A LA ERIE 16 729,291 577,569
Goodwill RS 17 538,016 538,016
Other intangible assets EMEREE 18 288,530 302,371
Investment in a jointly-controlled entity RERZHERE ZKE = 23,275
Investments in associates REE RN ZKE 21 920,692 172,559
Available-for-sale investments it ERE 22 636,038 477,430
Held-to-maturity investment HEIEKRE 23 19,584 -
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, WHEY % R NRE
plant and equipment BEfiEE 24 1,972,398 914,618
Deferred tax assets EEFIEE E 25 819,210 434,763
Total non-current assets nBEEMLE 15,352,248 11,564,080
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Inventories T8 26 8,793,347 5,806,642
Trade and bills receivables BWESERZRNZEE 27 15,866,733 11,352,945
Prepayments, deposits and ERRE- -EE K
other receivables H b & Y BR 3K 28 1,284,382 1,059,084
Prepaid land lease payments FEA L & A 16 15,699 14,455
Derivatives financial instruments PTESRIT A 3,672 -
Pledged deposits [REEEYES 29 2,410,944 2,979,932
Cash and cash equivalents HeRBREEEBEY 29 8,747,622 3,598,339
Total current assets mEBEEHRE 37,122,399 24,811,397
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Trade and bills payables EREZERAKRERE 30 17,247,314 11,830,642
Other payables and accruals Hih e R R ERTE 31 6,024,668 3,574,003
Dividend payable to non-controlling FE 1< FE #258 AR AR R AR 2
shareholders 72,964 42,622
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings &t 8 58 17 & H b f& X 33 577,166 1,515,664
Tax payable & 1+ %t 18 1,835,075 956,315
Warranty provision RAE B 5 34 1,017,418 497,231
Total current liabilities nBAGEERE 26,774,605 18,416,477
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFE 10,347,794 6,394,920
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES EEZ A BB AEB & & 25,700,042 17,959,000
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PoSITION (CONTINUED) = A8

N

1S AR R R & (7&)

31st December, 2010 —FE—FTFF_HA=1—H
2010 2009
e —ETNF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
F 3 ARMF ARKET T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Debentures & & 32 1,285,240 1,281,669
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings &t & 8 17 & & b (& & 33 954,727 942,200
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIEEE 25 89,946 73,816
Total non-current liabilities FEREBBEMETE 2,329,913 2,297,685
Net assets BEFE 23,370,129 15,661,315
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to owners of the parent RAEE AEMLER
Issued capital B#TRA 35 1,666,092 833,046
Reserves G 36 16,132,409 10,521,710
Proposed final dividend Ik 7R B i% B 12 716,419 399,862
18,514,920 11,754,618
Non-controlling interests FE 15 A% i = 4,855,209 3,906,697
Total equity W B RR 23,370,129 15,661,315
Tan Xuguang Xu Xinyu
BB ®REE
Director Director
EF EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Year ended 31st December, 2010

At 1 January 2009 RZEENE
—-A-H 833,046 2,094,964 564,431 (79,394) (12125) 4,488,536 108296  7997,754 3328724 11326478
Total comprehensive income 2AKALEE - = = 245,421 6,05 3,406,935 - 3658412 539,929 4,198,341
Final 2008 dividend declared BER-ZENERHRE - - - - - - (10829)  (108,29) - (108,29)
Proposed final 2009 dividend ~ BE-EENE
KBRS 12 - - - - - (399862 399,862 - - -
Dividend paid to AFEERER
non-controlling shareholders R ZBE - = = = = = = = (50,199) (50,199)
Transfer from retained profits ~ B&H B RZFE - - 282958 - - (282959) = = = =
Contribution from FERBRALE
non-controlling shareholders = 195,108 - - - - - 195,108 134,673 329,781
Acquisition of W R R
non-controlling interests = (1,732) - - - - - (1,732) (59,278) (61,010)
Others -4 1) - 13372 = = = = = 13372 12,848 26,220
At 31 December 2009 RZZENE
+=ZA=t-8 833,046  2,301,712¢ 847,389  166,027* (6,009 7,212,651* 399862 11,754,618 3,906,697 15,661,315
At 1 January 2010 R=E-Z5-F—H
Total comprehensive income XNt - - - 387,404 (6,830) 6,780,935 - 7,161,509 1,216,555 8,378,064
Final 2009 dividend declared BER-ZSAERERE 1 - - - - - - (399862  (399,862) - (399,862)
Proposed final 2010 dividend ~ RE-ZT—FTFXRHKRE 12 - - - - - (716419 716419 - - -
Dividend paid to AFEERBRERS 2R E
non-controlling shareholders - - - - - - - - (324,296)  (324,29)
Transfer from retained profits ~ B&H B RZFE - - 576693 - - (576,693) - - - -
Transfer from capital reserve EROERER 35 833046  (833,046) = = = = = = = =
Contribution from FRRBRLE
non-controlling shareholders - - - - - - - - 54,592 54,592
Acquisition of WRFERER
non-controlling interests = (1,345) - - - - - (1,345) 1,427 82
Others Hit - = = = = = = = 234 234
At 31 December 2010 WZ-Z-%&
+-A=+-8 1,666,092  1,467,321* 1,424,082* 553,431* (12,899)* 12,700,474* 716419 18514920 4,855,209 23,370,129
kd These reserve amounts comprise the consolidated reserves of RMB16,132,409,000 * RERBECHEEERESHBERIIREFZE I Z

(2009: RMB10,521,710,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended 31st December, 2010

HOIREBEIMER

HE_ZE—FTFEL_A=1T—HIFE

2010 2009
—E-Z5F —ZETNF
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
=S AR®B TR AR T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING REEBEEZHRERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax & B A A R 9,395,043 4,679,244
Adjustments for: o
Finance costs U= 7 197,978 247,507
Share of profits and losses of FEME —RARZEHEER
a jointly-controlled entity and /N Do D N4
associates &5 18 (9,605) 3,430
Interest income FE M A 5 (123,117) (116,809)
Dividend income from AHHEREZRKRE
available-for-sale investments WA 5 (3,600) (1,600)
Gain on disposal of items of property, plant & 1) % - # 22 &% % &%
and equipment HEB z K= 6 (19,936) 6,940
Loss on disposal of investment property HEXREMEZER 6 - 1,028
Depreciation of property, M EBREEZ
plant and equipment e 6 1,317,471 874,033
Depreciation of investment properties KEMERE 6 11,261 3,605
Recognition of prepaid land lease payments & {5 + b 18 & 5% 18 & 2 6 14,605 11,441
Amortisation of other intangible assets Hofth & = 2 6 16,623 15,325
Gain on disposal of HEAHEEREZ
available-for-sale investments U %5 5 (58,154) (1,936)
Fair value gain on derivative financial MEeMmIAEZRATE
instruments & 5 (3.672) =
Gain on debt restructuring BERHERZ W= 5 (19,025) (45,921)
Loss on debit restructuring BERELEZERE 348 -
Impairment/loss on disposal of disposal FELE 2 HEER
group held for sale mE & EE - 5,677
Excess over the cost of a business RB I ETE A G AR B D
combination = (87,334)
Impairment of At ERERE
available-for-sale investments 6 207 207
Impairment of trade and other receivables  Ji& U 2 5 Bf 7% K H b JiE Ik
R OB B 6 286,456 227,604
Write-down of inventories to net realisable  #F 7 & & 7] £ IR )% &
values 6 220,959 231,115
11,223,842 6,053,556
Increase in inventories 1z &% (3,207,664) (65,543)
Increase in trade and bills receivables B E 5 IR R & EEE (4,800,244) (4,506,571)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, AR RIE - ke R H i ER
deposits and other receivables BR FOR 4 (38 ) (329,127) 318,012
Increase in trade and bills payables ENE SRR R ZEEM 5,252,642 919,363
Increase in other payables and accruals HEMENERRETER
14 1 2,249,745 619,436
Increase in warranty provision 1R A& B 5 32 AN 34 520,187 33,189
Cash generated from operations s ELE 7 IH S 10,909,381 3,371,442
Income tax paid B EH (902,479) (409,724)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

Year ended 31st December, 2010

e IR emE R (E)

2z FEFHA=T —HILFE

2010 2009
—E-2F —EENEF
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
oS AR%T R AR T
Net cash inflow from operating activities LB EL 7SR
F HR 10,006,902 2,961,718
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RETHEEZRERE
ACTIVITIES
Interest received 2 W F B 6 123,117 116,809
Investment in associates REtE QAR 2 E 21 (415,721) -
Purchases of held-to-maturity investments B4 B35 = 2| Hi & & 23 (19,584) -
Decrease/(increase) in pledged deposits 2 FE TR GE ) 29 568,988 (468,123)
Additions to prepaid land lease payments BT 4t E = IE i“ il (144,250) (179,793)
Purchases of items of property, plant and BEME HEMKREEE
equipment (3,288,183) (1,576,198)
Purchases of investment properties EEREME 15 (22,480) (7,638)
Purchases of available-for-sale investments & & A fit 1} & &% & (28,425) -
Purchases of other intangible assets HBEHMEFLEE 18 (3,004) (29,409)
Cash inflow from business combination E¥BAHELEZRERA - 2,621
Cash outflow from disposal of a subsidiary HEWE AR EL 2R G
it = (7,816)
Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale ﬁ ENHEEREMRS
investments EAQE 78,154 1,936
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, H & E M R REIEB
plant and equipment Ffr 15 3k 38 58,551 28,239
Proceeds from disposal of disposal group HE 5 B Y A R
held for sale Fr ?% IA - 10,108
Proceeds from disposal of intangible assets i & & F & 2 18 308 699 =
Dividends received B2 I A% E\ 4,853 1,600
Acquisition of non-controlling interests Uit B JE 5 IR A 25 - (12,520)
Net cash outflow from investing RETHEEZRERE
activities o (3,087,285) (2,120,184)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METHELEZRERE
ACTIVITIES
New interest-bearing bank and other TG BAR 1T RH M B K
borrowings 1,733,946 3,300,720
Repayment of interest-bearing bank and EEF B IRIT R EME K
other borrowings (2,642,417) (3,063,026)
Transaction costs for the issuance of BITEEFRHK A
debentures - (19,500)
Proceeds from issuance of debentures BTESFBHRIE = 1,300,000
Repayment of debentures EEES = (1,700,000)
Interest paid =RNEIRE (194,262) (288,052)
Dividends paid BRI E (399,862) (108,296)
Dividends paid to non-controlling F) 3F #58 AR AR RO 7 2 iR B
shareholders (293,954) (87,352)
Capital contributions from non-controlling ~ JE# A% A% B8 &
shareholders 24,318 70,203
Net cash outflow from financing BEEHELEZHES TN
activities e (1,772,231) (595,303)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

eI e 8 R (E)

Year ended 31st December, 2010 BT ZFFf+_HA=-—1T—HIFE
2010 2009
—E-ZF —ZETNF
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
=S AR®B TR ARET T
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH ReERRESESEYEM
EQUIVALENTS HEE 5,147,386 246,231
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning REAZREMREEEY
of year 3,598,339 3,352,138
Effect of foreign exchange rate G 2 FE
changes, net 1,897 (30)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RERZREERRESE
AT END OF YEAR BY 29 8,747,622 3,598,339
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH ReRBECEEYHER
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS i
Cash and bank balances e MIRTTH &% 29 4,714,327 2,223,880
Non-pledged time deposits with RKERREIBHB DR
original maturity of less than =l Az &EEKTE TR
three months when acquired 4,033,295 1,374,459
8,747,622 3,598,339
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

31st December, 2010

&7 5 1A LR

—F-FE+SH=f A

2010 2009
—E-ZF —TENF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
M AR TR ARKEF T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y3 - R R 14 2,458,919 2,277,435
Prepaid land lease payments AN L ERE 16 378,407 289,151
Other intangible assets EMmEREE 18 109,370 109,478
Investments in subsidiaries NB AR Z&E 20 5,044,514 4,432,812
Investment in a jointly-controlled entity RERZHERZKE = 20,409
Investments in associates REEERA 2 E 21 262,031 49,461
Available-for-sale investments A HEEIRE 22 485,600 381,000
Held-to-maturity investments BEIHIEE 23 19,584 =
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, WiEmZE  HERRER
plant and equipment i€ 24 1,735,333 319,669
Deferred tax assets EEFTIEE E 25 402,468 187,357
Total non-current assets ERBDEERE 10,896,226 8,066,772
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories Ve 26 1,796,744 1,679,295
Trade and bills receivables EBREZERREE 27 10,300,840 7,219,623
Prepayments, deposits and TERIE - e & E e K
other receivables BE & 28 262,237 844,013
Prepaid land lease payments T8 T 76 & 5 IB 16 6,402 6,402
Pledged deposits [REEEYES 29 482,934 655,138
Cash and cash equivalents BehBEEEEY 29 4,415,491 1,442,978
Total current assets MEBEEHE 17,264,648 11,847,449
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Trade and bills payables EREZERAKREE 30 5,972,862 4,957,975
Other payables and accruals HiERNERREGTEA 31 3,081,578 1,727,161
Interest-bearing bank and AT B R 1T & E {8 3K
other borrowings 33 - 548,282
Tax payable FE {5 B 18 1,524,648 775,997
Warranty provision R& B 34 760,000 357,000
Total current liabilities mE B ERRE 11,339,088 8,366,415
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 5,925,560 3,481,034
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES E ZAER R B & & 16,821,786 11,547,806
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2010

81 #5 AR

—FE—=F

= =

IL

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREBEE
Debentures &% 32 1,285,240 1,281,669
Interest-bearing bank and FFESRITREMMER
other borrowings 33 - 200,000
Deferred tax liabilities FEERTEE F 25 57,740 39,728
Total non-current liabilities MBI B ERE 1,342,980 1,521,397
Net assets BEFE 15,478,806 10,026,409
EQUITY ER
Issued capital BEITRA 35 1,666,092 833,046
Reserves ER= 36 13,096,295 8,793,501
Proposed final dividends R & 2 AR B 12 716,419 399,862
Total equity g 15,478,806 10,026,409
Tan Xuguang Xu Xinyu
EIEK ®EFE
Director Director
BE EF
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31st December, 2010

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Weichai Power Co., Ltd. (the “Company”) is a joint stock limited liability
company established in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") on
23 December 2002. The Company's
listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the ""Hong Kong

H'" shares and A" shares are
Stock Exchange”) and the Shenzhen Stock Exchange from 11 March
2004 and 30 April 2007 onwards, respectively. The registered office of
the Company is located at 197, Section A, Fu Shou East Street, High
Technology Industry Development Zone, Weifang, Shandong Province,

the PRC.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) were
involved in the following principal activities:

. manufacture and sale of diesel engines and related parts;

° manufacture and sale of automobiles and major automobile
components other than diesel engines;

o manufacture and sale of non-major automobile components; and

o import and export services

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

92

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") (which include all Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs"”) and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, except for certain investments which have been
measured at fair value. Disposal groups held for sale are stated at the
lower of their carrying amounts and fair values less costs to sell as
further explained in note 2.4. These financial statements are presented
in Renminbi (“RMB") and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
except when otherwise indicated.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2010

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation
Basis of consolidation from 1 January 2010

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of
the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
for the year ended 31 December 2010. The financial statements of the
subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the Company,
using consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are
consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the
Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date
that such control ceases. All intra-group balances, transactions,
unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra-group transactions and
dividends are eliminated on consolidation in full.

Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting
policies that may exist.

Losses within a subsidiary are attributed to the non-controlling interest
even if that results in a deficit balance.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of
control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the assets
(including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii) the carrying
amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative
translation differences recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair
value of the consideration received, (i) the fair value of any investment
retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The
Group’s share of components previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits,
as appropriate.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2010

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

94

Basis of consolidation (continued)
Basis of consolidation prior to 1 January 2010

Certain of the above-mentioned requirements have been applied on a
prospective basis. The following differences, however, are carried
forward in certain instances from the previous basis of consolidation:

o Losses incurred by the Group were attributed to the non-
controlling interest until the balance was reduced to nil. Any
further excess losses were attributable to the parent, unless the
non-controlling interest had a binding obligation to cover these.
Losses prior to 1 January 2010 were not reallocated between non-
controlling interest and the parent shareholders.

° Upon loss of control, the Group accounted for the investment
retained at its proportionate share of net asset value at the date
control was lost. The carrying amount of such investment at 1
January 2010 has not been restated.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2010

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING PoLICY AND

DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs for the
first time for the current year’s financial statements.

HKFRS 1 (Revised)

HKFRS 1 Amendments

HKFRS 2 Amendments

HKFRS 3 (Revised)

HKAS 27 (Revised)

HKAS 39 Amendment

HK(IFRIC)-Int 17

HKFRS 5 Amendments
included in
Improvements to HKFRSs
issued in October 2008

Improvements to HKFRSs
2009

HK Interpretation 4
Amendment

HK Interpretation 5

First-time Adoption of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards

Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time
Adoption of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards — Additional
Exemptions for First-time Adopters

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment — Group Cash-settled Share-
based Payment Transactions

Business Combinations

Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements

Amendment to HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement — Eligible Hedged Items

Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners

Amendments to HKFRS 5 Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations — Plan to sell the controlling
interest in a subsidiary

Amendments to a number of HKFRSs
issued in May 2009

Amendment to HK Interpretation 4 Leases
— Determination of the Length of Lease
Term in respect of Hong Kong Land
Leases

Presentation of Financial Statements
— Classification by the Borrower of Term
Loan that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2010

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING PoLICY AND
DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

Other than as further explained below regarding the impact of HKFRS 3
(Revised), HKAS 27 (Revised), amendments to HKAS 7 and HKAS 17
included in Improvements to HKFRSs 2009, the adoption of the new and
revised HKFRSs has had no significant financial effect on these financial
statements.

96

The principal effects of adopting these new and revised HKFRSs are as
follows:

(a)

WEICHAI PowWwER Co., LTD.

HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business Combinations and HKAS
27 (Revised) Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements

HKFRS 3 (Revised) introduces a number of changes in the
accounting for business combinations that affect the initial
measurement of non-controlling interests, the accounting for
transaction costs, the initial recognition and subsequent
measurement of a contingent consideration and business
combinations achieved in stages. These changes will impact the
amount of goodwill recognised, the reported results in the period
that an acquisition occurs, and future reported results.

HKAS 27 (Revised) requires that a change in the ownership
interest of a subsidiary without loss of control is accounted for as
an equity transaction. Therefore, such a change will have no
impact on goodwill, nor will it give rise to a gain or loss.
Furthermore, the revised standard changes the accounting for
losses incurred by the subsidiary as well as the loss of control of a
subsidiary. Consequential amendments were made to various
standards, including, but not limited to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash
Flows, HKAS 12 Income Taxes, HKAS 21 The Effects of Changes in
Foreign Exchange Rates, HKAS 28 Investments in Associates and
HKAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures.

The changes introduced by these revised standards are applied
prospectively and affect the accounting of acquisitions, loss of
control and transactions with non-controlling interests after 1
January 2010.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2010

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING PoLICY AND
DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(b)

Improvements to HKFRSs 2009 issued in May 2009 sets out
amendments to a number of HKFRSs. There are separate
transitional provisions for each standard. While the adoption of
some of the amendments results in changes in accounting policies,
none of these amendments has had a significant financial impact
on the Group. Details of the key amendments most applicable to
the Group are as follows:

HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: Requires that only
expenditures that result in a recognised asset in the
statement of financial position can be classified as a cash
flow from investing activities.

HKAS 17 Leases: Removes the specific guidance on
classifying land as a lease. As a result, leases of land should
be classified as either operating or finance leases in
accordance with the general guidance in HKAS 17.

Amendment to HK Interpretation 4 Leases — Determination
of the Length of Lease Term in respect of Hong Kong Land
Leases is revised as a consequence of the amendment to
HKAS 17 Leases included in Improvements to HKFRSs 2009.
Following this amendment, the scope of HK Interpretation 4
has been expanded to cover all land leases, including those
classified as finance leases. As a result, this interpretation is
applicable to all leases of property accounted for in
accordance with HKAS 16, HKAS 17 and HKAS 40.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2010

2.3 1ssueb But Not YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs, that
have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial statements.

HKFRS 1 Amendment

HKFRS 7 Amendments

HKFRS 9

HKAS 12 Amendments

HKAS 24 (Revised)

HKAS 32 Amendment

HK(IFRIC)-Int 14
Amendments

HK(IFRIC)-Int 19

Amendment to HKFRS 1 First-time
Adoption of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards — Limited
Exemption from Comparative HKFRS 7
Disclosures for First-time Adopters 2

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosures — Transfers of
Financial Assets 4

Financial Instruments &

Amendments to HKAS 12 Income Taxes
— Deferred Tax: Recovery of
Underlying Assets 5

Related Party Disclosures 3

Amendment to HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation — Classification
of Rights Issues !

Amendments to HK(IFRIC)-Int 14
Prepayments of a Minimum Funding
Requirement 3

Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with
Equity Instruments 2

Apart from the above, the HKICPA has issued Improvements to HKFRSs
2010 which sets out amendments to a number of HKFRSs primarily with
a view to removing inconsistencies and clarifying wording. The
amendments to HKFRS 3 and HKAS 27 are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 July 2010, whereas the amendments to HKFRS
1, HKFRS 7, HKAS 1, HKAS 34 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 13 are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011 although there are
separate transitional provisions for each standard.

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 February 2010
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 87 ¥% R K Bit 5% (£8)

31st December, 2010 —FE—FTFF_HA=1—H

2.3 1sSUED BuT NoT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG 2.3 EEhiBiaREWNS B R

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

Further information about those changes that are expected to
significantly affect the Group is as follows:

HKFRS 9 issued in November 2009 is the first part of phase 1 of a
comprehensive project to entirely replace HKAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement. This phase focuses on the classification
and measurement of financial assets. Instead of classifying financial
assets into four categories, an entity shall classify financial assets as
subsequently measured at either amortised cost or fair value, on the
basis of both the entity’s business model for managing the financial
assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial
assets. This aims to improve and simplify the approach for the
classification and measurement of financial assets compared with the
requirements of HKAS 39.

In November 2010, the HKICPA issued additions to HKFRS 9 to address
financial liabilities (the “Additions”) and incorporated in HKFRS 9 the
current derecognition principles of financial instruments of HKAS 39.
Most of the Additions were carried forward unchanged from HKAS 39,
while changes were made to the measurement of financial liabilities
designated at fair value through profit or loss using the fair value option
(“FVO"). For these FVO liabilities, the amount of change in the fair value
of a liability that is attributable to changes in credit risk must be
presented in other comprehensive income (“OCI”). The remainder of the
change in fair value is presented in profit or loss, unless presentation of
the fair value change in respect of the liability’s credit risk in OCI would
create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. However,
loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts which have been
designated under the FVO are scoped out of the Additions.

HKAS 39 is aimed to be replaced by HKFRS 9 in its entirety. Before this
entire replacement, the guidance in HKAS 39 on hedge accounting and
impairment of financial assets continues to apply. The Group expects to
adopt HKFRS 9 from 1 January 2013.

HKAS 24 (Revised) clarifies and simplifies the definition of related parties.
It also provides for a partial exemption of related party disclosure to
government-related entities for transactions with the same government
or entities that are controlled, jointly controlled or significantly
influenced by the same government. The Group expects to adopt HKAS
24 (Revised) from 1 January 2011 and the comparative related party
disclosures will be amended accordingly.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2010

2.3 1ssuep But Not YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

While the adoption of the revised standard will result in changes in the

100

accounting policy, the revised standard is unlikely to have any impact on

the related party disclosures as the Group currently does not have any
significant transactions with government-related entities.

Improvements to HKFRSs 2010 issued in May 2010 sets out
amendments to a number of HKFRSs. The Group expects to adopt the

amendments from 1 January 2011. There are separate transitional

provisions for each standard. While the adoption of some of the
amendments may result in changes in accounting policies, none of these
amendments are expected to have a significant financial impact on the
Group. Those amendments that are expected to have a significant
impact on the Group'’s policies are as follows:

(a)

WEICHAI PowWwER Co., LTD.

HKFRS 3 Business Combinations: Clarifies that the amendments to
HKFRS 7, HKAS 32 and HKAS 39 that eliminate the exemption for
contingent consideration do not apply to contingent consideration
that arose from business combinations whose acquisition dates
precede the application of HKFRS 3 (as revised in 2008).

In addition, the amendments limit the measurement choice of
non-controlling interests at fair value or at the proportionate share
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets to components of non-
controlling interests that are present ownership interests and
entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net
assets in the event of liquidation. Other components of non-
controlling interests are measured at their acquisition date fair
value, unless another measurement basis is required by another
HKFRS.

The amendments also added explicit guidance to clarify the
accounting treatment for non-replaced and voluntarily replaced
share-based payment awards.

HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Clarifies that an
analysis of other comprehensive income for each component of
equity can be presented either in the statement of changes in
equity or in the notes to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 87 ¥% R K Bit 5% (£8)

31st December, 2010 —FE—FTFF_HA=1—H

2.3 1IssuED But NoT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG 2.3 EEhiBiaREWNS B R

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

() HKAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements: Clarifies
that the consequential amendments from HKAS 27 (as revised in
2008) made to HKAS 21, HKAS 28 and HKAS 31 shall be applied
prospectively for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009
or earlier if HKAS 27 is applied earlier.

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity whose financial and operating policies the
Company controls, directly or indirectly, so as to obtain benefits from its
activities.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s income
statement to the extent of dividends received and receivable. The
Company'’s investments in subsidiaries that are not classified as held for
sales in accordance with HKFRS 5 are stated at cost less any impairment
losses.

Joint ventures

A joint venture is an entity set up by contractual arrangement, whereby
the Group and other parties undertake an economic activity. The joint
venture operates as a separate entity in which the Group and the other
parties have an interest.

The joint venture agreement between the venturers stipulates the capital
contributions of the joint venture parties, the duration of the joint
venture and the basis on which the assets are to be realised upon its
dissolution. The profits and losses from the joint venture’s operations
and any distributions of surplus assets are shared by the venturers, either
in proportion to their respective capital contributions, or in accordance
with the terms of the joint venture agreement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

102

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Joint ventures (continued)
A joint venture is treated as:

(@ a subsidiary, if the Group has unilateral control, directly or
indirectly, over the joint venture;

(b) a jointly-controlled entity, if the Group does not have unilateral
control, but has joint control, directly or indirectly, over the joint
venture;

(c)  an associate, if the Group does not have unilateral or joint control,
but holds, directly or indirectly, generally not less than 20% of the
joint venture’s registered capital and is in a position to exercise
significant influence over the joint venture; or

(d) an equity investment accounted for in accordance with HKAS 39,
if the Group holds, directly or indirectly, less than 20% of the joint
venture’s registered capital and has neither joint control of, nor is
in a position to exercise significant influence over, the joint
venture.

Jointly-controlled entities

A jointly-controlled entity is a joint venture that is subject to joint
control, resulting in none of the participating parties having unilateral
control over the economic activity of the jointly-controlled entity.

The Group’s investments in jointly-controlled entities are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s share of net
assets under the equity method of accounting, less any impairment
losses. The Group's share of the post-acquisition results and reserves of
jointly-controlled entities is included in the consolidated income
statement and consolidated reserves, respectively. Unrealised gains and
losses resulting from transactions between the Group and its jointly-
controlled entities are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
investments in the jointly-controlled entities, except where unrealised
losses provide evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of jointly-controlled entities is
included as part of the Group’s investments in jointly-controlled entities.
Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting
policies that may exist.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2010

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Associates

An associate is an entity, not being a subsidiary or a jointly-controlled
entity, in which the Group has a long term interest of generally not less
than 20% of the equity voting rights and over which it is in a position to
exercise significant influence.

The Group's investments in associates are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at the Group’s share of net assets under
the equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses. The
Group's share of the post-acquisition results and reserves of associates is
included in the consolidated income statement and consolidated
reserves, respectively. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the
extent of the Group's investments in the associates, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates is
included as part of the Group’s investments in associates and is not
individually tested for impairment. Adjustments are made to bring into
line any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.

The results of associates are included in the Company’s income
statement to the extent of dividends received and receivable. The
Company’s investments in associates are treated as non-current assets
and are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

When an investment in an associate is classified as held for sale, it is
accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for
Sale and Discontinued Operations.
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2.4
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Business combinations and goodwill
Business combinations from 1 January 2010

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method.
The consideration transferred is measured at the acquisition date fair
value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree. For each business combination, the
acquirer measures the non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at
fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. Acquisition costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and
liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation in
accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and
pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date
fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree
is remeasured to fair value as at the acquisition date through profit or
loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes to
the fair value of the contingent consideration which is deemed to be an
asset or liability is recognised in accordance with HKAS 39 either in profit
or loss or as a change to other comprehensive income. If the contingent
consideration is classified as equity, it shall not be remeasured until it is
finally settled within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost being the excess of the aggregate
of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised for non-
controlling interests and any fair value of the Group’s previously held
equity interests in the acquiree over the net identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items
is lower than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired,
the difference is, after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a
gain on bargain purchase.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2010

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)
Business combinations from 1 January 2010 (continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs its
annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose
of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is,
from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group's cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected
to benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether
other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or
groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which the
goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss recognised for
goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) and part of the operation within that unit is disposed
of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in
the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss
on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance
is measured based on the relative values of the operation disposed of
and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Business combinations prior to 1 January 2010 but after 1
January 2005

In comparison to the above-mentioned requirements which were applied
on a prospective basis, the following differences applied to business
combinations prior to 1 January 2010:

Business combinations were accounted for using the purchase method.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition formed part of
the acquisition costs. The non-controlling interest was measured at the
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
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POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)
Business combinations prior to 1 January 2010 but after 1
January 2005 (continued)

Business combinations achieved in stages were accounted for as
separate steps. Any additional acquired share of interest did not affect
previously recognised goodwill.

When the Group acquired a business, embedded derivatives separated
from the host contract by the acquiree were not reassessed on
acquisition unless the business combination resulted in a change in the
terms of the contract that significantly modified the cash flows that
otherwise would have been required under the contract.

Contingent consideration was recognised if, and only if, the Group had
a present obligation, the economic outflow was more likely than not and
a reliable estimate was determinable. Subsequent adjustments to the
contingent consideration were recognised as part of goodwill.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment
testing for an asset is required (other than inventories, deferred tax
assets, financial assets, investment properties, goodwill and non-current
assets/a disposal group classified as held for sale), the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’s or cash-generating unit's value in use and its fair value less costs
to sell, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does
not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from
other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset
exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is
charged to the income statement in the period in which it arises in those
expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2010

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to
whether there is any indication that previously recognised impairment
losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication
exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying
amount that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in
prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the
income statement in the period in which it arises.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@)  the party, directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries,
(i) controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, the
Group; (i) has an interest in the Group that gives it significant
influence over the Group; or (iii) has joint control over the Group;

(b)  the party is an associate;
(c)  the party is a jointly-controlled entity;

(d)  the party is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or its parent;

(e)  the party is a close member of the family of any individual referred
to in (a) or (d); or

(f)  the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly controlled or
significantly influenced by or for which significant voting power in
such entity resides with, directly or indirectly, any individual
referred to in (d) or (e).
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2.4
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress, are
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
When an item of property, plant and equipment is classified as held for
sale or when it is part of a disposal group classified as held for sale, it is
not depreciated and is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5, as
further explained in the accounting policy for “Non-current assets and
disposal groups held for sale”. The cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable
costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its
intended use. Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to the income statement in the period
in which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are
satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carry
amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of
property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals,
the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful
lives and depreciation.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost
of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual value over
its estimated useful life, except for certain machinery and equipment
which are depreciated using accelerated depreciation method. The
principal annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings
Leasehold improvements

12 to 35 years

10 to 20 years or the term of
the relevant lease

8 to 12 years

3 to 10 years

2 to 10 years

5 to 10 years

Plant and machinery

Computer, equipment and fixtures
Motor vehicles

Other equipment

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different
useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a reasonable basis
among the parts and each part is depreciated separately.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2010

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part
initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss
on disposal or retirement recognised in the income statement in the year
the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents property, plant and equipment
under construction and installation, which is stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct
costs of construction and capitalised borrowing costs on related
borrowed funds during the period of construction. Construction in
progress is reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for use.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings held to earn
rental income and/or for capital appreciation, rather than for use in the
production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes;
or for sale in the ordinary course of business. Such properties are
measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition, investment properties are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. Depreciation is
charged so as to write off the cost of investment properties using the
straight-line method.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in the income statement in the year of the
retirement or disposal.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
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POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if
their carrying amounts will be recovered principally through a sales
transaction rather than through continuing use. For this to be the case,
the asset or disposal group must be available for immediate sale in its
present condition subject only to terms that are usual and customary for
the sale of such assets or disposal groups and its sale must be highly
probable. All assets and liabilities of a subsidiary classified as a disposal
group are reclassified as held for sale regardless of whether the Group
retains a non-controlling interest in its former subsidiary after the sale.

Non-current assets and disposal groups (other than investment
properties, deferred tax assets and financial assets) classified as held for
sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amounts and fair values
less costs to sell. Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
classified as held for sale are not depreciated or amortised.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition
at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business combination
is the fair value as at the date of acquisition. The useful lives of
intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible
assets with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an
indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite
useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment
annually either individually or at the cash-generating unit level. Such
intangible assets are not amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset
with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether
indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the change
in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for on
a prospective basis.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 F2SFEHRITE(EE)

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)
Patents and licences

Purchased patents and licences are stated at cost less any impairment
losses and are amortised on the straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives of 3 to 20 years.

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to the income statement as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is capitalised
and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate the technical
feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available
for use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the
asset, how the asset will generate future economic benefits, the
availability of resources to complete the project and the ability to
measure reliably the expenditure during the development. Product
development expenditure which does not meet these criteria is expensed
when incurred.

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less any impairment losses
and are amortised using the straight-line basis over the commercial lives
of the underlying products not exceeding 10 years, commencing from
the date when the products are put into commercial production.

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership
of assets to the Group, other than legal title, are accounted for as
finance leases. At the inception of a finance lease, the cost of the leased
asset is capitalised at the present value of the minimum lease payments
and recorded together with the obligation, excluding the interest
element, to reflect the purchase and financing. Assets held under
capitalised finance leases, including prepaid land lease payments under
finance leases, are included in property, plant and equipment, and
depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful
lives of the assets. The finance costs of such leases are charged to the
income statement so as to provide a constant periodic rate of charge
over the lease terms.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
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POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of
assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as operating leases.
Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group under
operating leases are included in non-current assets, and rentals
receivable under the operating leases are credited to the income
statement on the straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the
Group is the lessee, rentals payable under the operating leases net of
any incentives received from the lessor are charged to the income
statement on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are initially stated at
cost and subsequently recognised on the straight-line basis over the
lease terms.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets within the scope of HKAS 39 are classified as loans and
receivables and available-for-sale financial investments, or as derivatives
designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.
The Group determines the classification of its financial assets at initial
recognition. When financial assets are recognised initially, they are
measured at fair value, plus, in the case of investments not at fair value
through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on
the trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

The Group's financial assets include cash and bank balances, trade and
other receivables and quoted and unquoted financial instruments.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2010

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. After
initial measurement, such assets are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest rate method less any allowance for
impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees or costs that are
an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in finance income in the income statement. The
loss arising from impairment is recognised in the income statement in
other expenses.

Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative financial assets
in listed and unlisted equity. Equity investments classified as available for
sale are those which are neither classified as held for trading nor
designated at fair value through profit or loss. Debt securities in this
category are those which are intended to be held for an indefinite period
of time and which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or in
response to changes in market conditions.

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial investments are
subsequently measured at fair value, with gains or losses recognised as
other comprehensive income in the available-for-sale investment
valuation reserve until the investment is derecognised, at which time the
cumulative gain or loss is recognised in the income statement in other
income, or until the investment is determined to be impaired, at which
time the cumulative gain or loss previously reported in equity is included
in the income statement in other expenses and removed from the
available-for-sale investment valuation reserve. Interest and dividends
earned are reported as interest income and dividend income, respectively
and are recognised in the income statement as other income in
accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.
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POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments (continued)

When the fair value of unlisted equity securities cannot be reliably
measured because (a) the variability in the range of reasonable fair value
estimates is significant for that investment or (b) the probabilities of the
various estimates within the range cannot be reasonably assessed and
used in estimating fair value, such securities are stated at cost less any
impairment losses.

The Group evaluates its available-for-sale financial assets whether the
ability and intention to sell them in the near term are still appropriate.
When the Group is unable to trade these financial assets due to inactive
markets and management’s intent to do so significantly changes in the
foreseeable future, the Group may elect to reclassify these financial
assets in rare circumstances. Reclassification to loans and receivables is
permitted when the financial assets meet the definition of loans and
receivables and the Group has the intent and ability to hold these assets
for the foreseeable future or to maturity. Reclassification to the held-to-
maturity category is permitted only when the entity has the ability and
intent to hold until the maturity date of the financial asset.

For a financial asset reclassified out of the available-for-sale category,
any previous gain or loss on that asset that has been recognised in
equity is amortised to profit or loss over the remaining life of the
investment using the effective interest rate. Any difference between the
new amortised cost and the expected cash flows is also amortised over
the remaining life of the asset using the effective interest rate. If the
asset is subsequently determined to be impaired, then the amount
recorded in equity is reclassified to the income statement.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part
of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2010

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the
asset, or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows
in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-
through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the
Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an
asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, and has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the
extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset. In that case,
the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset
and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the
rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the
Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at each of the reporting period whether there is any
objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is
impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to be
impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a
result of one or more events that has occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset (an incurred “loss event”) and that loss event
has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset
or the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence
of impairment may include indications that a debtor or a group of
debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they
will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and observable
data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated
future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions
that correlate with defaults.

A1t 5 4R = Bif o (#&)
s L

2.4 FLEERMS (B

R MK EE R

s AKBECHEHBREWRBMZBEEEM
BREREZEN  HRE—BE
FleH AERE=T28XM
ERETREMARTEARLERZ
B R@Ar&EBEEHEEZEE
EZRBRNEMER KD R : Hb)
AEBYEEZAREZBAEE
BRABOEREE®R ECHEHE
ZBEEEZEIE-

MASECERAWR -—BEEMRFR
EREZEMKCITL —HEF 5
BYEEZAREZEEEZIRKRN
REREE®R BYEEEZHEEZ
zHE AZBEEESERASEREA
DEZEENRERR -EZBRAT -
AEBNTEREBEEE -CEEHREER
BEETCUARRAS EPTRENER
REEZEEGE-

HMIFE2EANCBREERMRER
A AEEMNRKREENR A KB A 5
AEENESREMENREETE -

BMBEERE

AEEREBRSHFIBEETEBEIR
BrR—BRy AP BEELTRE - N
BEMRNIHEREERELE —AX
ZHREMERFERBRENR(—A
EZENIBEREMN) MZEBES
HHZEIZATBEENBFTRK
ReRnEBEMERNTETNERA Ei
fEt MR ERZAMBEESHRRE
WME - REFRABHE B —HER
ALHBEAKERNH EHNLREE
BREXAE BREFUEBELETT
HPBEE AEEABESINHK
BRAGEFAARRAESRELRAAGE

BB - PIaNRFRE B BB H IR R
#) AR R O A AR -

ANNUAL REPORT 2010 F# 115



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2010

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
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POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first assesses
individually whether objective evidence of impairment exists for financial
assets that are individually significant, or collectively for financial assets
that are not individually significant. If the Group determines that no
objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed
financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group
of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively
assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for
impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be,
recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred,
the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows
(excluding future credit losses that have not yet been incurred). The
present value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the
financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest
rate computed at initial recognition). If a loan has a variable interest rate,
the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current
effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an
allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognised in the
income statement. Interest income continues to be accrued on the
reduced carrying amount and is accrued using the rate of interest used
to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the
impairment loss. Loans and receivables together with any associated
allowance are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future
recovery and all collateral has been realised or has been transferred to
the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated impairment loss
increases or decreases because of an event occurring after the
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is
increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a future
write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to the income
statement.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2010

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred
on an unquoted equity instrument that is not carried at fair value
because its fair value cannot be reliably measured has been incurred, the
amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows
discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial
asset. Impairment losses on these assets are not reversed.

Available-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group assesses at the
end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that an
investment or a group of investments is impaired.

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount comprising the
difference between its cost (net of any principal payment and
amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment loss
previously recognised in the income statement, is removed from other
comprehensive income and recognised in the income statement.

In the case of equity investments classified as available for sale, objective
evidence would include a significant or prolonged decline in the fair
value of an investment below its cost. “Significant” is evaluated against
the original cost of the investment and “prolonged” against the period
in which the fair value has been below its original cost. Where there is
evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss — measured as the
difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less
any impairment loss on that investment previously recognised in the
income statement — is removed from other comprehensive income and
recognised in the income statement. Impairment losses on equity
instruments classified as available for sale are not reversed through the
income statement. Increases in their fair value after impairment are
recognised directly in other comprehensive income.
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POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities within the scope of HKAS 39 are classified as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings, or as
derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as
appropriate. The Group determines the classification of its financial
liabilities at initial recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and in the case
of loans and borrowings, plus directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables,
financial guarantee contracts, debentures and interest-bearing loans and
borrowings.

Subsequent measurement
The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as
follows:

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings and
debentures are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are
recognised in the income statement when the liabilities are derecognised
as well as through the effective interest rate method amortisation
process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the
effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included
in finance costs in the income statement.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2010

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those contracts
that require a payment to be made to reimburse the holder for a loss it
incurs because the specified debtor fails to make a payment when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee
contract is recognised initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issuance of the
guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures the
financial guarantee contract at the higher of: (i) the amount of the best
estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at
the end of the reporting period; and (ii) the amount initially recognised
less, when appropriate, cumulative amortisation.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability
is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same
lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing
liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is
treated as a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a
new liability, and the difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in the income statement.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is
reported in the statement of financial position if, and only if, there is
currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments investments that are traded in
active markets is determined by reference to quoted market prices or
dealer price quotations (bid price for long positions and ask price for
short positions), without any deduction for transaction costs. For
financial instruments where there is no active market, the fair value is
determined using appropriate valuation techniques. These techniques
include using recent arm’s length market transactions; reference to the
current market value of another instrument which is substantially the
same; a discounted cash flow analysis; and option pricing models.
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POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
is determined on the weighted average basis and, in the case of work in
progress and finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour
and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is
based on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred
to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and short
term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
and have a short maturity of generally within three months when
acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the statement of financial position, cash and cash
equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, including term deposits
which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable that
a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation,
provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a
provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period of the
future expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation. The
increase in the discounted present value amount arising from the
passage of time is included in finance costs in the income statement.

Provisions for product warranties granted by the Group on certain
products are recognised based on sales volume and past experience of
the level of repairs and returns, discounted to their present values as
appropriate.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2010

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to
items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or
loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are
measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period,
taking into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the
countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

° where the deferred tax liability arises from goodwill or the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, where
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
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POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary
differences arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability
in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, deferred
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future
and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part
of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets
are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to
the extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability
is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally
enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the
same taxation authority.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 F2SFEHRITE(EB)

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income over the periods necessary to match the
grant on a systematic basis to the costs that it is intended to
compensate. Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is
credited to a deferred income account and is released to the income
statement over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal
annual instalments.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits
will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be measured reliably,
on the following bases:

(@  from the sale of goods, when the significant risks and rewards of
ownership have been transferred to the buyer, provided that the
Group maintains neither managerial involvement to the degree
usually associated with ownership, nor effective control over the
goods sold;

(b)  from the rendering of services, when the services are rendered,;

(c)  rental income, on a time proportion basis over the lease terms;

(d) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective interest
method by applying the rate that discounts the estimated future
cash receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument
to the net carrying amount of the financial asset; and

(e)  dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to receive payment
has been established.
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POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Employee benefits

Pension scheme

The Company and its subsidiaries, jointly-controlled entities and
associates which operate in Mainland China are required to participate
in a government-regulated defined contribution pension scheme, under
which the Group make contributions to a government-regulated pension
scheme at a fixed percentage of wages and salaries of the existing full-
time employees in Mainland China and have no further legal or
constructive obligations to make additional contributions. The
contributions are charged as an expense to the income statement as
incurred.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All
other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an
entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends proposed by the directors are classified as a separate
allocation of retained profits within the equity section of the statement
of financial position, until they have been approved by the shareholders
in a general meeting. When these dividends have been approved by the
shareholders and declared, they are recognised as a liability.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2010

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in RMB, which is the
Company's functional and presentation currency. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the
financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional
currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities in the
Group are initially recorded using their respective functional currency
rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting
period. All differences are taken to the income statement. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency
are translated using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the
fair value was determined.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are currencies
other than the RMB. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets
and liabilities of these entities are translated into the presentation
currency of the Company at the exchange rates ruling at the end of the
reporting period and their income statements are translated into RMB at
the weighted average exchange rates for the year. The resulting
exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the exchange fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a
foreign operation, the component of other comprehensive income
relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the income
statement.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash
flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into RMB at the exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash
flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are
translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange rates for the
year.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities,
and the disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the end of the reporting
period. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates
could result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management
has made the following judgements, apart from those involving
estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements:

Operating lease commitments — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its investment
property portfolio. The Group has determined, based on an evaluation
of the terms and conditions of the arrangements, that it retains all the
significant risks and rewards of ownership of these properties which are
leased out on operating leases.

Classification between investment properties and owner-
occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an investment
property, and has developed criteria in making that judgement.
Investment property is a property held to earn rentals or for capital
appreciation or both. Therefore, the Group considers whether a property
generates cash flows largely independently of the other assets held by
the Group. Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn
rentals or for capital appreciation and another portion that is held for
use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes. If these portions could be sold separately or leased out
separately under a finance lease, the Group accounts for the portions
separately. If the portions could not be sold separately, the property is
an investment property only if an insignificant portion is held for use in
the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes. Judgement is made on an individual property basis to
determine whether ancillary services are so significant that a property
does not qualify as an investment property.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2010

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Judgements (continued)

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives

As detailed in note 18, trademarks with a carrying value of
RMB210,589,000 as at 31 December 2010 (2009: RMB210,589,000) are
renewable every 10 years at minimal cost. The directors of the Company
consider that these trademarks for all practical purposes have an
indefinite useful life and therefore they will not be amortised until their
useful life is determined to be finite and they will be tested for
impairment annually.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed
below.

Impairment of goodwill and trademarks

The Group determines whether goodwill and trademarks are impaired at
least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use
of the cash-generating units to which goodwill and trademarks are
allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make an
estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash-generating
units and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value of those cash flows. As at 31 December 2010, the carrying
amount of goodwill and trademarks was RMB538,016,000 (2009:
RMB538,016,000) and RMB210,589,000 (2009: 210,589,000),
respectively. Details of the recoverable amount calculation are disclosed
in note 19.

Development costs

Development costs are capitalised in accordance with the accounting
policy for research and development costs in note 2.4 to the financial
statements. Determining the amounts to be capitalised requires
management to make assumptions regarding the expected future cash
generation of the assets, discount rates to be applied and the expected
period of benefits.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised. Significant
management judgement is required to determine the amount of
deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing
and level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning
strategies. Further details are contained in note 25 to the financial
statements.
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3.

128

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment of available-for-sale investments

The Group classifies certain assets as available-for-sale investments and
recognises movements of their fair values in equity. When the fair value
declines, management makes assumptions about the decline in value to
determine whether there is an impairment that should be recognised in
the income statement. At 31 December 2010, the carrying amount of
impairment losses of RMB122,232,000 (2009: RMB122,025,000) has
been recognised for available-for-sale investments. The carrying amount
of available-for-sale investments as at 31 December 2010 was
RMB636,038,000 (2009 RMB477,430,000).

Write-down of inventories to net realisable value

Write-down of inventories to net realisable value is made based on
assessment of the salability and net realisable value of inventories. The
identification of write-down of inventories requires management’s
judgement and estimates. Where the actual outcome of expectation in
future is different from the original estimate, the differences will impact
the carrying value of the inventories and write-down loss/reversal of
write-down in the period in which the estimate has been changed.

Impairment of trade and other receivables

Impairment of trade and other receivables is made based on assessment
of the recoverability of trade and other receivables. The identification of
impairment of trade and other receivables requires management'’s
judgement and estimates. Where the actual outcome of expectation in
future is different from the original estimate, such differences will impact
the carrying value of the receivables and impairment loss/reversal of
impairment in the period in which such estimate has been changed.

Warranty expenses

The Group offers a six month to three year warranty for its products,
during which free warranty service for the repair and maintenance of
parts or components under normal usage is provided to customers.
Management estimates the warranty provision based on the historical
cost data for repairs and maintenance and units of products sold. The
carrying amount of the warranty provision as at 31 December 2010 was
RMB1,017,418,000 (2009: RMB497,231,000). Further details are
disclosed in note 34 to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2010

i,

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units
based on their products and services and has four reportable operating
segments as follows:

(@  manufacturing and sale of diesel engines and related parts (“Diesel
engines”);

(b)  manufacturing and sale of automobiles and major automobile
components other than diesel engines (“Automobiles and other
major automobile components”);

(0 manufacturing and sale of non-major automobile components
(“Non-major automobile components”); and

(d) provision of import and export services (“Import & export
services").

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating segments
separately for the purpose of making decisions about resources
allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is
evaluated based on reportable segment profit/(loss), which is a measure
of adjusted profit/(loss) before tax from continuing operations. The
adjusted profit/(loss) before tax from continuing operations is measured
consistently with the Group’s profit before tax from continuing
operations except that interest income, finance costs, dividend income
as well as head office and corporate expenses are excluded from such
measurement.

Segment assets exclude deferred tax assets, pledged deposits, cash and
cash equivalents, available-for-sale investments and other unallocated
head office and corporate assets as these assets are managed on a
group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude interest-bearing bank and other borrowings,
tax payable, deferred tax liabilities and other unallocated head office and
corporate liabilities as these liabilities are managed on a group basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to the
selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the then prevailing
market prices.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2010

b,

130

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

4, KENBERGEB)

Segment revenue: DEIWA
Sales to external customers GNER R 8 E 26,748,960 34,455,808 1,274,803 185,950 62,665,521
Inter-segment sales o EEHE 5,091,743 1,361,499 6,774 = 6,460,016
Total S 31,840,703 35,817,307 1,281,577 185,950 69,125,537
Reconciliation: HE:
Elimination of inter-segment sales # § % 25 & 5 & (6,460,016)
Revenue A 62,665,521
Segment results DEEE 6,783,441 2,988,158 167,492 1,007 9,940,098
Reconciliation: HiE:
Elimination of inter-segment B BRESR

results (377,493)
Interest income ME U A 123,117
Dividend income and S ONSE Sl L

unallocated gains 256,741
Corporate and other EREMKDERX

unallocated expenses (349,442)
Finance costs B 75 K (197,978)
Profit before tax R % A0 £ 9,395,043
Segment assets PHBEE 19,910,806 19,723,244 1,130,544 646,293 41,410,887
Reconciliation: iR
Elimination of inter-segment 1K 85 2 20 e FE W R 3B

receivables (1,835,735)
Corporate and other CERAEMKRIEEE

unallocated assets 12,899,495
Total assets BEE 52,474,647
Segment liabilities HHEE 12,065,475 13,592,991 515,297 41,336 26,215,099
Reconciliation: HER:
Elimination of inter-segment 8D 2D e 1+ 78

payables (1,835,734)
Corporate and other rEREMRIEEE

unallocated liabilities 4,725,153
Total liabilities BEfE 29,104,518

WEICHAT POWER Co., LTD. %shhBRBRERAD



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) B % 3R
31st December, 2010 T TES

4, OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, RKRENIPERN(GEE)
(CONTINUED)

Other segment information: HibHEEH:
Share of profits and FE 16 T 51 2 & F

losses of: REE

associates AN 3,578 4,057 - 1,970 9,605
Write-down of WREEZEA

inventories to 23 FE

net realisable value 6,255 213,800 904 - 220,959
Impairment loss on R E 7 &%

trade and R EL Ao, e U BR 3R

other receivables VREN = 21,381 268,298 2,299 (5,522) 286,456
Depreciation and amortisation  #7 & [z # 8 586,719 738,197 34,390 654 1,359,960
Loss/(gain) on disposal HEME #ER

of items of property, REEEZ

plant and equipment e () (9,940) 771 (10,767) - (19,936)
Product warranty provision EmRERE 1,134,169 287,897 8,789 - 1,430,855
Investments in associates REE RAIRERE 563,047 323,907 - 33,738 920,692
Capital expenditure* EARFLH 1,082,543 1,422,728 76,008 263,274 2,844,553
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2010

b,

132

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

4, KENBERGEB)

Segment revenue: DA
Sales to external customers INERR B g E 14,425,689 19,571,341 925,598 338,271 35,260,899
Inter-segment sales o EBEHE 2,501,251 895 95,669 - 2,597,815
Total et 16,926,940 19,572,236 1,021,267 338,271 37,858,714
Reconciliation: HWER:
Elimination of D HEEE

inter-segment sales (2,597,815)
Revenue A 35,260,899
Segment results DEEE 3,473,536 1,446,693 112,192 8,800 5,041,221
Reconciliation: HE:
Elimination of EHDBRER

inter-segment results (151,457)
Interest income MEW A 116,809
Dividend income and s ON & ol

unallocated gains 228,882
Corporate and other PEREMKDERAX

unallocated expenses (308,704)
Finance costs B 7 Bk A (247,507)
Profit before tax B % 51 71 B 4,679,244

WEICHAI PowerR Co., LTD.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2010

b,

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

81 #5

—TEFE—=F

=

b,

R

RENSENEB)

Segment assets DEEE 14,518,233 14,520,582 875,459 452,282 30,366,556
Reconciliation: R :
Elimination of inter-segment 55 9 20 i JE Uk 0B

receivables (1,661,800)
Corporate and other B EREAM AR

unallocated assets AEREE 7,670,721
Total assets BEE 36,375,477
Segment liabilities HHBEE 7,783,157 9,358,910 402,481 61,750 17,606,298
Reconciliation: YR
Elimination of inter-segment 1K 85 2 BB e~ k0B

payables (1,661,800)
Corporate and other unallocated 1 % 2 H 41 &

liabilities AEEE 4,769,664
Total liabilities Bmaf 20,714,162
Other segment information: HipHER :
Share of profits and XN NG|

losses of: TR EE
A jointly-controlled entity —REEEHTE 2,343 - - - 2,343
Associates RN (1,601) (5,727) - 1,555 (5,773)
Write-down of inventories to net i} 7 & & A

realisable value #IEEE 5,630 223,031 2,454 - 231,115
Impairment loss on trade and ~ JEUR & 5 Bk 7 & H 1 B Uk

other receivables B FUR BB 1B 10,206 213,364 4,268 (234) 227,604
Depreciation and amortisation — #7 & [z # 8 387,701 480,588 34,151 1,964 904,404
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of H & ) % « # 25 & % & 18

property, plant and equipment B Z 518,/ (Y z5) (264) 6,842 392 (30) 6,940
Product warranty provision EmRBERE 523,003 176,014 10,171 - 709,188
Investments in associates REEE D AR R & 44,501 96,290 - 31,768 172,559
Investment in a jointly-controlled 7 — 5 £t [ 2 %] & 82 &)

entity BE 23,275 - - - 23,275
Capital expenditure* N 1,034,793 1,263,276 137,506 5,750 2,441,325

*

Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets and investment properties, including contributions from non-

controlling shareholders.

* EXHAXBIERNENE HSRRE &
REERREYF (CRIZERRFIE) -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2010

i,

134

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

Information about a major customer

Revenue of approximately RMB5,951,873,000 (2009:
RMB4,627,218,000) was derived from sales by the diesel engines
segment and automobiles and other major automobile components
segment to a single customer.

Geographical information

During the years ended 31 December 2010 and 2009, more than 90%
of the Group's revenue was generated from customers located in the
PRC and over 90% of the non-current assets of the Group were located
in the PRC.

WEICHAI POoWER Co., LTD. L #NHBRNDBERLAD
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2010

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

Revenue includes turnover and other revenue that arise in the course of
the Group's ordinary activities. The Group’s turnover, which arises from
the principal activities of the Group, represents the net invoiced value of
goods sold, after allowances for returns and trade discounts, the value

of services rendered; and gross rental income received and receivable
from investment properties, net of sales taxes and surcharges during the

year.

An analysis of revenue, other income and gains is as follows:

Bt 5 4R = Bif o (#&)
s L

5. WA~ Hfttlt AR E

WARRASEAEXEBETES
ZEFBREMBEA - AEEREEX
BHELAZEXBRERFAMKES &
SFM FRERERBZEBENCDELE
MO ERFEARBREVEE LR
EEOESBALBTHEERE R

I R)

WA B A RSz o™ :

2010 2009
—E-ZF —EEAF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
=2 AR¥ T ARET T
Revenue PN
Turnover -
Sale of goods EmiEeE 60,263,112 34,011,367
Rendering of services e H AR 7% 48,011 37,262
Other revenue H 4 A
Sales of scrap and other materials HERE REMYE 2,309,930 1,199,894
Gross rental income el A Bz 44,468 12,376
62,665,521 35,260,899
Other income Hfb g A
Bank interest income RIT A B WA 6 123,117 116,809
Dividend income from available-for-sale AHEEREZRE
investments e A 6 3,600 1,600
Government subsidies BT 48 B 109,530 70,196
Penalty and compensation income e kBEERA 26,717 12,315
Excess over the cost of business B EBE AR
combinations 21D - 87,334
Others Hith 26,870 9,580
289,834 297,834
Gains g 5
Gain on debt restructuring B EH W = 19,025 45,921
Fair value gain on derivative financial MESBMIARATE
instruments U #= 3,672 —
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale & AT SR A W s
investments 58,154 1,936
Others Hfib 9,173 =
90,024 47,857
379,858 345,691
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2010

6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

A1 5 4R %= B o (4&)
—F-FE+SH=f A

6. FRiAIMHE

AEBZBREAAMBEMR GEA)

2010 2009
—E-ZF —ETNEF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5E AR¥ T AR T T
Cost of inventories sold HEFEKRAR 47,533,312 26,684,146
Cost of services provided 2 IR 75 A A 9,625 4,240
Write-down of inventories to net WO F 5 E Al
realisable value #15 SHE 220,959 231,115
Product warranty provision = i (R 1B FE 15
Additional provision B N 1 34 1,430,855 709,188
Employee benefits expense & B 1& FF
(including directors’ and supervisors’ (BIEEER
remuneration) (note 8): EEMe)(HES) -
Wages and salaries TERF® 2,662,409 712,232
Defined contribution pension scheme FERBEHEKENRE S
(note ) (K1 aEi) 242,337 193,322
Medical benefits costs (note i) B B 18 M RK AN (A a2 i) 58,474 43,029
Housing fund FEAES 75,581 62,645
Cash housing subsidies costs & FE 5 AR A 10,743 74,692
Total staff costs B 8 48 pK AN 3,049,544 2,085,920
Rental income less direct operating HeWRABREEZZER
expenses of = A R # 25,426,000 7T
RMB25,426,000 (2009: RMB5,383,000) —EENE: ARE
5,383,000 7T) (19,042) (6,993)
Bank interest income R AT F B U A 5 (123,117) (116,809)
Dividend income & B WA 5 (3,600) (1,600)
Research and development costs it 7t F B & B AR 887,580 450,217
Minimum lease payment under RIFELERL M &K
operating leases: M
Plant and machinery e 23 Ko M A 17,668 41,495
Land and buildings + i R T 151,462 63,780
Auditors’ remuneration 1Z 25 R BN & 20,484 18,380
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant — H & ) 2 - # 52 & 5 1%
and equipment (=) K8 (19,936) 6,940
Loss on disposal of investment properties — H & & & ¥ ¥ & 18 - 1,028
Depreciation of property, plant and ME EENKREITE
equipment 14 1,317,471 874,033
Depreciation of investment properties KEYERE 15 11,261 3,605
Recognition of prepaid land lease TER + 1 & B R
payments 16 14,605 11,441
Amortisation of other intangible assets H b = & E 18 16,623 15,325
Impairment of trade and other receivables & U 2 5 B 3t 2 H fib
JE W BR FROR (B 27,28 286,456 227,604
Impairment of available-for-sale At SR E R E
investments 207 207
Foreign exchange differences, net fEH FER 513 634
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2010

6.

7.

B ¥% ¥R % Bif 5 (48)

—F-FE A=t 0

PROFIT BEFORE TAX (CONTINUED) 6. [BRis mumliE (&)
Notes: Bt
0] Defined contribution pension scheme (i) EEBEARIE2 A2
All of the Group’s full-time employees in Mainland China are covered by a KEEP AT E A EEER YR F K
government-regulated pension scheme and are entitled to an annual pension FEESRIKL T BFRE RIKEFF
determined by their basic salaries upon their retirement. The PRC government is AR 12 B K F 2 it BB R IK £ o A BB
responsible for the pension liabilities to these retired employees. The Group is FF#EZ ERINESHENRE A - 7*" -
required to make annual contributions to the government-requlated pension BEEZFEERELNF£200%(—FF
scheme at 20.0% (2009: 20.0%) of the employees’ basic salaries. This defined M 4F 2 20.0%) B9 L B[] BT B B A9 R 1K
contribution pension scheme continued to be available to the Group’s employees SAEELBEN - FALXKEEES THE
for the year. The related pension costs are expensed as incurred. 5 H 3% E BB AR IR 2 51 &) - B B A AR (K
ERERELER -
(i) Medical benefits costs (i) BRI
The Group contributes on a monthly basis to defined contribution medical 7K 45 [ 2 h B BT B FE A E BR (X B R
benefit plans organised by the PRC government. The PRC government BT B & A (F 4 HE5k o o BB TR G R
undertakes to assume the medical benefit obligations of all existing and retired BZEA BB ERE REMES & IE
employees under these plans. Contributions to these plans by the Group are BEENEE A EEHZEAEFEL A
expensed as incurred. The Group has no further obligations for medical benefits HARELEXH - REZEAE T&E
and supplemental medical benefits for their qualified employees under these B 2 & & 15 8 8 Y B /5 15 7 X 1 7T £ %
plans. 18 It #E R b & AL -
FINANCE CoSTS 7. RS AUN
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: MBERSTAT
2010 2009
—E-2F —ETNF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARET T
Interest on bank loans and other borrowings ZERAEEARNL2HEENRITE
wholly repayable within five years RN HAME KRB 119,434 146,579
Interest on debentures BEEA B 64,350 50,321
Interest on discounted bills receivable e U Bl 3R Z= 5 A B 14,194 50,607
Total interest expense on financial liabilities not A 1% 2 S {8 7 18 25 51 BE LA 4h 2
at fair value through profit or loss BB ERZBE 197,978 247,507
Less: Interest capitalised AR = W N A= 0 | S = -
197,978 247,507
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2010

8. DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS’ REMUNERATION 8. EBKESHE
Directors and supervisors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant FREFREFHEIREFTERAS
to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange RPMBRAARZES EHARAT EHR
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and Section 161 of the Hong ADREERAGHE16TEKRELT

Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows:

Group KE

Fees Fiake 741 386
Other emoluments: H it Bl & -
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind Fe FUEREMAE 6,806 6,976
Performance-related bonuses BERBBEENLAL - =
Pension scheme contributions RBRIKE I H R 100 70
6,906 7,046
7,647 7,432
(a) Independent non-executive directors (@) BUFHITES
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during the FANTEILIERTESTONRS
year were as follows: U

Mr. Zhang Xiaoyu iR /NE A 120 120
Mr. Koo Fook Sun BEEHEE 141 146
Mr. Fang Zhongchang ERELAE 120 120
381 386
There were no other emoluments payable to the independent FRALERBIENTES M
non-executive directors during the year (2009: Nil). HihMES(ZZTZTNF : &) o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) a7t ¥ 3R = Bif :
31st December, 2010 —E—FEF ;

8. DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS’ REMUNERATION 8. EBNESHIEE)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors and b) HITES - FHTEERE
supervisors =

2010 —B-%F
Executive directors: HITEE:
Mr. Tan Xuguang BN EAE - 1,500 - 20 1,520
Mr. Xu Xinyu BIMERE - 1,385 - 20 1,405
Mr. Sun Shaojun BOBRE - 1,385 - 20 1,405
Mr. Zhang Quan RR LA - 1,385 - 20 1,405
- 5,655 - 80 5,735
Non-executive director: EHTES:
Ms. Zhang Fusheng LN - 60 - - 60
Mr. Liu Huisheng Aekrt - 60 - - 60
Mr. Yao Yu Tk HE - 60 - - 60
Mr. Yeung Sai Hong itk & - 60 - - 60
Mr. Chen Xuejian REGELE - 60 - - 60
Mr. Li San Yim FMREE - 60 - - 60
Mr. Julius G. Kiss Julius G. Kiss 5 & - 60 - - 60
Ms. Han Xiaogun BNERT - 60 - - 60
Mr. Gu Linsheng B E LS - 120 - - 120
Mr. Li Shihao FHELE - 120 - - 120
Mr. Liu Zheng SEx & - 120 - - 120
- 840 - - 840
Supervisors: R
Mr. Sun Chengping BETRE - 60 - - 60
Mr. Ding Yingdong TOREE - 551 - 20 571
Ms. Jiang Jianfang Brirat - 60 - - 60
- 671 - 20 691
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2010

8. DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS’ REMUNERATION 8. EBNESMEGE
(CONTINUED)
(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors and b) HITEE -FEHTESRE
supervisors (continued) = (&)

2009 “ZENE
Executive directors: HITESE:
Mr. Tan Xuguang ERNEAE = 1,500 = 14 1,514
Mr. Xu Xinyu BEERE - 1,305 - 14 1,319
Mr. Sun Shaojun BOBRE = 1,305 = 14 1,319
Mr. Zhang Quan RR LA - 1,305 - 14 1,319
— 5,415 — 56 5471
Non-executive director: EHTES:
Ms. Zhang Fusheng RREZT - 60 - - 60
Mr. Liu Huisheng ekkst = 60 - _ 60
Mr. Yao Yu hF L& - 60 - - 60
Mr. Yeung Sai Hong Bt i & - 60 - - 60
Mr. Chen Xuejian REMmEE - 60 - - 60
Mr. Li San Yim FHAKE - 60 - - 60
Mr. Julius G. Kiss Julius G. Kiss 5t & - 60 - - 60
Ms. Han Xiaoqun BB L - 60 - - 60
Mr. Gu Linsheng BMRELE - 120 - - 120
Mr. Li Shihao FHZEE - 120 - - 120
Mr. Liu Zheng Einges - 120 - - 120
- 840 - - 840
Supervisors: S
Mr. Sun Chengping BRTEE - 60 - - 60
Mr. Ding Yingdong THAREE - 601 - 14 615
Ms. Jiang Jianfang Byt - 60 - - 60
- 721 - 14 735
There was no arrangement under which a director or a supervisor FARAWEE SR EZTRERR B WNE
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year. ER & B 2 HE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) a1 ¥

31st December, 2010 T TES

5,

Five HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9,

The five highest paid employees during the year included three (2009:
one) directors, details of whose remuneration are set out in note 8
above. Details of the remuneration of the remaining two (2009: four)
non-director and non-supervisor, highest paid employees for the year are
as follows:

m.

hiiRS#HES

AEER BARGHEEREZACC
TTNE: —REFREE AMSH
EEHN LXK TSR FRHB T HA
SERAF MB)HEERFEEN
BRFEENMSFBENT

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind Fe EHEEWA = 3,885 7,247
Performance-related bonuses BEREBEMLA - -
Pension scheme contributions RIRE IR 28 67

3,913 7,314

The number of non-director and non-supervisor, highest paid employees
whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows:

MENTRTIEENFEETRIES
EERHEENABKNT

Nil to HKD 1,000,000 Z % 1,000,000 7T - -
HKD 1,000,001 to HKD 1,500,000 1,000,001 7% 7T Z 1,500,000 7% 7T - 2
HKD 1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000 1,500,001 7% 7T & 2,000,000 % 7T 2 2

2 4
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2010

10.

142

INCOME TAX

The Company and all its subsidiaries that operate in Mainland China are
subject to the statutory corporate income tax rate of 25% (2009: 25%)
for the year under the income tax rules and regulations of the PRC,
except that:

(1) The Company and certain subsidiaries are subject a preferential
rate of 15% as they are assessed by relevant government
authorities as High and New Technology Enterprises (“HNTE") for
a period of three years commencing 1 January 2008. Pursuant to
the PRC Income Tax Law, enterprises assessed as “HNTE” are
entitled to a preferential income tax rate of 15%; and

(2)  Pursuant to Notice of the State Administration of Taxation
concerning the Opinions on the Implementation of the Relevant
Taxation Policies for the Western Development (B F+ 7% 44 574
REAEBEADAAZFBETBBEREREERE RABA) , certain
subsidiaries which are approved as domestic enterprises engaged
in the industries encouraged by the State in the Western Region

(PP HEBERFEEZHNANEMRZE) are also subject to a

preferential tax rate of 15%.

Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the rates
of tax prevailing in the countries/jurisdictions in which the Group
operates.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the Group had
no assessable profits arising in Hong Kong for the year.

B 15 4R %= B o (7&)
—F-FE+SH=f A

10. PRfSR

BRTIRRIN REBEFPEAEHIER R
RE ARRAREZEWMH LR HER
h #) BT M B A B F AR 25% (=
TENF25%)NETER E BN DX
PSR

(1) ARARARETHELFER
TR E R B R A A
((BHEMAE]D)  BRZFEN
F-A-HEN=FHHER =~
RAEIRETHERBRIS%HE
EREHHNEERBTH - RES
BAEHZE B ERI®HRIM
N A R AR 15% B B B i X
BAEERGER: R

Q REMBERBRHEERERNEZEAR
AABEEHERWERKEEREE

RBBMEFNANELCEZETH
J& 1 B TR R 15% H) 8 B B K
EMEH-

IR B 3 & R BR A A OB RO B TR T 3%
RAEBEREMERR AEEED

HRASEERFEFAEETBLER RN
B MY EELEBNEHEME -

2010 2009
—E2-%2F —ETNF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®T T ARBTT
Group: KNEH:
Current — Mainland China BN Bf—rR B (A 3
Charge for the year FANEHE 1,773,681 832,924
Under/(over)-provision in prior years BAFEREBETIR/
(GEBER A H) 6,645 (7,027)
Current — Elsewhere B BR—H fib 3 [=
Charge for the year FANEHE 915 5,666
Deferred IR it (383,688) (99,183)
Total tax charge for the year FARRIEL B 5E 1,397,553 732,380
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) B ¥5 ¥R 2 Bft 5% (&8)

31st December, 2010 —FE—FTFF_HA=1—H

10. INCOME TAX (CONTINUED) 10. PSR (48

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax at the
statutory rates for the countries/jurisdictions in which the Company and
its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the effective tax rates
and a reconciliation of the statutory tax rates to the effective tax rates is

UARARRENBRRAMEBRK, A
B ZAERERAEZERREN
RIAMBzHBERX  EfERERK X
H2HRBERXHHE R A REE N X E

as follows: ERBEMHBRNT
Group - 2010 KEF—=-—ZF—FF
Mainland China Elsewhere Total
B it Hithih & &5t
RMB’000 % RMB’000 % RMB’000 %
AR®T T AR®T AR®B T
Profit before tax F 5 B ) 9,415,510 (20,467) 9,395,043
Tax at the statutory tax rate & )EE M K&
Z BIA 2,353,878 25.0 (6,055) 29.6 2,347,823 25.0
Preferential tax rate or BEHEREL
concessions (902,449) (9.5 - - (902,449) (9.7)
Effect of tax rate change on T R 2 B) Y HR ) IR
opening deferred tax ERIBZ & (354) = = = (354) -
Effect of tax rate change on TR B E) Y IR IE R
deferred tax BZRE 2,720 = = - 2,720 -
Adjustments in respect of HLAEEME 2 B
current tax of previous i I8 A 3 =&
periods 6,959 0.1 (314) 1.5 6,645 0.1
Profits and losses FE(GHE & | 2 A
attributable to associates R E R (537) - (773) 3.8 (1,310) -
Income not subject to tax 078 8 WA (8,022) (0.1) - - (8,022) (0.1)
Expenses not deductible for 7~ 8] 1 % B 5%
tax 13,053 0.1 - - 13,053 0.1
Tax incentives on eligible EERAZ Z2MB
expenditures B= (67,684) (0.7) = = (67,684) (0.7)
Tax losses utilised from BALAHE M
previous periods HE 18 (16,681) (0.2) (2,043) 10.0 (18,724) (0.2)
Tax losses not recognised RERZHRIBESE 13,942 0.1 292 (1.4) 14,234 0.2
Deductible temporary RERZANBE
differences BrEEFHE
not recognised, net 2,226 - 9,395 (45.9) 11,621 0.1
Tax charge at the Group'’s BRAEEBERB X
effective rate HE2HEYH 1,397,051 14.8 502 (2.4) 1,397,553 14.8
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2010

10. INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

B 15 4R %= B o (7&)
—F-FE+SH=f A

10. Fﬁ TEE (m§)

Group — 2009 FRE—-BBNF
Mainland China Elsewhere Total
alEilapi H [ B
RMB'000 % RMB'000 % RMB'000 %
AREBTTT ARBTTT ARBTT
Profit before tax R 54 B ) 4,699,740 (20,496) 4,679,244
Tax at the statutory tax rate ¥ EE M K&
Z 1A 1,174,935 25.0 (5,774) 28.2 1,169,161 25.0
Preferential tax rate or BEHERLESL
concessions (436,841) 9.3) = = (436,841) (9.3)
Effect of tax rate change on  Fif = & &) ¥ Hi 9]
opening deferred tax REFRIA 2 2 8,462 0.2 - - 8,462 0.2
Adjustments in respect of H LA IR 2 B HER
current tax of previous i I8 Hh 3 &
periods (7,027) (0.1) = = (7,027) (0.2)
Profits and losses attributable & {5 — 2% 3£ [A] 4% &l
to a jointly-controlled entity & 82 & B & A 7
and associates Z FHE R EE 655 - (390) 19 265 -
Income not subject to tax A WA (20,560) (0.4) - - (20,560) (0.4)
Expenses not deductible for T Al 0% B 2
tax 20,569 0.4 8,428 41.1) 28,997 0.6
Tax incentives on eligible EERAZIZBH
expenditures BE (28,062) (0.6) - - (28,062) (0.6)
Tax losses utilised from BANAHE M
previous periods I8 &5 18 (6,465) 0.1) - - (6,465) (0.1)
Tax losses not recognised AERZTHRIBEE 1,914 - 6,249 (30.5) 8,163 0.2
Deductible temporary REER 2 O] E
differences =8 FH8
not recognised, net 550 - 15,737 (76.8) 16,287 0.3
Tax charge at the Group's BRASEERBX
effective rate HEHEYH 708,130 15.1 24,250 (118.3) 732,380 15.7
The share of tax attributable to a jointly-controlled entity and associates —XHEBZEFERBRBEE QA ENLZ

amounting to RMB Nil (2009: RMB578,000) and RMB1,743,000 (2009:
RMB272,000), respectively, is included in “Share of profits and losses of
a jointly-controlled entity and associates”

statement.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) B ¥% R R Bit 5% (£8)

31st December, 2010 —E—ZTFf+_HA=+—H
11. PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE 11. 8 a#EB AEIGTE

PARENT

The consolidated profit attributable to owners of the parent for the year
ended 31 December 2010 includes a profit of RMB5,763,349,000 (2009:
RMB2,828,588,000) which has been dealt with in the financial
statements of the Company (note 36(b)).

12. DIVIDENDS 12.

Proposed final — RMB 0.43 (2009: RMB 0.48)  ## kK & HA R B—F& I & @ A%
per ordinary share ARB0MBT(ZZEZNF:
AR#0.487T)

HE-_ZTZ—ZF+_A=T—HILHF
E -BRARBEAEBGZAEFBEEA
R 5,763,349,000c (ZZE T NF : AR
#%2,828,588,000 T ) &) A B B B AN A 7]
B 7% 3R % 50 BR (Y 5E 36(b)) °

R
2010 2009
—g-%% “EINE
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARBTR
716,419 399,862

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the approval of the
Company'’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 13.
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of basic earnings per share amounts is based on the
profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the
year, as adjusted to reflect the bonus issue during the year ended 31
December 2010.

No diluted earnings per share amounts have been presented for the
years ended 31 December 2010 and 2009 as no diluting events existed
during these years.

AEERERBREAFTARARR
RGBT ZBRRBFRE LHLE-

ISYNCIE 25 AR ST = DN LESTi
Bifl
EREARFNEGBNRES AL
HE 2 558 A B A5 AR R B A R
ERTEBERZ MEFHENE HE
BERBE_T—TF+-A=+—
B L4 2 AR fE R e S o

HREBE_ZFT-—ZFR_ZFZTILF
TZRA=+t-"BLFERATFEEE
=M ALY EZ2NZEFEZERE
BEMEE -

2010 2009
—E-ZfF —TTNEF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T ARBTT
Earnings 2 F
Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders ARETESREXRREF
of the Parent used in the basic earnings per ZEBREEBERFEAEA
share calculation J& {5 F1) H 6,780,935 3,406,935
Shares iz 43
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in 8 73 5t & & I & 7K & F
issue during the year used in the basic ZFRNEBEITERRKR
earnings per share calculation Z INFE 15 8 1,666,092 1,666,092
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2010

14,

146

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Group

14, Yn%E -~ 3 R25%
AEE

Cost K&
At 1 January 2010 RZZF-Z£-f—H 814,198 2,780,476 34,709 7,352,006 251,698 273,935 44,665 11,551,687
Additions FE 1871529 334,056 17932 256,300 38,674 26,767 20563 2,565,821
Contribution from a EERBRELE
non-controlling shareholder 12,135 - - 18,040 99 - - 30,274
Transfers 83 (1,463,265) 303,706 - 1,074,490 69,695 15,374 - -
Disposals & - (12,293) - (200,901) (8,389) (14,886) (2,829) (239,298)
Exchange realignment EHAE - (89) - (931) 6) (90) (399) (1512)
At 31 December 2010 R-E-2%
+-A=+-H 1,234,597 3,405,856 52,641 8,499,004 351,774 301,100 62,000 13,906,972
Accumulated depreciation and 2 47 & ¥ &
impairment
At T January 2010 R-F-2£-A-H 3801 328762 13779 2886797 151517 141,8% 19324 35113876
Depreciation provided during the 4 212 > 4 &
year - 124,405 18,579 1,008,296 100,772 56,571 8,848 1,317,471
Disposals e - (2,200) - (179,462) (6,705) (11,912) (406) (200,685)
Exchange realignment ERBE = (65) = (140) @ (19) (141) (367)
At 31 December 2010 R-E-E%&
+=ZA=+-H 3,801 450,902 32,358 3,675,491 251,582 186,536 21,625 4,628,295
Net carrying amount B @ /5}5 {E
At 31 December 2010 R-ZE-%F
+-A=+-H 1,230,796 2,954,954 20283 4,823,513 100,192 114,564 34,375 9,278,677
At 1 January 2010 W-E—ZE
et = 810,397 2,451,714 20,930 4,505,209 94,181 132,039 25,341 8,039,811

WEICHAI PowerR Co., LTD.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2010

14, PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 14, ¥R RREGE)
Group xEH

Cost B
At 1 January 2009 R-ZZZNE-A—H 691,521 2,182,859 21,574 6,250,799 216,380 251,286 19,950 9,640,369
Additions NE 1,494,771 5935 7,135 164,726 13,196 19,050 22,163 1,726,976
Business combination ZBAH = 62,237 - 14,882 - 614 5,988 83,721
Contribution from a FERBRELE
non-controlling shareholder 31,092 122,942 - 108,498 285 7,948 1,032 271,797
Transfers B (1,403,186) 447,151 - 914,376 35,803 5,643 213 -
Disposals HE - (14,258) = (48,015) (12,401) (8,692) (,681) (88,047)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-RKBAR - (25.971) - (51,901) (1,514) (1,899) - (81,285)
Exchange realignment ER#E - (#19) - (1,359) (51) (15) - (1,844)
At 31 December 2009 R-ZBENE
+-A=+-H 814,198 2,780,476 34,709 7,352,006 251,698 273,935 44665 11,551,687
Accumulated depreciation and 23 47 & KR E
impairment
At 1 January 2009 RZZENE-A—H 3,801 238,902 10,687 2,231,637 104,579 119,397 10,413 2,719,416
Business combination EHRAH - 2,282 - 1,533 - 38 460 4313
Depreciation provided during ~ FR &R Z T E
the year - 97,413 3,092 669,950 64,012 29,194 10,372 874,033
Disposals HE = @,175) = (31,144) (10,133) (5,495) (1,921) (52,868)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-FHBAA - (6,076) - (26,266) (958) (1,245) - (34,545)
Exchange realignment EHEE - 416 - 1,087 17 7 - 1,527
At 31 December 2009 RZZENE
+-R=t+—-H 3,801 328,762 13,779 2,846,797 157,517 141,89 19,324 3,511,876
Net carrying amount R % E
At 31 December 2009 RZFENE
+-A=t+—-H 810,397 2,451,114 20,930 4,505,209 94,181 132,039 25,341 8,039,811
At 1 January 2009 RZZZhE—-A—H 687,720 1,943,957 16,887 4,019,162 111,801 131,889 9,537 6,920,953
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2010

14, PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 14, ¥k EGEE)
Company PN

Cost KA
At 1 January 2010 RZZ-T4-f—H 499,084 1,173,554 - 1,280,043 222,850 84,498 11,576 3,271,605
Additions NE 542,037 - - 13,929 49 54 2,310 558,379
Transfers P (431,816) 34,087 - 362,342 24,013 11,374 - -
Disposals HE = (1,210) = (60,078) (3,459) (9,033) = (73,780)
At 31 December 2010 R-ZE-ZF
+-R=t+-H 609,305 1,206,431 - 1,596,236 243,453 86,893 13,886 3,756,204
Accumulated depreciation and 23t & BRI E
impairment
At 1 January 2010 W-_2-2F-f—-H - 168,716 - 635,525 124,724 54,171 11,034 994,170
Depreciation provided during £ AR 27 E
the year - 57,643 - 256,395 34,092 14,035 736 362,901
Disposals HE - (398) - (49,361) (2,819 (7,208) - (59,786)
At 31 December 2010 R-ZZE-ZF
+-R=+—-H - 225,961 - 842,559 155,997 60,998 11,770 1,297,285
Net carrying amount RE R E
At 31 December 2010 RZZ-2F
+-A=t+—-H 609,305 980,470 - 753,677 87,456 25,895 2,116 2,458,919
At 1 January 2010 RZE-Z5-fA—H 499,084 1,004,838 - 644,518 98,126 30,327 502 2,277,435
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14, PROPERTY,

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2010

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT(CONTINUED)

Bt 5 4R = Bif o (#&)
s L

14, m%”ﬁf&%ﬁ& fﬁ(mﬁ)

Company VNS
Leasehold Computer
Construction improve- Plantand  equipment Motor Other
in progress Buildings ments  machinery  and fixtures vehicles  equipment Total
BEN% EER  EMRE
ERIR g7 xE w5 RETEE RE EBR Ch
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR AREBTR
Cost KA
At 1 January 2009 R-_ZENE-F—H 161,116 1,008,605 = 1,101,363 189,879 82,957 8,958 2,552,878
Additions NE 705,315 = = 11,586 3,623 2,346 2,618 725,488
Transfers B (367,347) 164,949 = 169,550 30,898 1,950 - -
Disposals & - - - (2,456) (1,550) (2,755) = (6,761)
At 31 December 2009 RZEZNF
+-A=t+—-H 499,084 1,173,554 = 1,280,043 222,850 84,498 11,576 3,271,605
Accumulated depreciation and 2347 & R F
impairment
At 1 January 2009 “ZTNE-A—-H = 115,459 = 497,258 86,949 43,932 5787 749,385
Depreciation provided during the E Nl ZIME
year - 53,257 - 139,676 39,164 12172 5247 249,516
Disposals HE > = = (1,409) (1,389) (1,933) - (4.731)
At 31 December 2009 RZZEZnE
+-R=t+—H = 168,716 = 635,525 124,724 54171 11,034 994,170
Net carrying amount REFE
At 31 December 2009 RZZBENE
+-A=t+—8H 499,084 1,004,838 - 644,518 98,126 30,327 542 2,277,435
At 1 January 2009 RZZEZh&—-A—H 161,116 893,146 - 604,105 102,930 39,025 317 1,803,493
As at 31 December 2010, certain buildings, machinery and motor RZE—ZFTFE+_A=1+—"H &&

vehicles of the Group with a net book value of approximately
RMB24,937,000 (2009: RMB88,273,000) were pledged to secure
general banking facilities granted to the Group (note 33).

As at 31 December 2010, the Group had not obtained the real estate
certificates for buildings with a total gross area of approximately
606,000 square meters (2009: 541,000 square meters) and a net book
value of RMB1,681,414,000 (2009: RMB1,256,392,000).

The Group was in the process of applying for the real estate certificates
for the aforesaid buildings with a gross area of approximately 590,000
square meters (2009: 385,000 square meters) and a net book value of
approximately RMB1,652,208,000 (2009: RMB1,022,175.000) as at 31
December 2010.

2R mFEELO A R 24,937,000
(ZZTZTNF: AR%S88,273,0007T) 2 &
FTEF HEREE UIEAREEE

B—RIBTEEMERMESS) -
RZE

—ZEFE+_HA=+—H A&KH

i 2R Bh 48 T & 49606,000F K (ZEE

L% : 541,000 7 K

) REREFER A

R #1,681,414000L(ZZEZNF: AR
#1,256,392,000 ) 2 EF RIS FEE °

RZE—

ZEFE+_A=+—H A&EH
1E £ 3t E #it 48 ™ F& 49590,000 F 75 K

(=

T A, 4 : 385,000 oK) & BR E R (E
# A R #1,652,208,000C(Z B E h £ :
A K #1,022,175.0007T ) 2 ¥ = B 35

EE e
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2010

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

15. IREWM*E

Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—BZEEE 83,668 80,663
Additions NE 77,405 7,638
Disposals a5 = (1,028)
Depreciation provided during the year FRNFFIRZITE (11,261) (3,605)
Carrying amount at 31 December R+t=ZA=+—BZEEAEE 149,812 83,668

The Group's investment properties are situated in Mainland China and
are held under short term leases.

The investment properties are depreciated on the straight-line basis over
their useful lives.

Further particulars of the Group's investment properties are as follows:

AEBENREVELRNFTEABILT R
BEMEEANRE -

BREMETDNERZZAERFHA
BIE-

AEBREMEZE-—FHBOT

Jinwei Industrial Park, Economic Technique
& Development District, Xi'an

ARRERMAZRKETLXE

Industrial & office building
ITERPRERTF

No. 39, North Xinfu Road, Xi'an
7 & = fR b B 395%

Industrial building
TH2F

East Yuanbaopin Road, Tianjin

RERMHIGEF RBERA

Industrial building
ITERZT
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) a1 5 IR
31st December, 2010 T FEf

/

16. PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS 16. F&{T 1T ihiA S FRIB

Carrying amount at 1 January ®W— A —HZEHEE 592,024 298,241 295,553 115,878
Additions NE 167,571 206,293 95,664 185,347
Business combination EX 3 - 5,411 - =
Contribution from a —RIEERRREEE
non-controlling shareholder - 93,520 - -
Recognised during the year FRNER (14,605) (11,441) (6,408) (5,672)
Carrying amount R+=ZA=+—H2
at 31 December IR 744,990 592,024 384,809 295,553
Current portion Bl HA 2B 17 (15,699) (14,455) (6,402) (6,402)
Non-current portion 3k BN HA 76t 729,291 577,569 378,407 289,151
The leasehold land is held under a long term lease and is situated in ME LT AR E A IR % & 5
Mainland China. HEGORE -
As at 31 December 2010, certain leasehold land of the Group with a net R-E—ZTF+_F=+—H K&
book value of approximately RMB58,278,000 (2009: RMB85,724,000) B 1 BR HOF E 89 A K % 58,278,000 7T
was pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group ZEZTNF AR¥85,724,00070) 2 &
(note 33). THELH UERAEEER —RR

TEEMRERMIEIS) -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2010

17. GooDWILL 17. BHE

Cost and carrying amount B 7R & BR E B
At 1 January and 31 December of the year R—A—HK
+=—A=+—H 538,016 538,016
The carrying amount of goodwill at 31 December 2010 and 2009 was RZE—ZTFRZTETNLF+ A
related to the following cash generating units: =+—8" Pﬁ EREELETIRESE
A=l

Automobiles and other major automobile REREMEZFET MG
components 538,016 538,016
Particulars regarding impairment testing on goodwill are detailed in note 19. AP ERENR ZFBEHNMT19 -
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31st December, 2010

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

18. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

B ¥% ¥R % Bif 5 (48)

—F-FE A=t 0

18, Hthf@iIZ &=

Group REHE
Trademarks Technologies Total
5 i a5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR TR AR TR
(note i) (note ii)
(B =E i) (Bff = i)
31 December 2010 —E—ZEF+-_A=+—H
Cost at 1 January 2010, net of R=ZE—EF—HF—H
accumulated amortisation Z A (E Mk Rt #8R) 210,589 91,782 302,371
Additions NE - 3,004 3,004
Contribution from JEERBELE
non-controlling shareholders - 478 478
Disposal & - (700) (700)
Amortisation provided during the £ (A &t 38 7 6 4
year - (16,623) (16,623)
At 31 December 2010 R-E—ZEF+_-_A=+—H 210,589 77,941 288,530
At 31 December 2010: RZEBE—ZEFE+-A=+—8:
Cost B AR 220,961 408,925 629,886
Accumulated amortisation E (10,372) (330,984) (341,356)
Net carrying amount BR M E 210,589 77,941 288,530
31 December 2009 —ETNF+ZA=+—H
Cost at 1 January 2009, net of RZZEZENF—H—H
accumulated amortisation ZRRA(E M 218 8) 203,089 68,638 271,727
Additions nE - 29,409 29,409
Contributions from a —ZFERRELE
non-controlling shareholder 7,500 9,060 16,560
Amortisation provided during the £ (A 5t 38 2 #6 45
year - (15,325) (15,325)
At 31 December 2009 R-_EENF+_A=+—H 210,589 91,782 302,371
At 31 December 2009: R-_ZEZAF+_A=+—8:
Cost Bk ZX 220,961 408,602 629,563
Accumulated amortisation B (10,372) (316,820) (327,192)
Net carrying amount BREFE 210,589 91,782 302,371
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18. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

154

A ¥% ¥R b5 (48)

—F-FE+SH=f A

Company ZlK AT
Trademarks Technologies Total
L= il &5t
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR®B T AR® T
(note i) (note ii)
(B &Ei) (Bt &£ ii)
31 December 2010 —E—ETE+=-A=+—8H
Cost at 1 January 2010, net of R=ZFE—ZFF—H—H
accumulated amortisation ZERA(BHG 258 108,892 586 109,478
Additions NE - - -
Amortisation provided during the  4E A 5 42 > # 4%
year - (108) (108)
At 31 December 2010 R-E—ZFE+_-_H=+—H 108,892 478 109,370
At 31 December 2010: R-ZE—ZFFE+_-_A=+—8:
Cost B AR 119,264 21,764 141,028
Accumulated amortisation 2 51 8 (10,372) (21,286) (31,658)
Net carrying amount R FE 108,892 478 109,370
31 December 2009 —ETNFF+ZA=+—H
Cost at 1 January 2009, net of —EENFE—H—H
accumulated amortisation Z AR (S B Rt # ) 108,892 584 109,476
Additions NE - 2 2
Amortisation provided during the £ A 5148 2 & 4
year - - -
At 31 December 2009 R-ZEZEAF+_A=+—H 108,892 586 109,478
At 31 December 2009; RZEZNRE+_A=+—8H
Cost AKX 7K 119,264 21,764 141,028
Accumulated amortisation 2 =t 3 (10,372) (21,178) (31,550)
Net carrying amount BREFE 108,892 586 109,478
Notes: B &t -
(i) The trademarks are renewable every 10 years at minimal cost. The directors of (i) BEETFAERBRAERE — K- LA A

(if)

WEICHAI PowWwER Co., LTD.

the Company are of the opinion that the Group has both the intention and
ability to renew the trademarks continuously. As a result, the useful life of the
trademarks is considered by the management of the Group as indefinite because
the trademarks are expected to contribute to the Group ' s net cash inflows
indefinitely. The trademarks will not be amortised until their useful life is
determined to be finite. Instead the trademarks will be tested for impairment
annually and whenever there is an indication that they may be impaired.
Particulars of the impairment testing are disclosed in note 19.

Technologies represented manufacturing know-how, which have definite useful

lives. These technologies are amortised on the straight-line basis over eight to
ten years.

R NBRMNERAT

E%iﬁifﬁ AEEEEABRITHE
BEAXERE Bl A EBERAKABA
%léiﬁfﬁéﬁﬁéﬁgﬁ Bt KEEE

T2 [ 38 r3 ik SR IR HE A K A AT (& A AF e

BIFZF B FE

AERFHREERE
ﬁE Tﬁ/Tﬁiéﬁf%%fﬁ iﬁfi A 1% 5’@

=R //i@@ Hféftni/ﬁﬂ/fﬁafi%}%’sé

(i) RAMIEHEE B R AT EHF 2 R EFA -
ZERMIAE S EESE

104F A # 8 -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2010

19, IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL AND 19.

B ¥% ¥R % Bif 5 (48)

—F-FE A=t 0

TRADEMARKS WITH INDEFINITE USEFUL LIVES

As explained in note 4, the Group is organised into business units based
on their products and services. For the purpose of impairment testing,
goodwill and trademarks with indefinite useful lives have been allocated
to two individual cash generating units as below (CGUs), including
manufacturing and sale of diesel engines and related parts ("CGU A")
and automobile and major automobile components other than diesel
engines ("CGU B"). The carrying amounts of goodwill and trademarks
(net of accumulated impairment losses) as at 31 December 2010
allocated to these units are as follows:

HME KX AERAFH2EHER
3 i 3 170 {2l 5
AMMEA L AEBRBEEER R
RBEDREBEN - BT ETRER
HEEKAAERAFHIEERER
ESRFNTREBINREELS
MORSELEN)  BIELERBEL
MERARERE(RSELBEMAD
ARAERB AN EBTERH
HIREELEMBD R -F—FF
+-A=t+-B ESEZERSEMZ
BEREREAEGR R AEER)
mE

Goodwill Trademarks
e i

2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-BF _TTNF =B-BF C"TTHF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR®TrT AR¥ETR ARETT
CGU A BEELEBEMA - = 116,392 116,392
CGU B e EEEMB 538,016 538,016 94,197 94,197
538,016 538,016 210,589 210,589

The basis of the recoverable amounts of the above CGUs and their major
underlying assumptions are summarised below:

CGU A

The recoverable amount of this unit has been determined based on a
value in use calculation. That calculation uses cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by management covering a five-
year period, and a discount rate of 13.36% (2009: 14.4%). CGU A’s
cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated with no growth
rate for both years. Other key assumptions for the value in use
calculations relate to the estimation of cash inflows/outflows which
include budgeted sales and gross margin, whose estimation is based on
the unit's past performance and management’s expectations for the
market development.

PR EELEFEML 2 NE S EFE
EERETEHBERKBMMT

HEEEEMNA

WEM A kB BIHREFERBER
HEEET R EFERABRSEEEA
(REEEEMEZSFHYRESZ) K
1336% (=TT NLF : 14.4%) 2 BH3F =
METE ReELEBEMARSFHAEELZ
ReREBEFTDERZ M EFE &1L
ReBEAE-FREBFEECEHM
FTER{|EBESRA L2 ENE
EEEHEELEMN BER % FEA
DIRBZEMcATREREREY
MGBER CTEHAMET -
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1),

20.

156

IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL AND
TRADEMARKS WITH INDEFINITE USEFUL LIVES
(CONTINUED)

CGUB

The recoverable amount of this unit has been determined based on a
value in use calculation. That calculation uses cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by management covering a five-
year period, and a discount rate of 13.05% (2009: 11.6%). CGU B’s
cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated with no growth
for both years. Other key assumptions for the value in use calculations
relate to the estimation of cash inflows/outflows which include budgeted
sales and gross margin, whose estimation is based on the unit's past
performance and management’s expectations for the market
development.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Unlisted investments, at cost ELEMEE BRREE

B 15 4R %= B o (7&)
—F-FE+SH=f A

19,

20.

HEBXKXJEHFHcBEER
8 I 3& 17 3R 1B 381 5 (48)

ReEELEMB

fEzAKEBSBB O REEAEE
HEEAEE i EFERABEESREEA
(REEEEBHEZSFHIRBE) R
13.05% (ZZFTZLF : 11.6%) 2 BH 37 =
MET REELEEUBRSFHEE 2
ReneBad ERZMEFEEER
ZREETE B e EEEMBRSF A M
“BZBEESREEG HERZM EFE &
HEZBEFTE - FHEEFEEZE
thEZBRZEBESARARHZTER(E
FEREHEEBELREN BH ZEEA
DIREBEZEMcBATRAREREEY
MEBEERCEAMEE -

RIEB LB 2RE

2010 2009
—E-ZfF —TENE
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ TR ARETF T
5,044,514 4,432,812

WEICHAI POoWER Co., LTD. L #NHBRNDBERLAD



31st December, 2010

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Weichai Power (Weifang) Spare
Part Resources Co., Ltd.

HEH AN BRERERAR

Weichai Power (Weifang)
Qil Co., Ltd.
BN OES) MmARR A

Weichai Power (Weifang)
Intensive Logistics Co., Ltd.

HRH AN EOREERAA

Weichai Power (Weifang)
Casting Co., Ltd.
HEENES)ERER DA

Weichai Power (Weifang)
Reconstruction Co., Ltd.

AR (AT BREFRAF

Shaanxi Heavy-Duty-Automotive
Co., Ltd.
RAEERNTEBRAA

Tianjin Tiangua Automotive Co., Ltd.

RETABEFERDA

PRC
i

PRC
i

PRC

hE

PRC
i

PRC
3

PRC
e

PRC
E

20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

RMB89,796
AR ®89,7%

RMB10,000
AR#10,000

RMB20,000
AR#20,000

RMB20,000
AE%20,000

RMB30,000
AR #30,000

RMB1,706,330
AEK1,706,330

RMB11,760
AR%11,760

= =

,,.#~**""‘-‘—f

20. MRKFBER B RE(E)
FENBARZFHBOT

100.00 - Manufacture and trading of
diesel engines and related
spare parts

HERBEERAKRAEH
i3

100.00 - Trading of lubricant
oil products

BEERRAER

52.00 - Provision of warehouse
management services

RUAEERRG

100.00 - Manufacture and
trading of cast products

HEREEBEER

100.00 - Reconstruction of
automotive components

BRENET RN

51.00 - Manufacture and
trading of heavy duty
trucks and related
automotive components

R EHED RE RN
RERH

Manufacture
and sale of trailers
and tractors

HERBERSE R

= 26.01
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20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 20. MNMBLS) 2IRE ()

Tianjin Xinming Automotive PRC RMB1,000 - 26.01 Trading of automotive
Commercial Co., Ltd. wh A1 000 components
REFAAEHEERLA BERETHH
Shaanxi Hande Axle Co., Ltd. PRC RMB320,000 3.06 47.94 Manufacture and
REZEEFFRAA i AER320,000 sale of motor vehicles
' and related automotive
components
EEHEREREBAET
Ets
Shaanxi Jinding Casting Co., Ltd. PRC RMB35,360 - 51.00 Manufacture and
REESEEFARAA i ARH35,360 trading of cast products
EEREESEER
Shaanxi Heavy Duty Automotive PRC RMB10,000 - 51.00 Provision of import
Import & Export Co., Ltd. m ARE10.000 and export services
RAERREELOFRAA ' L
Shaanxi Fast Gear Co., Ltd. PRC RMB256,790 51.00 - Manufacture and
REZTHEREREERA i AR#256790 trading of automotive
' components
HERBEAETHH
Baoji Fast Gear Co., Ltd. PRC RMB30,000 2.55 48.45 Manufacture and
BRI RFERERAEERA i ARHE30,000 trading of gears and
related automotive
components
EEREESEHREEAE
T
Xi'an Fast Auto Drive Co., Ltd. PRC RMB134,700 - 51.00 Trading of motor
ARETRABEEHERAA hE ARHE134,700 vehicles and related

automotive components

BEABEREBIETEH
Shaanxi Fast Gear Sales Co., Ltd. PRC RMB1,000 - 51.00 Trading of automotive
BARETHEREEERAA i ARHE1 000 components

BERBETIM
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) a1 5 IR
31st December, 2010 —E—FF -

20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 20. MBI 2IRE(GB)

Shaanxi Fast Gear Spare Parts PRC RMB3,000 = 51.00 Provision of import
Import & Export Co., Ltd. wh A3 000 and export services

RAZTHSETHHELD ! ST O RS
BRA A

Zhuzhou Gear Co., Ltd. PRC RMB331,315 82.15 - Trading of motor

HWNEBBEREERA HE AR#331,315 vehicles and related

automotive components

BEENERARAIETHMN

Zhuzhou Wande Forging Co., Ltd. PRC RMB5,000 - 82.15 Manufacture and
KNEEERERAEELA i AEHS 000 sale of motor vehicles and
' related automotive
components
EEHERERERAET
s
Zhuzhou Euro Grace Gear Automotive PRC RMB50,000 - 73.94 Trading of automotive
Transmission Co., Ltd. th AR50,000 components
KN R EDROERA A BEAETHMH
Dongfeng Off-road Vehicle Co., Ltd. PRC RMB155,000 60.00 - Manufacture
REBHEERAA I AR™155 000 and trading of vehicles
' and related automotive
components
EEREEAEREEAE
T
Shiyan Amor Coating PRC RMB2,200 = 60.00 Coating and sale of
Technology Co., Ltd. mh AR 200 automotive components
TETEFRBERMERR A BEMTRHEET R
Zhuzhou Torch Sparkplugs Co., Ltd. PRC RMB196,000 100.00 - Manufacture and
HMNEAEAEEEREMA A h ARH196,000 trading of spark plugs
HERBEENEE
MAT Automotive Inc. USA USD131 100.00 = Import and sale of
MAT Automotive Inc. 26 %7131 automotive components
A RS TET R
Torch Import & Export Co., Ltd. PRC RMB30,000 100.00 - Provision of import
NEELABREERA h AR#30,000 and export services
RAE AR
Zhuzhou Torch Machinery PRC RMB142,263 100.00 = Trading of automotive
Manufacturing Co., Ltd. m ARE142 263 components
WNRNERRREBREELA BESETIH¢E
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31st December, 2010

20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 20. MNMBLS) 2IRE ()

Zhuzhou Torch Property PRC RMB13,120 94.66 5.34 Provision of property
Development Co., Ltd. H AEE13.120 development
KNKERHEREEREMTRAA ' B E W E R IR
Zhuzhou Torch Auto Sealing Co., Ltd. PRC RMB20,420 100.00 - Trading of automotive
HIRAEREZHEREMEA A i AR20,420 components
BEEAETHM
Zhuzhou Torch Auto Lighting Co., Ltd. PRC RMB31,000 100.00 - Trading of automotive
HWHRAEAERAEEREERA hE ARME31.000 components
BEAETHM
Mudanjiang Futong Automotive PRC RMB 121,050 59.84 - Manufacture and
Air Conditioner Co., Ltd. 53 ARE121 050 trading of automotive
HAIERAEERAERAA ' components
EEREEAETHM
Xinjiang Machinery Equipment PRC RMB20,000 100.00 = Provision of export
Import & Export Co., Ltd. s AR#20,000 and import services
HEBRRRBELOARAF ' 2t O RS
Shanghai He Da Auto PRC USD4,248 75.00 - Trading of automotive
Accessory Co., Ltd. th %7448 components
LEMERERGEARAA ' EE ST
Weichai Power (Shanghai) PRC RMB300,000 100.00 - Investment
Technology Development Co., Ltd. m AE#300 000 Ba
#58 N (EBHRERERAA ' .
Weichai Power Yangzhou PRC RMB300,000 - 80.00 Manufacture and
Diesel Engine Co., Ltd. AE#300 000 trading of diesel engines
HEBAEMEARERETAR i ' and related spare parts
EEREEHE AR
f#
Weichai Power (Chongging) PRC RMB200,000 100.00 - Development and
Western Development Co., Ltd. AR#200,000 management of
HEBN(EBE)ADERERAA i ' industrialisation of high

and new technology
products, investment
and management
consulting service

BIRIEROERLFRE
LERE REREEHA
R
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) B ¥% R R Bit 5% (£8)
31st December, 2010 —FE—FTFF_HA=1—H

20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 20. NIIBLrEIREE

Percentage of equity

attributable to
Place of the Company
incorporation/ FLARERE
registration and Registered BAL
Name operations capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
AL
£ HEREEH ZfBREA EHEREE HEEF IEEH
(in '000)
(A F mat)
Chongging Jialing Chuanjiang PRC RMB80,000 = 80.00 Manufacture and
Vehicles manufacturing Co., Ltd. A AR#80,000 trading of automobile
BEEMER)IIAELEFERAA and related automotive
components
HERBEEAERIERAE
Tt
Weichai Power (Hong Kong) Hong Kong UsD26,575 100.00 - Investment
International Development Co., Ltd. e %7126,575 ®E
HEHN(EBEEERERERAA
Siciété International France EUR21,626 - 100.00 Manufacture and
des Moteurs Baudouin EB BIo21,626 trading of diesel engines
FEEEZEH NER AR HEREELHE
Shandong Synergy Oil Co., Ltd. PRC USD3,000 46.00 2.60 Trading of spare parts
WREERRERA A HE 213,000 BEHENF
Baoding Shangi Tianma Co., Ltd. PRC RMB40,000 = 26.01 R&D and trading of
RERAXRSSEERA A H AEH40,000 heavy-duty trucks
HEREESETRE
Chongging Light-duty-Automotive PRC RMB300,000 51.00 40.80 Trading of automotive
Co., Ltd. e AE£300,000 components
EEEIKESEFRARA BEAETHM
Weichai Power (Beijing) International PRC RMB300,000 100.00 - Investment
Resource Investment Co., Ltd. H AR#300,000 "E
HEHHNDR)BBRERRE
BRAA
DIESEL MARIN MAROC Morocco AED200 - 100.00 Manufacture and
DIESEL MARIN MAROC FE %5 200 trading of diesel engines
HEREELHE
Note: Except for Zhuzhou Euro Grace Gear Automotive Transmission Co., Ltd. is a non- T O BHRMNEEEEER G ER A G AL
listing joint stock company, all the other subsidiaries are companies with limited THERHBBERANGIS  EMHE NG EHEE
liabilities. REMLRF -
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the RN EER AV AERRNEEEXER
directors, principally affected the results for the year or formed a substantial portion EEEZESANEEEEFETEHAK
of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the DHARTNBAT - EERE BHEEM
opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length. EBAFFEeEHhERBRTTE-
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2010

21. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 21, RBBELTIRE

Unlisted shares, at cost EEMRRA - RIRE - - 262,031 49,461
Share of net assets B EEFE 920,977 172,844 - =
920,977 172,844 262,031 49,461
Provision for impairment VB 18 B (285) (285) - =
920,692 172,559 262,031 49,461

Particulars of the principal associates are as follows: FEBMERAAZFRBOAT :

Shanghai Xinlian Chuangye RMB 150,000 PRC 33.33 Investment holding
Investment Co., Ltd. AE#150,000 A company
FBBMAEREBRAA REZERDA
Weichai Westport Inc. USD1,854 PRC 40 Manufacture
HEBNABCER) R REDRER DA 711,854 HE and sale of gas
refrigerators
S RHERBHLH
Shanzhong Finance Leasing Co., Ltd. RMB920,000 PRC 29.54 Finance leasing
LWEREHEARAA AR#920,000 HE of heavy machines
and commercial vehicles
AR EEER KA
L]
Shaanxi Eurostar Auto Co., Ltd. RMB114,954 PRC 16.86 Manufacture and
REBRFHEAEROGERR A ANERE114,954 HE sale of vehicle
chassis and products
EERHEERENIEE
Edm
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

21. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

—FE—=F

=

=

¢ |

21. REL T IRERE)

Shaanxi Tonghui Automotive
Transportation Co., Ltd.
REBEIEDRERDA

Xian Cummics Engine Co., Ltd.

Az ERSEYHARA A

CIMC-SHAC (Xi'an) Special Vehicles Co., Ltd.
FERAEREREAEERAT

Shaanxi Longmen Shangji
Logistics Park Co., Ltd.
REEMARTDREERR A

Shaanxi Fuping Shanqi
Logistics Park Co., Ltd.
REEFRADREERAR

Shaanxi-Wuhai New Power
Special Vehicles Co., Ltd.
RASEHEFRERTEERAA

Laizhou Luyuan Automotive Fitting Co., Ltd.
EMNEBRAERMABRAR

Dalian Hongyuan Machinery
Manufacturing Co., Ltd.
AEBRERHEBFRAF

RMB10,000
AR¥%10,000

USD24,000
27524,000

RMB50,000
AR#50,000

RMB 30,000

AK#30,000

RMB 20,000
AE#20,000

RMB 69,700
AR#69,700

RMB37,930
AK®37,930

USD13,280
37013,280

PRC
i

PRC
i

PRC
R

PRC

hE

PRC
£

PRC
i

PRC
i

PRC
i

20.40

12.75

12.75

15.30

20.40

22.83

25.00

41.40

Manufacture

and sale of vehicle
chassis and products

EERHETERENIEE
Em

Manufacture and
sale of diesel motors
and spare parts

FERHEAR AT

Manufacture and
sale of special car
trailers and spare parts
EERHESRTHERE
%

Sales and after
service of vehicles

NEHERERRY

Sales and after
service of vehicles

NEHE RERRY

Manufacture of and
trading of heavy
trucks using natural gas

BERBERARRE

Manufacture and
sale of vehicle
chassis and products
EERHEAEREREE
Em

Trading of automotive

components
BEAETHMT
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31st December, 2010

21,

22.

164

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 21, RBERTZIRERE)
The following table illustrates the summarised financial information of TRITESHEBAEAE BB S QT BB
the Group'’s associates extracted from their financial statements: BEVHEERBE

Assets BE 5,108,000 1,299,336
Liabilities =R 2,547,487 742,501
Revenue A 2,011,141 766,444
Profit/(Loss) B (E18) 26,875 (26,993)
AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS 22. OJftHEKRSE

Listed equity investments, at MR AR E -

fair value: BRAFEE:
Mainland China AR A 489,212 385,997 485,600 381,000
Unlisted equity investments — 3F F W iR A % & 146,826 91,433 - -
636,038 477,430 485,600 381,000
During the year, the gross gain in respect of the Group’s available-for- RNEE REMBEW AR HEARE
sale investments recognised in other comprehensive income amounted ErfthERERBHNARKZ LA
to RMB402,748,000 (2009: RMB289,255,000). R #402,748,000c(Z—ZEZ N F: A K
% 289,255,0007T) °
The above unlisted investments represent investments in unlisted equity b I E AR E 5 P B S B AL
securities issued by private entities established in the PRC. As at 31 EERBTNIELMESIZIHFZERE -
December 2010, certain unlisted available-for-sale equity investments ERNEAERFEMNMEASEEEN M
with a carrying amount of RMB146,826,000 (2009: RMB91,433,000) EERRBEAUSHEEQRTE Bt
were stated at cost less impairment because the range of reasonable fair RZE-—ZEFE+_A=+—H KEEAE
value estimates is so significant that the directors are of the opinion that B AR %146,826,0007t( — T T N, 4 ¢
their fair value cannot be measured reliably. The Group does not intend A R #91,433,0007T) 2 % F 3F & A 4
to dispose of them in the near future. o IR AR B A AR AR E S R o A

SEEERTARKEELE-
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2010

23,

24,

HELD-TO-MATURITY INVESTMENT

The held-to-maturity investment is a loan of RMB19,584,000 entrusted
to Shandong Huadong Casting Co., Ltd. ((WERZESHFEFR AR ,
through Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Guangdong branch,
bearing a floating interest rate equal to bank loan interest rate within
three-year period per annum. The maturity period is from 1 November
2010 to 31 October 2013.

DEPOSITS PAID FOR ACQUISITION OF
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

At the end of reporting period, the amount represented deposits paid to
certain vendors for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment.
Details of the related capital commitments are set out in note 40.

Bt 5 4R = Bif o (#&)
i L

23,

24,

BFZEEHKSE

RHEINRKLEEBRPBE IERITEH
BoTRILRESHBFEFRQAIEH
M & E R ARE19,584,0007T " %2
ERFHAE=F FEEZREBTER
MrzZEAFE A -_T—ZTF+—A
—HAEE_ET—=F+A=+—HL-

WEBK - ik R BARTIRE
REEHR ZoBEERUBDE  #

ERRBENETET ZRE - FRE
KA ZFBHN M E40 -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2010

25. DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year are
as follows:

Deferred tax assets
Group

25,

HRFE M IR
AEEREVABEERGBEZGHOT

EEREEE
REH

At 1 January 2010 R-_ZE-Z%—Hf—H 46,923 141,246 168,633 77,961 434,763
Effect of change in tax rate MEEHHNPER

on the opening balance HAZBNEHRZ

credited to the income FE (£ 10)

statement (note 10) - 354 - - 354
Deferred tax credited to FARKERTALZ

the income statement during i JE % 78

the year (note 10) (K&t 10) 56,004 42,181 210,301 75,633 384,119
Exchange realignment B i, 3 B = - - (26) (26)
Gross deferred tax assets R-ZF-—FF

at 31 December 2010 +-A=+-H8z2

ERHEEERR 102,927 183,781 378,934 153,568 819,210
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2010

25, DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)

Deferred tax liabilities
Group

25, IRFENR IR (18)
EEHBEE

At 1 January 2010 RZZ-Z£5-f—H
Deferred tax (credited)/Charged £ R 25 & (GE )/
to the income statement Mk 2 BEHE

during the year (note 10) (Hiit10)
Deferred tax (credited)/charged £ AR 2 (5 A) /
to equity during the year Mk Z EERE

Gross deferred tax liabilities RZE-TFE+=A
at 31 December 2010 Z+-AZEEHE
BELE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2010

25. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED) 25. IEFEN I8 (58)
Deferred tax assets EERMIBEEE
Group KEE

At 1 January 2009 RZZEENF—A—H 28,301 106,630 14,670 120,857 81,445 351,903
Effect of change in tax rate on the %% % & ) 4 25 &

opening balance charged to the  #1% v B 7] &4 2

income statement ZE (10

(note 10) - (8,462) - = = (8,462)
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to 4 R & Kt A/

the income statement during (k) Z E TR B

the year (note 10) (Kt &£ 10) 18,622 43,078 - 47,776 (3,474) 106,002
Deferred tax charged to equity ~ ERRERINBR 2
during the year ERHE = = (14,670) = = (14,670)
Exchange realignment BEHAE = = = = (10 (10
Gross deferred tax assets RZZETNE
at 31 December 2009 +-A=+t-HZ
EERBEERR 46,923 141,246 - 168,633 77,961 434,763
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2010

25, DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)

Deferred tax liabilities
Group

o 5 4§ -

= =

25, IRFENR IR (18)
EEHBEE
REHE

At 1 January 2009 RZZEZENF—-A—H 36,111 = 9,412 1,453 46,976
Deferred tax (credited)/charged tofF WA Yz R (E A) /

the income statement during 1% 2 i iE 5 18

the year (note 10) (K7t 10) (2,456) - 2,255 (1,442) (1,643)
Deferred tax charged to the  FRRE R 2 ELH

equity during the year B - 28,483 - - 28,483
Gross deferred tax liabilities R-ZTZENE+-A

at 31 December 2009 “+-BZEEHRE

ERER 33,655 28,483 11,667 11 73,816
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2010

25. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED) 25, IRFEMRIA(ZE)

Deferred tax assets
Company

EEREEE
ZN/NYC)

At 1 January 2010 R-_ZE—ZF—H—H 9,506 119,173 58,678 187,357
Deferred tax charged to the FRARKRBZRNGRZ

income statement during iE SE T 18

the year 1,793 160,467 52,851 215,111
Gross deferred tax assets RZE—FF

at 31 December 2010 +-—A=+—H2

BEEFIBEEBRR 11,299 279,640 111,529 402,468
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2010

25, DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)

Deferred tax liabilities
Company

=

o 5 4§ -

=

25, IRFENR IR (18)

N

EHIEAE

N

At 1 January 2010 R-_E—ZFTF—H—H 28,050 11,667 11 39,728
Deferred tax (credited)/charged 4 &y A Uz 25 & (5F A)

to the income statement M 2 ELEF B

during the year - 2,333 (11) 2,322
Deferred tax credited to the FRREZTA

equity during the year ZIEERIE 15,690 = = 15,690
Gross deferred tax liabilities R—E—ZFF+_-H4

at 31 December 2010 =+ —HZEERE

BEARE 43,740 14,000 - 57,740
ANNUAL REPORT 2010 &F# 171



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2010

25. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED) 25. IEFEN I8 (58)
Deferred tax assets EERMIBEEE
Company PIN/NES)

At 1 January 2009 R-ZEENE—F—H 27,610 14,670 69,161 36,690 148,131
Deferred tax credited/(charged) &£ AR E KA/

to the income statement (k%) ZEEFH A

during the year (18,104) - 50,012 21,988 53,896
Deferred tax charged to equity 4 A 7 1 25 1 Bk 2 IR IE i

during the year 1B - (14,670) - - (14,670)
Gross deferred tax assets R-ZTTNE

at 31 December 2009 +-A=+—-Hz

ERHEEERS 9,506 - 119,173 58,678 187,357
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2010

25. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED) 25, RFEMRIA(EE)
Deferred tax liabilities EEFREEE
Company AR 7]

At 1 January 2009 R=ZZEZTNLFE—H—AH - 9,412 627 10,039
Deferred tax (credited)/charged 4F 7 Uk 25 &= (BT A\)
to the income statement M 2 ELEF 8
during the year - 2,255 (616) 1,639
Deferred tax credited to the RERNFTAREZRE 2
equity during the year IR E R IR 28,050 - - 28,050
Gross deferred tax liabilities R=_ZEZThAhFE+_A
at 31 December 2009 =t+—HZEEHE
BEARE 28,050 11,667 11 39,728
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following AREEWEgE T 518 E ERIEERIEB
items: BE:

Tax losses TIEEE 107,537 112,629 - -

Deductible temporary ARG R ERE
differences 96,079 78,632 - -
203,616 191,261 - -

ANNUAL REPORT 2010 &3 173



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2010

25.

26.

174

A1 5 4R %= B o (7&)
—F-FE+SH=f A

DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED) 25. WRIEMIA(GE
The above tax losses are available for offsetting against future taxable bt EERAEAFHAREHRES
profits of the companies in which the losses arose for a period of five BOARAEREERRERRNE -
years. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the HRAKSERRTAEARERNMNE
above items as it is not considered probable that taxable profits will be AEAEMIER TUAEE &R E
available against which the above items can be utilised. I B RIELERIBEE ©
Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding tax REFECRMABHEL RPBERBK
is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the foreign VAR EERANEREE SR
investment enterprises established in Mainland China. The requirement B AR B RN 10% B TR M X - Ut 4R TF B
is effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 —EENF-A—BRE BEAR
December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is —ETELET_A=T—HENHREN-
a tax treaty between China and jurisdiction of the foreign investors. This fisl 1 B B A1 B #2 & P AE B RLE B B
tax law does not have significant impact on the Group's tax liability EXTAEBRBHS AT RARK
because the Company and most of its subsidiaries are domiciled in WIEHMRE - AR AR A KETKHBMH
Mainland China. RN R VA S RET N A R Q% 797~
EHAEENTEEEBREATE -
There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of AR A A HE KRR RS g & E
dividends by the Company to its shareholders. TSR & 2 o
INVENTORIES 26. 78
Group Company
REE AT
2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-FF —EENF —E-FF —EENF
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARKETT AR®BTR ARETET
Raw materials and consumables & #1 %} & 78 # & 1,522,511 1,325,523 417,214 323,658
Work in progress EE 789,462 620,249 113,460 118,317
Finished goods RUEK fh 6,481,374 3,860,870 1,266,070 1,237,320
8,793,347 5,806,642 1,796,744 1,679,295

WEICHAI POoWER Co., LTD. L #NHhBRNDBERLAD



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 87 ¥% R K Bit 5% (£8)

31st December, 2010 —FE—FTFF_HA=1—H
27. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 27. BENEZRERMKEEIR
Group Company
AEE KA T
2010 2009 2010 2009
—®2-%F “—TTNF C-¥-FF C"TTNF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TRT ARETT AR®TR ARETT
Trade receivables EWE 5 BER 5,358,238 3,849,645 677,704 192,134
Bills receivable e W = & 11,289,227 8,032,145 9,660,367 7,040,816
Impairment B (780,732) (528,845) (37,231) (13,327)
15,866,733 11,352,945 10,300,840 7,219,623

The Group's trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit except
for new customers, where payment in advance or cash on delivery is
normally required. The credit period is generally 90 days to 180 days;
however, customers with established trading records could be granted a
longer credit period. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding receivables and has a credit control policy to minimise credit
risk. Credit sales are made to customers with an appropriate credit
history. Credit limits granted to customers are reviewed regularly. In view
of the aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s trade receivables
relate to a large number of diversified customers, there is no significant
concentration of credit risk. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

RTHEF—REERENAIRR
NEANBREMRZN AEEHERTF
ZEBEZGRRZBRERN  EEH—
A BO0E180K: A R H ek R 4F
NEFIESKEBEENEEH A5 E
77 K 48 48 Bx A% PR B E R U ER 2 FE UK
B I BAEERHBRRZEREEE
B -EHERTEACENER A
ETRE - AEETCHRIABTEEHN
EELFR-ZEREMRAEZARAEER
ERESERMAETRABEENEF
Bl YESEAREHREERR - BRE
SERBTEB -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2010

27. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 27. EWNBRRMAKEZIFEEE)

An aged analysis of the trade and bills receivables as at the end of the RB|ERR - EMBHRERBROER
reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of provision for BESBRFREZEBREEREZHHNERER
impairment, is as follows: DT

Within 3 months 31 A W 6,292,600 5,987,889 3,589,488 2,890,959
3 to 6 months 3Z61E A 8,861,904 4,730,036 6,710,607 4,318,017
6 to 12 months 621218 A 425,251 249,293 704 9,488
1 to 2 years —EWF 181,191 385,423 1 1,159
2 to 3 years ME=F 105,787 304 40 -

15,866,733 11,352,945 10,300,840 7,219,623

The movements in provision for impairment of trade and bills receivables FUWESERNMEZERNREREGE S
are as follows: R

At 1 January Rn—A—H 528,845 322,126 13,327 17,239
Impairment losses recognised & # 32 & 1B & 18 316,071 228,413 23,904 -
Contribution from a non- —HIEEBRBEREE

controlling shareholder - 762 - -
Amount written off as A Y [ i #8E 2 & B

uncollectible (53,710) (14,415) - -
Impairment losses reversed B E B R (10,474) (8,041) = (3,912)

780,732 528,845 37,231 13,327

176  WEICHAI Power Co., LTD. MLshhiEERAD



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2010

27. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 27.

Bt 5 4R = Bif o (#&)
i L

[ E=RZE YN ESi {6

The above provision for impairment of trade and bills receivables of the
Group and the Company is provision for both individually and collectively
impaired trade and bills receivables with a carrying amount before
impairment of RMB1,701,043,000 (2009: RMB1,155,926,000) and
RMB660,679,000 (2009: RMB15,287,000), respectively. For amounts
which were past due at the end of reporting period, the Group has not
provided for those receivables of which there has not been significant
change in credit quality and the amounts are still considered recoverable.
The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
over these balances.

The aged analysis of the trade and bills receivables that are not
considered to be impaired is as follows:

AEBRARQRAN Ll EKE SRR
BB BEREEGRIER®RTIRBRER
BREE» Bl A A R 1,701,043,0007T(=
ZZNF: AR¥1,155926,0007T) & A
K ®660,679,000it(Z T AL F: AR
#15,287,0007T) 2 & B &% £ [F E & B &
WEZERARZEELNEE - LR HK
HEHREBHAZREMS  ASBE W E
MERAMETESE AL BEENA
U 5] /9 JE Us BR 5K 1E HS 38 S o AN 5 B T 4
NZEEGBFEEMERIEMER
g o

AREZERESERRZENERK
DR ¢

Group Company
rEE RAF

2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-2F —ETNF ZB-TBF _"TTNF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARBTT AR¥TR ARETET
Neither past due nor impaired >k #0 2 5 J&l (B 14,732,601 10,585,850 10,299,919 7,219,535
Less than 1 year DR —F 450,580 140,014 921 88
1 to 2 years past due BH—Z W F - - = -
15,183,181 10,725,864 10,300,840 7,219,623

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a large
number of diversified customers for whom there was no recent history
of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number of
independent customers that have a good track record with the Group.
Based on past experience, the directors of the Company are of the
opinion that no provision for impairment is necessary in respect of these
balances as there has not been a significant change in credit quality and
the balances are still considered fully recoverable. The Group does not
hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over these balances.

As at 31 December 2010, trade and bills receivables of RMB597,490,000
(2009: RMB209,474,000) were pledged to secure bank loans and credit
facilities of the Group.

ABHIBEZEKRERERNE TR
BRIIHYBEENCHENEFBERE -

EEHERBIEZERERREZ B M
AEEXFGLHERENBITFRERH -
ENBELR AR EAMEYTEEX
g2 BEEZETEHKNDAT2HKRD -
MARBEERRBEARZSTHERE
HRERE AEELTERZSERRE
BEMEMRKEMERBREN -

R_ZE—ZTFE+_A=+—H8B EKEZE
SR F Kk EE AR KS597,490,0007T(=
T T N F: AR #209,474,0007T) E K
HEABAEBENETERREERE
HIHELR ©

ANNUAL REPORT 2010 F#H 177



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2010

27. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 27. EWNBRRMAKEZIFEEE)

The amounts due from related parties included above are analysed as
follows:

NESBERBENERBE S RED
i/ URNE

Weichai Holdings and its S P AR N EL I A A
subsidiaries 42,479 10,461 8,038 4,071
Lonking Holdings and its BEIZEKREENE A A
subsidiaries 60,024 260,502 60,024 260,502
Subsidiaries M B A A - - 1,581,766 1,202,422
Jointly-controlled entity I [E] 2 I E e - 617 - =
Associates iR /N 28,620 31,455 115 680
Non-controlling shareholders ~ 3F 4% i% % 52 & &
groups 348,417 110,187 135,342 -
479,540 413,222 1,785,285 1,467,675

The amounts due from related parties are on credit terms similar to
those offered to the major customers of the Group.

WD RENEERRELKE
AEETPREMMNGRTEEL -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2010

28. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 28. YETFRRIE - B E R Hith[EUWFRIE
RECEIVABLES

Deposits and other receivables % & & H 1th & Ug ZX 18 637,483 775,292 191,323 769,344
Impairment A (72,392) (91,553) (34,624) (46,292)
Deposits and other receivables, 1% & K& £ fth & Ut 5% 18 % 58
net 565,091 683,739 156,699 723,052
Dividend receivables JFE s A% 2 3,040 4,293 69,312 39,976
Advances to suppliers 45 1 B 7 A TR A 3R 711,746 367,329 36,226 80,985
Prepayments T8 ;IR 4,505 3,723 - -
1,284,382 1,059,084 262,237 844,013
The carrying amounts of the deposits and other receivables approximate EeRHEMBREFRBENEAERALA
to their fair values. FEEE -
The movements in provision for impairment of deposits and other RehHEMBERRENREREED
receivables are as follows: LUNIE

At 1 January Rn—A—H 91,553 118,809 46,292 58,318
Impairment losses recognised 2 & 52 5l 1B & 18 (A7 £ 6)

(note 6) 16,635 15,803 7,735 -
Amount written off as FSRENEIN A EOE € S

uncollectible (20) (34,488) - (2,423)
Impairment losses reversed R (B &5 18 % Bl (ff 72 6)

(note 6) (35,776) (8,571) (19,403) (9,603)

72,392 91,553 34,624 46,292
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2010

28.

180

A1 5 4R %= B o (7&)
—F-FE+SH=f A

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 28, AN MR- RE N HhEUWRIR
RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) (%8)
The above provision for impairment of deposits and other receivables of REBLARAAN Lz & & H &
the Group and the Company is a provision for both individually and Y K TR ORI (B B 1 B ¥R Bh R BT IR JRU(E AT
collectively impaired deposits and other receivables with a carrying BREE D Al A A R %357,027,0007T (=
amount (before impairment) of RMB357,027,000 (2009: T TN F: AR 109,787,000 ) & A
RMB109,787,000) and RMB191,323,000 (2009: RMB69,151,000), R #191,323,0007E(ZEEALE: AR
respectively. These impaired deposits and other receivables relate to #569,151,0007T) 2 18 B & £ [ B & B 1%
parties that were in default or delinquency in payments and only a TREMEBERRBELNRE - ZFE
portion of the deposits and other receivables is expected to be HMEREREMERREADTEFER
recovered. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit NRMBEBRETRED -BHhz2EZE R
enhancements over these balances. H A EUKRIE - NEB W BB X F 4 84
RAEEAMERLEAMERGRER -
The amounts due from related parties included above are analysed as NEteBTERNEKERDRED
follows: fanTw
Group Company
EH PN
2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-2F "TThNEFE ZB-BF C"TTHF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRT ARETT AE®TRT ARETT
Weichai Holdings and its b G =N
subsidiaries 2,960 - 2,960 -
Subsidiaries = NET - - 240,778 541,837
Associates iR /N 45,030 17,889 13,596 13,596
Non-controlling shareholders ~ 3E 3% i% j% 31 £
groups (note 41(a)) (Bt 5T 41(a) 79,651 111,557 - =
127,641 129,446 257,334 555,433

As at 31 December 2009, except for the amount of RMB59,602,000 due
from Shaanxi Automotive Group Co., Ltd. and the amount of
RMB19,238,000 due from Zhuzhou Gear Share Co., Ltd. which are
interest-bearing at 5.76% and 5.31% per annum, respectively, other
receivables are non-interest-bearing, unsecured and repayable on
demand. As at 31 December 2010, except for the amount of
RMB10,117,000 due from Zhuzhou Gear Share Co., Ltd. which is
interest-bearing at 5.31% per annum, other receivables are non-interest-
bearing, unsecured and repayable on demand.

WEICHAI POoWER Co., LTD. L #NHhBRNDBERLAD

R_EBEZAF+_F=+—H B TE
KRASESEAERAAREARE
59,602,000 7T X f& Uk 4K M B3 &R A% 1D B R
A A R TE A R #19,238,000 7T ¢ 3% F
E576[E K531E 5 B 240 H M fE Uk
HREATFE EERREERAE
B-RN_ZE—ZTF+_A=+—8 K
ERHEMNERROBR AT REARE
10,117,000 7T #2 5 | E531 E 5t B 2 5h -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2010

29. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED

Bt 5 4R = Bif o (#&)
i L

29. RERBESENMRERBPER

DEPOSITS
Group Company
rEE KAFH
2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-2F —EENF —E-EF —EENF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTT ARBTFT AR®BT T ARBTFT
Cash and bank balances Re RRITHEH 4,714,327 2,223,880 873,564 102,318
Time deposits TE B 17 3K 6,444,239 4,354,391 4,024,861 1,995,798
11,158,566 6,578,271 4,898,425 2,098,116
Less: Pledged time deposits: B B ESER
Pledged for credit facilities RIEEREKRR (2,410,944)  (2,879,847) (482,934) (569,138)
Pledged for short term loans A E KA - (100,085) = (86,000)
Cash and cash equivalents REFKBESEEYD 8,747,622 3,598,339 4,415,491 1,442,978
At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances of the RBEER AEBAARKIEHE

Group denominated in RMB amounted to RMB11,016,392,000 (2009
RMB6,476,461,000). The RMB is not freely convertible into other
currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of
Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB
for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying periods of
between seven days and three months depending on the immediate
cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short
term time deposit rates. The bank balances and pledged deposits are
deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

H

& RIBITHESK B AREKI11,016,392,000
T(ZZEZ N F: AR %6,476,461,000
L) c ARBETIERALRAEME .
MEAR IR B A i BOCHN BE B 2R IR I RC A
E -EERNEEERTE) AEBEEE
ERERBETHINER S EB 2RT
BARELBSEMER -

RITRE T UAREBEES B RITERANE
FHEMTERERA S - B M E B E R
HRNFLEE=EATE RF¥ELE
EHREFTROAINMEME  WIRE B
R E BT SN R BB B o SRIT A B
REBRERDERAOHRIFERNOT
BRHEEFERT
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2010

30. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES 30, ENBRRMAEER

Trade payables JERE SRR 13,137,584 8,355,933 4,760,319 3,501,042
Bills payable &+ Z= & 4,109,730 3,474,709 1,212,543 1,456,933

17,247,314 11,830,642 5,972,862 4,957,975

An aged analysis of the trade and bills payables as at the end of the RPEAR  ENESEIAREEER
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: HZEHHMNERHROMAOT :

Within 3 months 318 A A 13,184,989 9,519,364 5,502,759 4,427,987
3 to 6 months 3Z6{8A 3,507,193 2,072,145 390,385 374,829
6 to 12 months 6Z 121 A 384,197 9,945 4,258 10,577
Over 1 year —F Pk 170,935 229,188 75,460 144,582

17,247,314 11,830,642 5,972,862 4,957,975
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

o 5 4§ -

31st December, 2010

30. TRADE AND B1LLS PAYABLES (CONTINUED)

The amounts due to related parties included above are analysed as
follows:

—TEFE—=F

=

=

30. ENBRKRMKRIERGE)
AES B OEN RSB RES

W :

Weichai Holdings and its SRR EKE A A
subsidiaries 4,010 3,611 2,680 3,600
Subsidiaries Mt B A Al - - 2,752,537 3,084,823
Jointly-controlled entity H[E 175§ & 88 = 6 = -
Associates iR/ 79,905 45,895 45,009 =
Non-controlling shareholders ~ ZE 4% i% % 51 £
groups 1,202,468 211,506 - -
1,286,383 261,018 2,800,226 3,088,423
The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled on ERNESERANEE - —HRMH0KH

90-day terms. The amounts due to related parties are on credit terms
similar to those offered by the major suppliers of the Group.

31, OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 31,

BRAKE - BB T AN EEGR
EAKETEHEHREENEIEL-

Hith[ETRIAKR EST &M

Advances from customers 2 EHTE R 1,166,048 747,093 178,012 45,639
Accruals e & A 679,206 541,369 491,517 236,283
Salary and welfare payable FE 3 & R AE A 1,086,022 673,282 626,881 357,339
Other payables Hith fE S X 1E 3,093,392 1,612,259 1,785,168 1,087,900

6,024,668 3,574,003 3,081,578 1,727,161
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2010

31, OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (CONTINUED) 31.

32

184

B 15 4R %= B o (7&)
—F-FE+SH=f A

The carrying amounts of other payables and accruals approximate to

their fair values. The amounts due to related parties included above are

analysed as follows:

HihfEMRIBKRESTEREE
HEmEMNRERESEZ RN KRMAESR
HAFEHESE - A LS EHBIEN RN
BBt RELTET

Group Company
rEE /NG|
2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-2F —ZTTNEF ZZEB-TF —TTIhF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT ARBTT AR®BTR ARETT
Weichai Holdings and its G 1 R T BT B A A
subsidiaries - - 4 7,610
Subsidiaries NG - - 203,896 260,203
Associates iR BN 213 258 - 58
Jointly-controlled entity HE R - 102 - 102
Non-controlling shareholders ~ ZE 3% i% & 31 £
groups (note 41(a)) (Kt &t 41(a) 98,688 41,936 22,587 -
98,901 42,296 226,487 267,973
Other payables are non-interest-bearing, unsecured and have no fixed Hith BRI AT B - BEFRE
terms of repayment. TE B E o
DEBENTURES 32. &%

On 24 August 2009, the Company issued unsecured medium-term

debentures to independent third parties in an aggregate principal
amount of RMB1,300 million in the PRC. The debentures were priced
and issued at a face value of RMB100 each. The debentures are listed
and transferable on the inter-bank debenture market in the PRC with a
maturity period of five years and are due for repayment at 25 August
2014. The effective interest rate for the debentures was 5.30%. The
proceeds from the debentures were used for the repayment of certain

bank loans of the Company and the investment in the Company’s diesel

engine project.

WEICHAI PoWwER Co., LTD.
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31st December, 2010

BORROWINGS

Current

Bank loans — secured

Bank loans — unsecured

Current portion of long—
term bank loans

Other loans - secured

Other loans — unsecured

Non-current

Bank loans — secured
Bank loans — unsecured
Other loans — unsecured

Current

Bank loans — unsecured

Current portion of
long-term bank loans

Non-current
Bank loans —unsecured

ik
ROTEF—CER

RITER—EER
RHRITENRZ
mE 1
HpEHR—C ER
H b & R4 K 48

FRE

RIOTEF—CER
RITER—EER
H fth & R—E K

B
RITEFR—
RHRITENRZ

mE

B 45 1

EL )
RITER—EER

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

33, INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER

6.11~6.12
1.28~5.56

5.76

4.86
3.87

2011
2011

2011

2012-2013
2020

33. stRI/ITREMMER

190,176
369,990

17,000

577,166

950,000
4,727

954,727

1,531,893

1.8-8.22 2010
4.37-6.72 2010
4.86-6.75 2010

5.31 2010
5.31-5.58 2010
4.86-5.67 2011-2012
3.87-6.05 2014-2020

4.86 2010

4.86 2010

54 2011-2012
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62,415
860,249

450,000
94,000
49,000

1,515,664

917,000
25,200

942,200

2,457,864

148,282

400,000

548,282

200,000
200,000

748,282
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31st December, 2010

A1 5 4R %= B o (7&)
—F-FE+SH=f A

33, INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 33. SIRIVITRHEHMERGE
BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)
Group Company
rE b N
2010 2009 2010 2009
—g-®85 -TThF -—F-BF _TTAF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTRT AR%BTR ARETT
Analysed into: DA
Bank loans repayable: ZERITERAR
T3 & B E R
Within one year or on demand  — & 8k 1% & 5K
BB & 577,166 1,372,664 - 548,282
In the second year B 700,000 117,000 - 100,000
In the third to fifth years, F-FEFERF
inclusive (BREEEMF) 250,000 800,000 - 100,000
1,527,166 2,289,664 - 748,282
Other borrowings repayable: ZEHMERAER
Ty FHER :
Within one year —F£ R - 143,000 - -
In the third to fifth years, FE=FFEFERF
inclusive (BEAEREMF) = 20,000 = =
Beyond five years f F & 4,727 5,200 = -
4,727 168,200 - -
1,531,893 2,457,864 748,282
Notes: Mt
(@) The Group’s credit facilities amounting to RMB6,932,000,000 (2009: (a) K £ Bl BEREHERARK

RMB4,886,249,000), of which RMB1,281,150,000 (2009: RMBZ2,108,334,000) 5,932,000,0007_5( ZEZTNFARE

had been utilised as at the end of reporting period. The credit facilities are 4,886,249,0007T ) *+ )R # & Hi K B B) Fi A

secured by bills receivable of RMB546,526,000 (2009: RMB205,340,000) as at d AR #K1,281,150,0000 (= & A, IF :

31 December 2010. A K #2,108334,0007T ) ° ¥ = F — T £

+ZA=+—H ZIEEMEHALEKE
B A K #546,526,0007C (= FF N F : A
F % 205,340,000 7T ) #E R

(b)  Certain of the Group’s bank loans are secured by: b) AEEEFRITEAZEHRRS:

0] mortgages over certain of the Group’s land use rights, buildings, (i) RN 2E B R R B K A8 BR ] (B 7S A
machinery and motor vehicles, which had an aggregate carrying value at A & 832150007 (= F F 1 % :
the end of the reporting period of approximately RMB83,215,000 (2009: A K #173,997,000T ) ) & F £ 1t}
RMB173,997,000). %ﬁ%‘§%~%%&ﬁiﬁ¢&

(i)  pledge of the Group’s trade receivable amounting to RMB50,964,000 (ii) rEBEKRE G EFARKE
(2009: RMB4, 134,000) 50,964,000T (= F E % | A R

4,134,000 7T) (E /3 # ©
(© Except for the bank loan of RMB40,447,000 (2009: RMB82,197,000) which is (c) B A R #40,447,000c (ZZEFENF : AR
denominated in United States dollars, RIMB79,712,000 (2009: RMB81,887,000) #82,197,0007 ) < A £ #79,712,0007C (=

which is denominated in Hong Kong dollars and RMB22,016,000 which is FENF : AR ¥81,887,0007T) KA K

dominated in Euro dollars, all borrowings are in RMB. 22,016,0007T 2 5K 17 B 5 77 Bl LA 5% 7T - 7%

T RETIIEZ 9N BT A &K LA R
Sl 1E -
(d)  Included in the above are defaulted bank loans of approximately RMB14,990,000 @ HULEBEFEREBAEEEBRGE

(2009: RMB24,080,000) drawn by a subsidiary of Torch Automobile Group Co., R 2 al ([ KRIE)SE ) 2 — X B BB 2 Al 4£

Ltd. (“TAGC”) prior to the Company’s acquisition of TAGC in year 2007. The A RE] = FF L FWEMN B T E 2 A

loans are classified as current. The Group is currently negotiating a restructuring B BB 22 #) #R 17 B 3 79 A B 1 14,990,000

of these loans with the relevant bankers. As at the date of this report, the (= FFAF AR E24,080,0007T) - %

negotiations are still in progress. However, the directors are confident that their ZEK DML o A % B B A IE 7 845

negotiations with the leaders will ultimately reach a successful conclusion. BRI B2 EENET R B2

HEER BB FEETH 2B
EEL 0% T RITIETE B AR
BRFHT) °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) Bt ¥5 ¥R 2% Bft 5% (&8)

31st December, 2010 —FE—FTFF_HA=1—H
33, INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 33. SIRMVWTRHEMBREE
BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)
The carrying amounts of the Group’s and the Company's borrowings REBRARNAZERKEE SRR
approximate to their fair values. NFEMBE -
34, WARRANTY PROVISION 3. fRIZEEH
Group Company
= E A A
2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-Z2F ZE2ETNF ZE-BF ZETNF
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR T ARETRT AR%¥Trx AR®TT
At 1 January n—A—H 497,231 446,343 357,000 234,899
Additional provision (note 6) RE NS (A 2 6) 1,430,855 709,188 1,116,351 523,003
Business combination KA G - 1,978 - -
Contribution from a KE—BIFERBR
non-controlling shareholder ZEE - 15,721 - -
Amounts utilised during the year & X &) ff & 58 (910,668) (675,999) (713,351) (400,902)
At 31 December Rt+t=-_A=+—8H 1,017,418 497,231 760,000 357,000

The Group provides warranties ranging from six months to three years AEERETERMREFRESNBAZE=F
to its customers on certain products and undertakes to repair or replace WRIEH WTRIJIECHEREETIERS Z
items that fail to perform satisfactorily. The amount of the provision for TRt -REBEZ2EEDNRBEHESE KR
warranties is estimated based on the sales volume and past experience FHERREKFTETHS HEEERFE
on the level of repairs and returns. The estimation basis is reviewed on ER R R EE R IRELISET -

an ongoing basis and revised when appropriate.
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31st December, 2010

35.

188

A1 5 4R %= B o (7&)
—F-FE+SH=f A

SHARE CAPITAL 35. BRIN
Shares &)
2010 2009
—E-ZF —EETNF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR TR AR T T
Registered, issued and fully paid: T BITEHBERAK:
A shares of RMB 1 each EREEAREI T ZAR
— state-owned shares —B R £ R 373,090 186,545
— other legal person and natural person —HMEARBAAR
shares 888,202 444 101
H shares of RMB 1 each fREE AR T ZHE 404,800 202,400
1,666,092 833,046

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as and
when declared by the Company. All ordinary shares carry one vote per
share without restrictions.

During the years ended 31 December 2010 and 2009, the movements in
share capital were as follows:

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 26 October 2010, a bonus
issue of 10 shares was granted by the Company for every 10 shares held
by the shareholders. As a result, the issued capital of the Company was
increased from RMB833,046,000 to RMB1,666,092,000 by capitalisation
of share premium of RMB833,046,000.

WEICHAI POoWER Co., LTD. L #NHhBRNDBERLAD

RBEE-_ZT—ZFR_ZTZTNLEFE+ A
St HIEFEZRAEHNOT :

BER-_Z—ZF+A=-+"BEAHD
TEAZR ARQRAZBI10RE10R MO L
Bl EEITAR - At AR A B 81Tl AR
A R #833,046,000 BB E R D EE AR
#£833,046 000 T B R E AL ME AR K
1,666,092,000 T °



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 81 ¥5 R 2
31st December, 2010 —E—FEf

35. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED) 35. ARIN(4E
A summary of the transactions during the years with reference to the BEFEET AR EMRAREE
above movements in the Company’s issued capital and the Group's TERARAEEENDEERES 2 X
share premium account is as follows: SWMELT :

At 1 January 2009 RZZETNEFER
and 2010 —T-TE
—H—H 202,400 630,646 833,046 833,046 2,056,268 2,889,314
Bonus issue = I% 202,400 630,646 833,046 833,046 (833,046) -
At 31 December 2010 R =T —Z4F
+=—A=+—H 404,800 1,261,292 1,666,092 1,666,092 1,223,222 2,889,314
36. RESERVES 36. ftf
(@) Group (@) &%
The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements therein AEBRAFERBEFRZFH
for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated BEBEREEHEI NP HRE
statement of changes in equity of the financial statements. IRAEEEHRA -
Capital reserve BERGE
The capital reserve of the Group includes the Group's share AEBZEARBREASEZ
premium of RMB1,223,222,000 and the non-distributable reserves A% 19 % B A R #51,223,222,000 7T &
of the Company and its subsidiaries created in accordance with ARBERHEMBARRETEE
the accounting and financial regulations of the PRC. it R BB ERIL 2 A DK

ﬁo
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2010

36. RESERVES (CONTINUED)

190

(a)

WEICHAI PowWwER Co., LTD.

Group (continued)

Surplus reserves

In accordance with the PRC Company Law and the articles of
association of the relevant companies, the Company, its
subsidiaries, associates and jointly-controlled entity are required to
appropriate a certain percentage of their net profits after tax to
the surplus reserves comprising statutory surplus reserve and
discretionary surplus reserve. Subject to certain restrictions set out
in the relevant PRC regulations and in the Company’s articles of
association, the statutory surplus reserve may be used either to
offset losses, or to be converted to increase share capital. These
reserves cannot be used for purposes other than those for which
they are created and are not distributable as cash dividends.

Distributable reserves

At 31 December 2010, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the relevant
regulations, amounted to RMB11,130,674,000 (2009:
RMB6,340,303,000), out of which a dividend of RMB716,419,000
(2009: RMB399,862,000) for the year ended 31 December 2010
was proposed on 30 March 2011. In addition, the Company’s
share premium account in its statutory financial statements, in the
amount of RMB999,522,000 (2009: RMB1,832,568,000), may be
distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

The amount for which the Company can legally distribute by way
of a dividend is determined based on the lower of the retained
profits determined in accordance with the generally accepted
accounting principles in the PRC and the HKFRSs.

R NRMNERLT

A1 5 4R %= B o (7&)
—F-FE+SH=f A

36. fBE(EE

(@)

NEE (&)

BHRABS
RETBERAREREBARZA
BER ARXAREMEAR B
ERARARZEHEREBRS
Z BR B 18 % A B 1R — E b Bl o3 BL
ERABKLABEE(BREATEAKATE
ERERESKAEER) EATEAR
AESAARAEBERERBERS
BRAEM EAXPEMEEER
RARBZHBBERZETRS -
ZERENSERARRKRILAE R AN
ZRABEEBESIRREKE -

Al 7 K 7
R—_E—ZFTF+_A=+—8"
BIBEBRETEZARTAH
K & B & A R #11,130,674,000 7T
(ZEZNF : AR¥6,340,303,000
L) HERR=_FE——F=/=+
BEZREHE_ZT—ZTF+=
A=+ —BLEFEZREARK
716,419,000 t(Z T E AL F: AR
#£399,862,0007T ) ° it 4 © A A A
RAEETBRERAZKDEER
2 % % A& A R #999,522,000 (=
T TN F: AR #1,832,568,000
T AT RAKRZ AR DIK e

ARARAUKRETAGEDIKRZ
TRRETFBEARSAERNRE
AHMBREENBEEZREFE
ZEBREEEE -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2010

36. RESERVES (CONTINUED) 36, fBEGEE)
(b) Company (b) &A2F

At 31 December 2008 HR=-ZTENFE

+ZA=1+—8H 1,816,017 564,431 (83,130) 3,825,377 6,122,695
Total comprehensive AEE2ENALE
income for the year - - 242,080 2,828,588 3,070,668
Appropriation to statutory % &2 & % iE
surplus reserve BRAED
- 282,958 - (282,958) -

Proposed final 2009 RE-ZTNF
dividend RER S 12 = = = (399,862) (399,862)

At 31 December 2009 R-ZZH &
+-ZA=1+—8© 1,816,017 847,389 158,950 5,971,145 8,793,501

Total comprehensive AFEZEA

income for the year N = = 88910 5,763,349 5,852,259
(833,046) - - - (833,046)
Appropriation to statutory 7 & & % &
surplus reserve BHBRES
- 576,693 - (576,693) -
Proposed final 2010 BE-S—TF
dividend * H AR B 12 - - - (716,419) (716,419)
At 31 December 2010 R=-FT—FTF
+-A=+—-H 982,971 1,424,082 247,860 10,441,382 13,096,295
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2010

37. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 37. IAEE
At the end of the reporting period, contingent liabilities not provided for RBERAR ARPBRRABHEZX
in the financial statements were as follows: RBEWOT :

Guarantees given to banks in ME=ZFEEZ

connection with facilities EEMm#G FIRTT

granted to third parties ZHER 1,144,880 1,053,691 - -
The above guarantees are made by subsidiaries of the Group to the P ERDDBAREE®N N E QA&
dealers and agents for their business. HERNRERNER MR K SIED -

38. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 38, EAEHMIP

Details of the Group's assets pledged for the banking facilities of the HEASERTHREAEANASER K
Group are included in notes 14, 16, 27, 29 and 33 to the financial HEEFBHNTBMEMEI4 16
statements. 27 ~29 K33 -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2010

B ¥5 ¥R 2% Bif 5 (48)

i L

39, OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS . RSB
(@) As lessor (a)

(b)

The Group leases certain of its investment properties (note 15) and
plant and machinery under operating lease arrangements. Leases

for properties are negotiated for terms ranging from one to two

years and those for plant and machinery negotiated for terms
ranging from one to two years. The terms of the leases generally
also require tenants to pay security deposits and provide for
periodic rent adjustments according to the then prevailing market

conditions.

At 31 December 2010, the Group had total future minimum lease
receivables under non-cancellable operating leases with its tenants

= TR B

ERAEHBEA
AEERBELERNLTHELAR
“?&ﬁ%%%&m%@%&%

cEMELHBE BN T
*E*EWﬁ i R B K #8348
BREZEBAAINT —E=ZF &
BAOGKK—BAERAPL MR
S RBREERMEGBERTEHARE
iR

R-ZE—ZFTF+_A=+—8"
AEBERBEAAKEZLEED

falling due as follows: R ™5 HA A R B 2 K 2K e A&
EKEcAFMOT :
Group
rEH
2010 2009
—E-ZF —EENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE TR ARBFT
Within one year —F K 8,160 9,872
In the second to fifth years, inclusive F_EFLF(BREEEMRTE) = 340
After five years fFLAIE = -
8,160 10,212
As lessee (by ERAEMBEA

The Group leases certain plant and machinery and properties
under operating lease arrangements. Leases are negotiated for
terms ranging from one to ten years and rent is fixed over the

lease term.

AE H+

AEERBEEEHVNLHEESR
THRE BBELVE -KHEcB
PN F—=2+FE1%F HAHAE
XNEREE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2010

39. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS (CONTINUED)
(b) As lessee (continued)
At 31 December 2010, the Group and the Company had total
future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases falling due as follows:

39. REEMHRHEGE
(b) 1 &G A ()
R-—Z—TF+-A=+—-8"
A B R A D RGBT A2
EEBAOMN TSRS K
REEHEEREMT -

Within one year —F R 30,308 26,707 = =
In the second to fifth years, 2 - ZF A 4F
inclusive (REERMF) 58,561 81,547 - =
After five years HE B 65,702 149,852 = =
154,571 258,106 - =
40. COMMITMENTS 40, 7RIE

In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in note 39(b)
above, the Group and the Company had the following capital
commitments at the end of reporting period:

B DA b B RE39(b) & At 2 48 & M 49 A& IR
S REBRARB R BEHRARNER
AEMS

BEWME HIX

Purchase of property, plant and

equipment B4
— Contracted but not provided ~—& =] 4918 5k & &
for 2,192,915 946,771 1,498,731 399,279
— Authorised but not —BEREBRITH
contracted for = - - _
2,192,915 946,771 1,498,731 399,279
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) Bt ¥5 ¥R 2% Bft 5% (&8)

31st December, 2010 —FE—FTFF_HA=1—H
41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS ul, FBEAR %

(@) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere () PBRABF 7% 3R 3R H fth 3 7 F
in these financial statements, the Group had the 2R AEBREFE
following material transactions with related parties HEBLIETZIEARZ W
during the year: T

Group
FEE
2010 2009
—EB-%F —EENF
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
BiteE ARBT R ARETTT
Sale of products to: [ DA T BB 7 &
Weichai Holdings and its subsidiaries R RENB AR (i) 860,559 734,283
Lonking Holdings and its subsidiaries EIEBREENBAR (i) 951,910 612,317
Non-controlling shareholders groups FERBRREE (iii) 3,785,280 1,169,365
Jointly-controlled entity H O B A - 39,836
Associates SR R/NEC] 150,293 26,289
5,748,042 2,582,090
Purchase of raw materials from: A DA T B EE 5 B8 B R A AL
Weichai Holdings and its subsidiaries HEERRENB A 0) 559,923 316,182
Non-controlling shareholders groups BB RER (iii) 3,751,135 1,827,940
Jointly-controlled entity [R5 E 8 = 75,131
Associates SR R/NE] 812,939 327,948
5,123,997 2,547,201
Sales and warranty period repair service fees R & A NEIH#E 7 & 85 & MR &
income from: HEEREERA
Weichai Holdings and its subsidiaries TR RENB AR (i) 50,384 13,253
Utility service income from: RENLTHEE L ZAR
EERBEA:
Non-controlling shareholders groups R RS (iii) 13,048 11,680
Warehouse and logistics service fee income XK B TNEH A 2B E R DR
from: RIEE WA :
Weichai Holdings and its subsidiaries HELEPE R R H T8 A Al @) 9,454 3,460
Other service income from: RKELTHEBSZ
Hih % & RA :
Weichai Holdings and its subsidiaries TR RENE AR (i) 20,998 10,465
Non-controlling shareholders groups IR RS (iii) 6,079 =
27,077 10,465
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31st December, 2010 —F—FTF+ZA=1—H
41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 41, RAHE X7 (58)

(@) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere () PBRABF 7% 3R K[ H fth 3 17 F
in these financial statements, the Group had the 2R AEBREFE
following material transactions with related parties HEBLIETZIEARZ W
during the year (continued): T : (&)

Group
rEE
2010 2009
—E-%F —ETNEF
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
ME ARBT R ARBTT
Processing service fee paid to: SRMIBBEET:
Weichai Holdings and its subsidiaries LT R I E B A R i) 107,740 55,962
Non-controlling shareholders groups EEBEBERE (iii) 10,265 5,867
118,005 61,829
Utility service fee paid to: M TEETZFAA
EERBE:
Weichai Holdings and its subsidiaries MR R EWNE A A (i) 216,955 157,104
Other service fee paid to: BN D E
H iR 5% -
Weichai Holdings and its subsidiaries R SN = NG| (i) 48,764 25,408
Non-controlling shareholders groups EEBBEREE (iii) 186,042 82,122
234,806 107,530
Rental income for certain premises, RENTHEETNE T
machinery, and equipment from: M ERREREZ
He WA
Weichai Holdings and its subsidiaries Ry NN = NG| (i) 4,230 2,115
Non-controlling shareholders JE1E R A% R £
groups (iii) 1,870 1,813
Jointly-controlled entity pa i - o - 1,384
Associates /N 16,109 5,540
22,209 10,852
Rental paid for certain premises, MATEBSNET
machinery, and equipment to: ME BHEREZ
He :
Weichai Holdings and its subsidiaries SRR ENE A A 0) 46,810 46,218
Non-controlling shareholders groups JEEBER R EE (iii) 38,617 27,377
85,427 73,595
Purchase of fixed assets from: MA@ L EE
EEE:
Non-controlling shareholders groups EEBBERE (iii) - 1,226
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2010

41, RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(a)

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere
in these financial statements, the Group had the
following material transactions with related parties
during the year (continued):

Notes:

0]

(i)

(i)

Weichai Group Holdings Limited (#4178 % /B 5 fR 2 &), a legal person
established in the PRC, a substantial shareholder and a promoter of the
Company, is the single largest shareholder owning a 14.92% interest in
the Company as at 31 December 2010. The related party transactions
disclosed above were entered into with Weichai Holdings and its
subsidiaries, mainly including Chongqing Weichai Diesel Engine Works,
Chonggqing City Jiangjin District Chongwei Casting Co., Ltd., Shandong
Weichai Import and Export Co., Ltd., Weichai Heavy Machinery Co., Ltd.,
Weifang Weichai Deutz Diesel Engine Co., Ltd., Weichai Tongxin Real
Estate Co., Ltd., Weichai Property Development Co., Ltd. and Shandong
Huafeng Power Co., Ltd.

Lonking Holdings Limited is @ Hong Kong listed company which is owned
by a non-executive director of the Company and his wife as to 54.33%
as at 31 December 2010. The couple also own a 4.13% interest in the
Company. The related party transactions disclosed above were entered
into with the subsidiaries of Lonking Holdings, namely Fujian Longyan
Construction Machinery (Group) Company Limited and Shanghai
Longgong Machinery Company Limited.

Certain companies of the Group entered into related party transactions
as disclosed above with their non-controlling shareholders, which were
able to exert significant influence over the companies, and the
subsidiaries thereof (collectively referred to as “Non-controlling
shareholders groups”). Such non-controlling shareholders mainly include:

- Shaanxi Fast Gear Automotive Transmission Co., Ltd., which
owned a 49% interest in a subsidiary of the Group, namely
Shaanxi Fast Gear Co., Ltd., as at 31 December 2010.

- Shaanxi Automotive Group Co., Ltd., which owned a 49%
interest in a subsidiary of the Group, namely Shaanxi Heavy Duty
Automotive Co., Ltd. (“Shaanxi Zhongqi”), as at 31 December
2010.

- Dong Feng Automotive Group Co., Ltd., which owned a 40%
interest in a subsidiary of the Group, namely Dong Feng Off-road
Vehicles Co., Ltd., as at 31 December 2010.

Bt 5 4R = Bif o (#&)
i L

41, AR Z(GE

(a)

BR 2 B 75 3R & H b B 9 & A
RN AEERAFE
HEBEOETZEARSZ W

MEEFEREEF R X A #RHE
FMELZEA BARGZEE
BREREEAN RZF—FFA=
A=1+—H#AEAXRA1492%
BamlE S ARE FRFEEZ
B X 575 5 15 R R A Kt
ZENBARAETEH
BEEHRETHHE EETER
BERFEFR NG LR AL
ORGA] #EEHRGERRAA
LB IR RS A R A A]
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41.

198

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

(o)

WEICHAI PowWwER Co., LTD.

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere
in these financial statements, the Group had the
following material transactions with related parties
during the year (continued):

Notes: (continued)

- Zhuzhou Gear Share Co., Ltd. (“Zhuzhou Gear Share”), which
owned a 17.85% interest in a subsidiary of the Group, namely
Zhuzhou Gear Co., Ltd. (“Zhuzhou Gear”), as at 31 December
2010.

- Mudan Jiang Huatong Automotive Group Company Limited
(“Huatong”), which owned a 20.04% interest in a subsidiary of
the Group, namely Mudan Jiang Futong Automotive Air
Conditioner Co., Ltd. (“Futong”), as at 31 December 2010.

Balances due from/to related parties:

The balances due from/to related parties mainly resulted from
trading transactions and miscellaneous amounts reimbursable by/
to the related parties. Further details are set out in notes 27, 28,
30 and 31 to the financial statements.

Compensation of key management personnel of
the Group:

A1 5 4R %= B o (7&)
—F-FE+SH=f A

41, AR Z(E

(@)

(b)

(o)

BR 7S B 7% R R At &F 47 5F AL
RN AEBRAFE
HEBLTETZEARSZ N
T : (&)

ft &t - (4&)

— HBNEHBREGERERAH
MEwRGB) R=ZF—F
F+—A=+—HEFEEFAX
EEH KM B AKMNE
AR A A ([N 1) &y
17.85% 1# 25 ©

— HATEFEBBEZTHMHER
AAl([Z#8]) R=F—F
Fr-A=+—HHEFAXE
B —Z KB A Rl AT =8
REEFHERRE(EE])
#920.04% # 75 °

FEW FENBEEE S 2 &8k
W AR T 2 R E B R
BEBBIETZHEERIRE
FEEE EKEBTRBESE-
E-THBERNE BRI E
27 ~ 28 3031 °

REERRBREEAS BN

Group
rEH
2010 2009
= —EENF
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBTT
Short term employee benefits EHE B R A 17,768 19,709
Post-employment benefits BE(E& 1R A 229 215
Total compensation paid to key ENEREEAED
management personnel 7 B 48 58 17,997 19,924
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2010

41, RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
(c) Compensation of key management personnel of
the Group: (continued)
Further details of directors’ and supervisors’ emoluments are
included in note 8 to the financial statements.

Except for the transactions with a jointly-controlled entity and
associates, all the above related party transactions also constitute
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions as
defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

42, FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments

Bt 5 4R = Bif o (#&)
i L

41, FBAHAXZ0E)
(0 mEEFEREEASHHH

(%)
EEREFECHFMFRBRENMT
HRKES -

PR RS ERE LSRR
TR0 A Ll BT R
S RIESEK LT AR F14AERE
BLABERIHAFERERS -

42, BT BRLE
EHMBETIARBESH A EEmEN

as at the end of reporting period are as follows: T
2010 —F-%F
Financial assets MBEEE
Group
rE
Available-
for-sale Hold-to-
Loans and financial maturity
receivables assets  investments Total
EXRE it & BZE3H
& UK BR X HHEE BE PR
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BT R ARBTR AR®TR AR®¥Tx
Trade and bills receivables BWE SR NKEE
(note 27) (Ktet27) 15,866,733 = = 15,866,733
Financial assets included in FIATBNRIE - KE R
prepayments, deposits and H i fE R IB 2
other receivables (note 28) B 15 & B (P 51 28) 568,131 - - 568,131
Available-for-sale investments A fit H} & % &
(note 22) (Kt #22) - 636,038 636,038
Held-to-maturity investment REIHEE
(note 23) (Bt 3% 23) = = 19,584 19,584
Pledged deposits (note 29) B 3 17 3 (AT 7% 29) 2,410,944 - - 2,410,944
Cash and cash equivalents BehkReEEY
(note 29) (K 7 29) 8,747,622 - - 8,747,622
27,593,430 636,038 19,584 28,249,052
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2010

42, FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 42, BB TENEEE)
(CONTINUED)
2010 —E—BF

Financial liabilities

A E

Trade and bills payables (note 30) BN E 5 8RR &R &M 730) 17,247,314
Financial liabilities included in other payables IIAEMENKERESTERZ
and accruals (note 31) W B &0 aE31) 4,858,620
Debentures (note 32) & % (ff £ 32) 1,285,240
Interest-bearing bank and other T EERTT R E A {5 SR (T £ 33)
borrowings (note 33) 1,531,893
24,923,067
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMEN
31st December, 2010

42, FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

TS (CONTINUED)

BY CATEGORY

Bl 95 4§ -

= =

42, BB TEDEGEE)

(CONTINUED)
2010 —E-—=x
Financial assets HEEE

Trade and bills receivables EREZERRAKRER

(note 27) (Bt #£27) 10,300,840 - - 10,300,840
Financial assets included in PIABRZRE Ze Kk

prepayments, deposits and Hfth R IE 2

other receivables (note 28) Bt 7% & E (Kt i 28) 226,011 - - 226,011
Available-for-sale investments A fit 1} & &% &

(note 22) (Bt #t22) - 485,600 - 485,600
Hold-to-maturity investments HEIHKE

(note 23) (K1a£23) - - 19,584 19,584
Pledged deposits (note 29) B & 18 17 5 (ff £ 29) 482,934 - - 482,934
Cash and cash equivalents ReRkBeFED

(note 29) (Kt 5£29) 4,415,491 - - 4,415,491

15,425,276 485,600 19,584 15,930,460
Financial liabilities L =R

Trade and bills payables (note 30) BN B 5 B 5 & R & (M 7 30) 5,972,862

Financial liabilities included in other payables TIAEMENKERESERZ
and accruals (note 31) B 15 & & (K E31) 2,903,566
Debentures (note 32) 18 55 (K £ 32) 1,285,240
10,161,668

ANNUAL REPORT 2010 F3 201



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2010

42, FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 42, BT ENEEE)
(CONTINUED)
2009 —BENF
Financial assets BEEE

Trade and bills receivables (note FEUY B 5 BE 7k & 2= 5

27) (KiaE27) 11,352,945 - 11,352,945
Financial assets included in TIABRZE 2k

prepayments, deposits and H e WKk IE 2

other receivables (note 28) B 1% & 2= (M £ 28) 688,032 = 688,032
Available-for-sale investments A £ £ €& &

(note 22) (K #£22) = 477,430 477,430
Pledged deposits (note 29) BT R (A 7E29) 2,979,932 - 2,979,932
Cash and cash equivalents ReRkBCEEY

(note 29) (K1 &% 29) 3,598,339 - 3,598,339

18,619,248 477,430 19,096,678
2009 —EThEF
Financial liabilities [ =R

Trade and bills payables (note 30) BN E 5B R &R & 730) 11,830,642

Financial liabilities included in other FIAEMENREREFERZ
payables and accruals (note 317) B s 8 & (K aE31) 2,826,910
Debentures (note 32) & % (Kt 5% 32) 1,281,669
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings (note 33) &t B4R 17 & H b {8 X (K £ 33) 2,457,864
18,397,085
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) B % 3R
31st December, 2010 T TES

42, FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 42, BT ENEEE)
(CONTINUED)
2009 —EEAF
Financial assets BEEE

Trade and bills receivables EBWE SRR NRZE

(note 27) (K1 7%27) 7,219,623 = 7,219,623
Financial assets included in DIATER B e Rk

prepayments, deposits and H bR IE Z

other receivables (note 28) Bt 75 & &= (M 7£28) 763,028 = 763,028
Available-for-sale investments A £ £ €& &

(note 22) (Ht 5 22) — 381,000 381,000
Pledged deposits (note 29) BB F R 729) 655,138 - 655,138
Cash and cash equivalents ReRFASEEY

(note 29) (K #29) 1,442,978 = 1,442,978

10,080,767 381,000 10,461,767
Financial liabilities BKEaE

Trade and bills payables (note 30) BB 5 BRR &R & 730) 4,957,975

Financial liabilities included in other payables and FIAEMBENRERESERZ
accruals (note 31) B8 &R E31) 1,681,522
Debentures (note 32) & % (Hf i#32) 1,281,669
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings (note 33) =t B 48 17 & H b & X (K 7£33) 748,282
8,669,448
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31st December, 2010

43,

204

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing
the fair values of financial instruments:

Level 1: fair values measured based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2: fair values measured based on valuation techniques for which
any inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair
value are observable, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3: fair values measured based on valuation techniques for which
any inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair
value are not based on observable market data (unobservable
inputs).

As at 31 December 2010, the Group held the following financial
instruments measured at fair value:

Assets measured at fair value as at 31 December 2010:

Level 1
E—EBR
RMB’000
AR T
Available-for-sale investments A {1 £ & &
Equity investments % 7 % & 489,212

B 15 4R %= B o (7&)
—F-FE+SH=f A

43, nFEBHR
FEBABUTEREERHBY B
TAMATE:

E—ER:

FEER:
ol

RFENRAEEEXRERE
REBMSAEZHECK

RAB)GFE-

AT TR E S R E
5 1 B 5 5 0 P 0 B
BHAHABEATEEEAY
EH(EELMB) TBRY
5 -

R ETDIREETATE
% ERETAMERNHRE
BRHARATEBEERY
ENAABEMSEET
REEE) -

KR_F-—FEF+-A=+—0 4A%£ME
HEATRATFEGBEOHHTA:

RZE—ZTFT_A=+—HBRLQA¥F

BFfEWEE:
Level 2 Level 3 Total
E-ER E=ZEBR o)
RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR TR AR®BTR AR%®TR

= 489,212

As at 31 December 2010, the Company held the following financial
instruments measured at fair value:

Assets measured at fair value as at 31 December 2010:

Level 1
F—B&K
RMB’000
AR T T
Available-for-sale investments A {1 &£ & &
Equity investments [ 7 % & 485,600

R-FE—FE+-A=+—0 A2
HEATRATEHENMBIA:

R-ZT-F5+-A=+-BRATF

BEff2mWEE:
Level 2 Level 3 Total
E_EBR E=EBR R
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AR TR AR®TR AR%®TR

- 485,600
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31st December, 2010 —FE—FTFF_HA=1—H

4L, FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 4y, B RIREIR v BIENRIER

POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise debentures,
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, and cash and short term
deposits. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise
finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various other
financial assets and liabilities such as trade receivables and trade
payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest
rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk, equity price risk
and commodity price risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees
policies for managing each of these risks and they are summarised
below.

Interest rate risk
The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates
relates primarily to the Group’s long term debt obligations with a
floating interest rate.

The Group's policy is to manage its interest cost using a mix of fixed and
variable rate debts. The Group currently does not have any interest rate
hedging policy.

Sensitivity analysis

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible
change in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, of the
Group's profit before tax (through the impact on floating rate
borrowings) and the Group’s equity.

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the
exposure to interest rates for non-derivative instruments at the end of
reporting period. For variable-rate bank borrowings, the analysis is
prepared assuming the amount of liability outstanding at the end of
reporting period was outstanding for the whole year. A 15 basis point
increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk internally
to key management personnel and represents management'’s assessment
of the reasonably possible change in interest rates.
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R e

K’ilﬁﬂ’kIEEEZEKH R A 7 2
S HNERK - EERR ‘//|L§7J|"$H

: Hﬂ?’;ﬂl‘M&?ﬁuuf‘i%ﬂﬁw CEER®
%F)ﬁlﬂ L bt & IR R B 2 B TR R R
ZEBRBEALNT o

A = [ b
AEBMAENTS N EZHE R
g%%$%§%ﬁ@ﬂ$ﬁﬁz§%
B IH A -

AEBEZBRRR BEERAERREE
EHEEMBKA - REBEBRE L EA
o] | R S 8 B5K o

BREDN
TRIARMEEMAZERRRET T
HEOWBERT  AKBEREAMNEBCEBR
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B ¥5 ¥R b o (48)

317st December, 2010 —EFE-FF+ZA=1—H
44, FINANCIAL RISk MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND BEREER vBRENRBEREE
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) Increase/
(decrease) in profit (decrease)
in basis point before tax in equity
HEYH B % A0 R B s
# i, CGel 2) # i CGRl2) # i, CGel 2)

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AR TR AR® T

2010 —E-8F
RMB AR 15 2,085 1,772
RMB AR ¥ (15) (2,085) (1,772)
usD =ST 15 61 52
usb e (15) (61) (52)
HKD B TT 15 120 29
HKD B TT (15) (120) (99)
EUR By 15 33 27
EUR B (15) (33) (27)

Foreign currency risk S B 2 B2

206

Foreign currency risk is the risk of loss resulting from changes in foreign
currency exchange rates. Fluctuations in exchange rates between the
RMB and other currencies in which the Group conducts business may
affect its financial condition and results of operations. The Group seeks
to limit its exposure to foreign currency risk by minimising its net foreign
currency position.

The Group has transactional currency exposures. These exposures arise
from sales or purchases by operating units in currencies other than the
units” functional currency. Approximately 5.84% (2009: 9%) of the
Group's sales and 0.51% (2009: 0.44%) of the Group's purchases are
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the
operating units making the sales and purchases. The Group has not
entered into any forward currency arrangements during the year ended
31 December 2010.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of the
reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the United States
dollar/RMB exchange rate, in the EUR/RMB and in the Hong Kong dollar/
RMB, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before
tax (due to changes in the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities)
and the Group's equity.

WEICHAI POoWER Co., LTD. L #NHhBRNDBERLAD
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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B ¥5 ¥R 2% Bif 5 (48)

s L

4L, FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND Ly,

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Foreign currency risk (continued)

o1 BE 2 B (48)

81 5 Bl bR B 12 2 BiR K IBUR (78)

Group
Increase/
(decrease) in Increase/
USD/EUR/HKD (decrease) Increase/
rate in profit (decrease)
% before tax in equity
E VA& 4
& 7T [E = FR % A1 Al 8 B
EH (TR % # i, CGrl &) O 2)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AR T AR® T
2010 —E—E5F
If RMB weaken against USD i AR R ETRE 5 4,902 3,319
If RMB strengthens against USD {4 A B # i, 2 ¢ 7 & (5) (4,902) (3,319)
2010 —E-2F
If RMB weakens against EUR WA R 5 BTz @& 5 3,242 2,148
If RMB strengthens against EUR it A R # 3 Bl 7T 7+ B (5) (3,242) (2,148)
2010 - - -5
If RMB weakens against HKD HAREHBTEE 5 294 244
If RMB strengthens against HKD i A R # 3,38 7T 7+ & (5) (294) (244)
Credit risk FERK

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties. It
is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit
terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable
balances are monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group'’s exposure
to bad debts is not significant. For transactions with overseas customers,
the Group does not offer credit terms without the specific approval of
the Head of Credit Control.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which comprise cash
and cash equivalents, pledged deposits, available-for-sale financial assets,
amounts due from associates and a jointly-controlled entity, and other
receivables, arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum
exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these instruments. The Group
is also exposed to credit risk through the granting of financial
guarantees, further details of which are disclosed in note 39 to the
financial statements.

AEEERZERARGFEAENS
ZEETRS - RBAESENBEK I
EREZEEERETRSINER  BARK
BEERERFE HAEE- I
AEEEREEEREEHNBN M
AEBENZEERRERY TEK - 5t 8255
BEFPETHRIME  AEELEEMH
EEH BRIBCSEREEFHIEZREH
HEE

rEBHEMYBEE(RERERRS
EEY CEMER ATHEEMBE
E RREBEEATD R -—HAREGHER
FRIAA K E A WK IR) (5 B AR 1
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31st December, 2010

iy

208

FINANCIAL Risk MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Credit risk (continued)

Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third
parties, there is no requirement for collateral. Concentration of credit
risk is managed by customer/counterparty, by geographical region and
by industry sector. At the end of reporting period, the Group has a
certain concentration of credit risk as 10.73% (2009: 14.39%) of the
Group's trade receivables were due from the five largest customers.

The Group performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers’
financial conditions. The allowance for doubtful debts is based upon a
review of the expected collectability of all trade receivables.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit risk
arising from trade and bills receivables are disclosed in note 27 to the
financial statements.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk of not having access to sufficient funds to meet
the Group’s obligations as they become due. The Group seeks to
manage its liquidity risk by maintaining a balance between continuity of
funding and flexibility through the use of bank loans and debentures.

WEICHAI POoWER Co., LTD. L #NHhBRNDBERLAD
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2010

L4, FINANCIAL RisSk MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Liquidity risk (continued)
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end of
reporting period based on the contractual undiscounted payment, is as
follows:

Group
2010

Bl 55 4§ -

—FE—=F

= =

uu, BHE5 R EIR 2 BIiIR KRR (&)

B R B ()

BAaNARRNARGFE AEERRS
MARZMBREZIHERNT

REE

—E-%F

Interest-bearing bank and other FERITREMER
borrowings - 162,983 509,587 944,108 20,789 1,637,467
Trade and bills payables ERNESRIRER - 8,106,994 9,140,320 - - 17,247,314
Financial liabilities included in 5l & E At FE 1T 5B K
other payables and accruals EAERZHBAR - 1,947,028 2,911,592 - - 4,858,620
Debentures BE5 - - 64,350 1,493,050 - 1,557,400
- 10,217,005 12,625,849 2,437,158 20,789 25,300,801
Group &
2009 —EBAF

Interest-bearing bank SFERITREMER
and other borrowings - 334,133 1,159,558 1,010,331 6,284 2,510,306
Trade and bills payables ERNEZERRER - 10,486,201 1,344,441 = - 11,830,642

Financial liabilities included in other 5 A H i FE 5 FRIE R
payables and accruals EZ2Rz0sa%E - 1,077,365 1,749,545 - - 2826910
Debentures E5 - - 42900 1,557,400 - 1,600,300
- 11,897,699 4,296,444 2,567,731 6,284 18,768,158
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31st December, 2010

Il

210

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Liquidity risk (continued)

Company
2010

ul,

R 5 [ PR &5 38 72 B IR R B R (18)

B R B ()

VNS

—E-ZF

Trade and bills payables ENESEARER - - 5,897,403 75,459 - 50972,862
Financial liabilities included in other 5 A H h JE A SR R
payables and accruals B ERzHBAR - 944,768 1,958,798 - - 2,903,566
Debentures &% - - 64,350 1,493,050 - 1,557,400
- 944,768 7,920,551 1,568,509 - 10,433,828
Company & AT
2009 —EENEF

Interest-bearing bank and other HERTEREMER
borrowings - 76,864 502,235 210,246 - 789,345
Trade and bills payables ENESEFIRER - 4,427,987 529,988 - - 4,957,975

Financial liabilities included in other Bl A fth JE 5 T0IE K
payables and accruals B Z2RAZHKEE - 100,811 1,580,711 - - 1,681,522
Debentures &% - - 42,900 1,557,400 - 1,600,300
- 4605662 2655834 1,767,646 - 9,029,142
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
31st December, 2010

Lh, FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Equity price risk
Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity securities
decrease as a result of changes in the levels of equity indices and the
value of individual securities. The Group is exposed to equity price risk
arising from individual equity investments classified as available-for-sale
investments (note 22) as at 31 December 2010. The Group's listed
equity investments are mainly listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange
and are valued at quoted market prices at the end of the reporting
period.

The market equity indices for the following stock exchanges, at the close
of business of the nearest trading day in the year to the end of reporting
period, and their respective highest and lowest points during the year
were as follows:

31 December
2010
—E-EF
+=A=+-8H

FiEs— AREH 2,808

Shanghai — A Share Index

Bt 5 4R = Bif o (#&)
s L

by, BRFSEBREIR 2 BiR KRR (&

REBEER

P 32 B 1% R B B B RS 58 55 A (B B B AR
BEKTRERNZESFBENESME
BHERR R-_T—ZFTF+-_A=+—
B -AEEEHRMBHN®KS A HEE
KREME2)NREREMEENRSR
ERER AEB s EMREKRETE
ELBEBERRZHA LM MEBEMRSF
REBREHROT S RE -

LNTBHRGANFARAOR 5 B &
ENHEARKERSHRNRETS
BHEEFASBREMUMKEMLAT

High/low 31 December High/low

2010 2009 2009
—E-FF ZETNF ZETNF
5/% +t—A=1t—8© SYA:
3,307/2,320 3,437 3,644/1,956

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every 10% change in
the fair values of the listed equity investments, with all other variables
held constant and before any impact on tax, based on their carrying
amounts at the end of reporting period. For the purpose of this analysis,
for the available-for-sale listed equity investments the impact is deemed
to be on the available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve and no
account is given for factors such as impairment which might impact the
income statement.

Group

Equity investments listed in:
Shanghai — Available-for-sale
Elsewhere — Available-for-sale

bt HHE
H At 3t [R—7] it &

TRIARBERRNEEEFE - £
MEERERAFEBI0RESH(MER
i F] %5 B 35 4R BF N B IR OR A AE A
BRE)NERE AN ME » AT H
HELTREREZEERGHEATHR
HEREEMRFRZITE LESARE
AR Pl R HIREREXNF EZ

RTFE ETRRERE :

A °

rEH
Carrying amount Increase/
of equity decrease
investments in equity
BREREZREE H#EzZEMN R
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBT R
485,600 41,276
3,612 371
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31st December, 2010

iy
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FINANCIAL Risk MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Commodity price risk

In addition to the above risks relating to financial instruments, the Group
is exposed to commodity price risk such as from steel and metal (major
components of the Group’s raw materials). The Group currently does
not have any arrangement to hedge the price risk exposure of its raw
material purchases.

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to
maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in
light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of
the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not subject to any
externally imposed capital requirements. No changes were made in the
objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the years
ended 31 December 2010 and 31 December 2009.

WEICHAI POoWER Co., LTD. L #NHBRNDBERLAD
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EXEHE
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AR - UXHEEERESRARR
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AEBERBLEENERBEAEE 2R
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) B ¥5 ¥R 2 Bft 5% (&8)
31st December, 2010 —FE—FTFF_HA=1—H

44, FINANCIAL RIiSk MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND sy, BIERERESRE 2BRERBER(E
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Capital management (continued) EAREE(E)
The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt AEBRBAEAABR(EERRFER
divided by the total capital plus net debt. Net debt includes interest- BRNEEREFEEZAEZEER -
bearing bank and other borrowings, trade, bills and other payables, BEFHEEFBRITREMER BN
debentures, less cash and cash equivalents and pledged deposits, and BE2ER FHEEEMEMNRIE  EF -
excludes discontinued operations. Capital includes equity attributable to BMEERESEFEYREEMREFRCE
equity holders of the Company. The gearing ratios as at the end of EBRERLEEEXH) BAXABEAR
reporting period were as follows: AEEFEABERE RfEHRE
REEERMT :
Group &
Group
REE
2010 2009
—E-Z5F —ZETNF
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET R ARET T
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings =t & 4R 77 % E i {& 2k 1,531,893 2,457,864
Trade and bills payables ENESEFERE 17,247,314 11,830,642
Debentures &% 1,285,240 1,281,669
Other payables and accruals HihEfRmERESER 6,024,668 3,574,003
Less: Cash and cash equivalents and WBReRBEFEHAR
pledged deposits [ iR 11,158,566 6,578,271
Net debt (k- 14,930,549 12,565,907
Equity attributable to owners NAElEE ANELER
of the parent 18,514,920 11,754,618
Capital and net debt EXARFEE 33,445,469 24,320,525
Gearing ratio EAREFER 45% 52%
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31st December, 2010

45,

6.

214

COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

As further explained in note 2.2 to the financial statements, due to the
adoption of new and revised HKFRSs during the current year, the
accounting treatment and presentation of certain items and balances in
the financial statements have been revised to comply with the new
requirements. Accordingly, certain comparative amounts have been
reclassified and restated to conform with the current year’s presentation
and accounting treatment.

APPROVAL OF THE STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the
board of directors on 30 March 2011.

WEICHAI POoWER Co., LTD. L #NHhBRNDBERLAD
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and minority interests of
the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published
audited financial statements and restated/reclassified as appropriate, is set out

&7 55 ek 2

AEEBEDAYRFENREREE 8
BERIBEREGNBERAEAMOKLE
RHBBREREES EFHOBWER))HR

below: R ENE
Year ended 31st December
BE+-A=t—HLEE
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
—E-=2F ZZETNEF ZZTN\F ZETEF ZZTRF
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREBTT ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETET
RESULTS S
REVENUE PN 62,665,521 35,260,899 32,567,190 28,786,183 6,633,668
PROFIT BEFORE TAX B4 A0 7 9,395,043 4,679,244 2,740,698 3,273,142 889,109
Tax IE (1,397,553) (732,380) (328,989) (479,566) (181,099)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 2 EFH 7,997,490 3,946,864 2,411,709 2,793,576 708,010
Attributable to: AR AL FELS -
Equity holders [SYNEIb S
of the parent BAA 6,780,935 3,406,935 1,928,955 2,014,904 702,695
Minority interests VERER 1,216,555 539,929 482,754 778,672 5,315
7,997,490 3,946,864 2,411,709 2,793,576 708,010
Dividends i) 716,419 399,862 108,296 229,088 133,685
Basic earnings FRRERZA
per share (in RMB) (AR®T) 4.07 2.04 1.16 1.36 0.67
ASSETS, LIABILITIES BEE A
Total Assets BmEE 52,474,647 36,375,477 29,949,867 22,592,493 16,855,513
Total Liabilities BB E (29,104,518) (20,714,162) (18,623,389) (13,194,305) (10,496,149)
Capital and reserves B K 23,370,129 15,661,315 11,326,478 9,398,188 6,359,364
Equity attributable INNGIL
to equity holders BB A
of the Company i =g s 18,514,920 11,754,618 7,997,754 6,383,472 2,984,562
Minority interests VBT R RS 4,855,209 3,906,697 3,328,724 3,014,716 3,374,802
23,370,129 15,661,315 11,326,478 9,398,188 6,359,364
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SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION

STATEMENT OF DIFFERENCES BETWEEN CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PREPARED UNDER HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRS”) AND
THOSE UNDER ACCOUNTING STANDARDS FOR BUSINESS
ENTERPRISES (“PRC GAAP”)

Other than certain classification of financial statement items, there are no
significant differences between the results for the year ended 31st December,
2010 and the net assets as of that date as reported in the accounts prepared
using PRC GAAP and HKFRS.

216  WeicHAI PoweErR Co., LTD. sshhiRNERLAD
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WEICHAI POWER CO..LTD.
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Address
Tel

Fax

P.C.

Service hotline
E-mail
Website

CIIRE ML RAERE265
: +86-536-8197777 (#A#%)
: +86-536-8231074
261001

: 800 860 3066

: weichai@weichai.com

. http://www.weichai.com

: 26 Minsheng East Street, Weifang, Shandong Province
: +86-536-8197777 (Gen)

1 +86-536-8231074

1 261001

: 800 860 3066

: weichai@weichai.com

: http://www.weichai.com
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